TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS

RANCHO MURIETA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT GRANLEES RAW WATER INTAKE IMPROVEMENTS

Rancho Murieta Community Services District 15160 Jackson Rd Rancho Murieta, CA 95683



February 2024

Domenichelli & Associates, Inc. 5180 Golden Foothill Parkway El Dorado Hills, CA 95762

PUBLIC WORKS BID AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	BIDD	DING REQUIREMENTS	1-1
	1.1	INVITATION TO BID	1-1
	1.2	BID	1-3
	1.3	BID SCHEDULE	1-5
	1.4	DESIGNATION OF SUBCONTRACTORS	1-6
	1.5	BID BOND	1-8
	1.6	EXPERIENCE QUALIFICATIONS	1-10
	1.7	NONCOLLUSION DECLARATION TO BE EXECUTED BY BIDDE SUBMITTED WITH BID (PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE SECTION 710	
	1.8	ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	1-13
	1.9	IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION	1-14
2	CON	TRACT FORMS	2-1
	2.1	CONTRACT	2-1
	2.2	FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE BOND	2-4
	2.3	PAYMENT BOND	2-6
	2.4	CONTRACTOR'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION CERTIFICATE (CODE SECTION 1861)	•
3	ABBI	REVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS	3-1
	3.1	ABBREVIATIONS	3-1
	3.2	DEFINITIONS	3-3
4	INST	RUCTIONS TO BIDDERS	4-1
	4.1	INTRODUCTION	4-1
	4.2	PLANS	4-1
	4.3	LOCAL CONDITIONS	4-1
	4.4	FORM OF BID AND SIGNATURE	4-3
	4.5	SUBMISSION OF BIDS	4-3
	4.6	PREPARATION OF THE BID	4-3
	4.7	BID GUARANTEE	4-4
	4.8	LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS; SUBCONTRACTING LIMITS	4-4
	4.9	INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	4-5
	4.10	MODIFICATION OF BIDS	4-5
{00212	2949.1}	i	

	4.11	WITHDRAWAL AND RETURN OF BIDS	4-5
	4.12	DISCREPANCIES	4-5
	4.13	SERVICING AND MAINTENANCE	4-5
	4.14	DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDERS	4-6
	4.15	AWARD OF CONTRACT	4-6
	4.16	CONTRACT BONDS	4-6
	4.17	EXECUTION OF CONTRACT	4-7
	4.18	RETURN OF BID GUARANTEES	4-7
	4.19	POWER OF ATTORNEY	4-8
	4.20	TIME OF COMPLETION	4-8
	4.21	LICENSING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS	4-8
	4.22	PREVAILING WAGES	4-8
	4.23	BID PROTEST	4-8
	4.24	INELIGIBLE CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS	4-9
	4.25	AUDIT OF BID DOCUMENTS	4-9
	4.26	SUBSTITUTIONS DURING BIDDING	4-9
5	GENI	ERAL CONDITIONS	5-1
	5.1	INTENT OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS/MEANS AND METHODS	5-1
	5.2	CONTRACTOR'S UNDERSTANDING	5-1
	5.3	CHANGES IN THE WORK	5-2
	5.4	CLAIMS AND RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES	5-5
	5.5	GUARANTEE	5-10
	5.6	AUTHORITY OF THE ENGINEER	5-11
	5.7	DRAWINGS	5-12
	5.8	CONSTRUCTION STAKING AND SURVEYS	5-13
	5.9	PERMITS AND REGULATIONS	5-13
	5.10	CONFORMITY WITH CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	5-14
	5.11	COORDINATION & INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMEN	ITS 5-14
	5.12	SUBCONTRACTS	5-14
	5.13	COOPERATION OF CONTRACTORS	5-15
	5.14	SUPERINTENDENCE	5-15
	5.15	INSPECTION OF WORK	5-16
	5.16	TESTS	5-17

5.17	REMOVAL OF REJECTED/UNAUTHORIZED WORK AND MAT 18	ΓERIALS5-
5.18	DEDUCTIONS FOR UNCORRECTED WORK	5-18
5.19	EQUIPMENT AND PLANTS	5-18
5.20	CHARACTER OF WORKER	5-19
5.21	SEPARATE CONTRACTS	5-19
5.22	MATERIALS	5-19
5.23	STORAGE OF MATERIALS; STORAGE AREAS	5-20
5.24	TRADE NAMES AND ALTERNATIVES	5-20
5.25	CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE	5-20
5.26	ASSIGNMENT	5-21
5.27	DISTRICT ENTRY ON WORK SITE; RIGHT TO UNSATISFACTORY EQUIPMENT OR FACILITIES	
5.28	LANDS FOR WORK; RIGHTS OF WAY; CONSTRUCTION TEMPORARY UTILITY SERVICES	
5.29	PROGRESS SCHEDULE	5-22
5.30	COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK AND COMPLETION; CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE; DELAYS	
5.31	SUSPENSION OF WORK	5-27
5.32	TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT; DAMAGES FOR DELAY EXTENSION	*
5.33	RIGHTS OF DISTRICT UPON TERMINATION	5-30
5.34	FAILURE TO COMPLETE THE WORK IN THE TIME AGRICULUMENT DAMAGES	,
5.35	CLEAN UP	5-31
5.36	COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS; PERMITS; TAXES	5-31
5.37	PREVAILING WAGE PENALTIES; WAGE CLAIMS PROHIBITE	ED 5-32
5.38	LABOR DISCRIMINATION	5-33
5.39	EIGHT HOUR DAY LIMITATION; CERTIFIED PAYROLL REPO	ORTS 5-33
5.40	EMPLOYMENT OF APPRENTICES	5-34
5.41	WATER POLLUTION	5-34
5.42	PATENTS	5-34
5.43	PUBLIC CONVENIENCE	5-34
5.44	UNDERGROUND UTILITIES	5-35

5.45	SAFETY AND TRENCHING	5-36
5.46	PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY	5-38
5.47	HAZARDOUS MATERIALS; HAZARD COMMUNICATION	5-39
5.48	RESPONSIBILITY FOR REPAIR OF FACILITIES	5-40
5.49	DISTRICT'S REPAIR	5-40
5.50	CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NOTICE	5-40
5.51	PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION	5-41
5.52	INSURANCE	5-41
5.53	INDEMNITY AND DEFENSE OBLIGATION	5-44
5.54	PROTECTION OF WORK	5-45
5.55	ACCIDENTS	5-47
5.56	NO PERSONAL LIABILITY	5-47
5.57	MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES	5-47
5.58	SCOPE OF PAYMENT	5-48
5.59	PROGRESS ESTIMATE	5-48
5.60	PROGRESS PAYMENTS	5-48
5.61	COMPLETION AND FINAL ACCEPTANCE	5-53
5.62	FINAL PAYMENT	5-55
5.63	FINAL RELEASE	5-55
5.64	RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENTS	5-58
5.65	WAIVER OF INTEREST	5-58
5.66	SATISFACTION OF CLAIMS AND LIENS	5-58
5.67	ASSIGNMENT OF ANTI-TRUST CLAIMS	5-59
5.68	AVAILABILITY AND AUDIT OF INFORMATION	5-59
5.69	INTEGRATION	5-60
5.70	COUNTERPARTS AND ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES	5-60
5.71	WAIVER	5-60
5.72	REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE	5-60
5.73	SEVERABILITY	5-60
5.74	GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE	5-60
5 75	NOTICES	5-61

1 BIDDING REQUIREMENTS

1.1 INVITATION TO BID

Sealed proposals will be received at the office of the Rancho Murieta Community Services District, located at Rancho Murieta Community Services District, 15160 Jackson Road, Rancho Murieta, CA 95683, until 3 PM local time on April 1, 2024, or such later date as may be set by addendum, and then will be publicly opened and read for the construction of the following public works project:

Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements. This project will include demolition of existing intake components, control gate replacement, grout placement, removal, reconditioning and replacement of structural steel beams, installation of grating, hatches, access ladders, and a bar rack. In addition, the Contractor may be responsible for redirecting water around the worksite as required.

The contract documents for the Project, including the public works construction contract, instructions to bidders, bid forms, and plans and specifications, may be examined at the District office, with prior notice to the District's representative, located at 15160 Jackson Road, Rancho Murieta CA 95683. A PDF copy of contract documents may be obtained electronically at the District's website. https://www.ranchomurietacsd.com/.

The District will hold a non-mandatory pre-bid conference at the District office (15160 Jackson Road, Rancho Murieta, CA 95683) on March 13, 2024, at 10:00AM, a visit to the project site will occur immediately after the pre-bid conference. The access road to the site is rough, a truck or SUV is recommended. It is suggested that each prospective bidder review the bid documents prior to the non-mandatory pre-bid conference.

Each Bid must be submitted on the prescribed forms and accompanied by cash, a cashier's check, certified check or bid bond executed on the prescribed form payable to the District in an amount not less than 10 percent of the amount bid.

The successful bidder will be required to furnish a payment bond and faithful performance bond each in the full amount of the Contract price, and insurance with certificates and endorsements of insurance, as provided in the Contract Documents. The required bonds must be provided only by a surety insurer who is admitted to do business by and in good standing with the California Department of Insurance.

Bidders are hereby notified that in accordance with Public Contract Code section 22300, securities may be substituted for any monies that the District may withhold pursuant to the terms of this Contract to ensure performance.

The successful bidder must possess the following classification or type of contractor's license issued by the Contractors State License Board: Class A, California.

To be qualified to bid on this Project, bidders must be registered and qualified to perform public work with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant section 1725.5 of the Labor

Code. All subcontractors listed in a qualified bidder's bid as performing any portion of the work also must be registered and qualified with the Department of Industrial Relations.

Bids that equal or exceed \$1,000,000 must be accompanied by an Iran Contracting Act certification in the form provided in section 1.9.

The attention of bidders is directed to the requirements and conditions of employment to be observed and prevailing wage rates to be paid to all workers employed under the Contract in accordance with Labor Code sections 1770 and following. Copies of the prevailing rate of per diem wages are on file at the District's office and will be made available to any interested party on request. In accordance with Labor Code section 1771.4(a)(1), this project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial Relations.

The District reserves the right to reject all bids. Any bid not conforming to the intent and purpose of the Contract Documents may be rejected. The District may extend the time to award the Contract.

Date	d:
Rand	cho Murieta Community Services District
By:	
	Michael Fritschi
	Director of Operations

1.2 BID

TO: Rancho Murieta Community Services District, 15160 Jackson Road, Rancho Murieta, CA 95683

The undersigned states and declares as follows:

That the Bidder has carefully examined the location of the proposed work; that the Bidder has examined the Contract Documents entitled: **Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements**; the Addenda Numbers _____, if any; that the Bidder has read the accompanying Instructions to Bidders; that the Bidder hereby proposes to begin work and complete the project in accordance with the schedule and deadlines in the Contract Documents; that the Bidder hereby proposes to furnish all labor, materials, tools, and equipment, and to perform all work required, complete in place, in compliance with all terms and condition and requirements of the Contract Documents; and that the Bidder will take in full payment for the work the prices set forth in the accompanying bid schedule.

The Bidder acknowledges that the following quantities are approximate only, being given as a basis for the comparison of proposals, that the District does not expressly or by implication agree that the actual amount of the work will correspond therewith, and that the District reserves the right to increase or decrease the amount of any class or portion of the work, as may be deemed necessary or advisable by the Engineer.

The following surety or sureties have agreed to furnish payment and faithful performance bonds to the Bidder if it is awarded the contract:

Name of Performance Bond Surety:
Name of Payment Bond Surety:
BIDDER INFORMATION
Bidder Name:
Type of Business Entity and State of Incorporation (e.g., corporation, limited liability company, partnership):
Contractor's License No.:
DIR Public Works Contractor Registration No.:
Expiration Date:
Type of license:

Name under which license is held:
Status of license:
The Bidder's authorized officer identified below hereby declares that the representations in this Bid are true and correct and of my own personal knowledge, and that these representations are made under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California.
Authorized Signature:
Printed Name:
Title:
Date:
Address:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:

1.3 BID SCHEDULE

Item No.	Description	Unit (e.g., Lump Sum, Per Hour)	Amount (\$)
1	Mobilization/Demobilization	LS	
2	Worker Safety/Shoring	LS	
3	Control of Incoming Water	LS	
4	Demolition	LS	
5	Beam Reconditioning & Installation	LS	
6	Gate Installation	LS	
7	Bar Rack Fabrication & Installation	LS	
8	Grating Fabrication & Installation	LS	
9	Ladders & Metal Fabrication & Installation	LS	
10	Pipe Support Repair	LS	
11	Guardrails	LS	
12	Overflow Screen	LS	
Alternate	e Bid Items		
A1	Bypass Pumping – See drawing G2 for description of required pumping	\$ Per Day	
	Total Lump Sum Price	e:	\$

Total Lump Sum Price	e in Words:						
In case of discrepancy govern.					written	total	will
Acknowledge Addend	a						
Addendum #:		Signed:					
Addendum #:		Signed:					
Addendum #:		Signed:					
Addendum #:		Signed:					

1.4 DESIGNATION OF SUBCONTRACTORS

In compliance with Public Contract Code section 4100 et seq. each bidder shall set forth below the: (a) name, location of the mill, shop, or office, and California contractor's license number of each subcontractor who will perform work or labor or render service to the Contractor in or about the construction of the work or improvement to be performed under these specifications in excess of one-half of 1% of the Contractor's total bid, (b) description of the type of work to be performed by each such subcontractor, and (c) portion of the work (expressed in dollar amount) that will be performed by each such subcontractor.

If the Contractor fails to specify a subcontractor for any portion of the work to be performed under the Contract, it shall be deemed to have agreed to perform such portion itself, and it shall not be permitted to subcontract that portion of the work except under the conditions hereinafter set forth.

Subletting or subcontracting of any portion of the work in excess of one-half of 1% of the Contractor's total bid as to which no subcontractor was designated in the original bid shall only be permitted in cases of public emergency or necessity, and then only after a making a written finding as a public record of the District setting forth the facts constituting the emergency or necessity.

Subcontractor (name, address, Subcontractor's CSLB License Number, Subcontractor's DIR Public Works Contractor Registration Number)	Description of Subcontractor Work	Portion of Work (\$)

Subcontractor (name, address, Subcontractor's CSLB License Number, Subcontractor's DIR Public Works Contractor Registration Number)	Description of Subcontractor Work	Portion of Work (\$)

Additional pages attached:

1.5 BID BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT WE, THE UNDERSIGNED, Contractor as Principal; and
The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the Principal has submitted to the District a certain Bid, attached hereto and hereby made a part hereof, to enter into a Contract in writing, for the construction of the following public works project:
Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements. This project will include demolition of existing intake components, control gate replacement, grout placement, removal, reconditioning and replacement of structural steel beams, installation of grating, hatches, access ladders, and a bar rack. In addition, the Contractor may be responsible for redirecting water around the worksite as required.
NOW, THEREFORE,
(a) If the Bid is rejected, or in the alternate,
(b) If the Bid is accepted and the Principal shall sign and deliver a Contract, in the form of the Contract attached hereto and shall execute and deliver Performance and Payment Bonds in the forms attached hereto and shall deliver proof of insurance (all completed in accordance with the Contract Documents), and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by the acceptance of the Bid;
Then, this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all default of the Principal hereunder shall be the amount of this obligation as herein stated.
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the District may accept such Bid, and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension.
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the above bounded parties have executed this instrument under their several seals this day of, the name and corporate seal of each corporate party being hereto affixed and those presents duly signed by its undersigned representative, pursuant to authority of its governing body.
For Contractor as Principal:

	Name:	
	Title:	
For Surety:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
(Seal)		

1.6 EXPERIENCE QUALIFICATIONS

	Bidder has been engaged in the contracting business, under the present business name ss. Experience in work of a nature similar to that covered in the Bid extends over a
period of	years.
The I to it, except a	Bidder, as a contractor, has never failed to satisfactorily complete a contract awarded as follows:
The f	following contracts have been satisfactorily completed in the last three years for the

Year	Owner	Type of Work	Contract Amount

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21

persons, firm or entity indicated:

The following is a list of plant and equipment owned by the Bidder, which is definitely available for use on the proposed work as required.

Quantity	Name, Type, and Capacity	Condition	Location
Evacuted on	, at		
	, at		
BIDDER			
Company Name	:		
Authorized Signature:			
Printed Name: _			

1.7 NONCOLLUSION DECLARATION TO BE EXECUTED BY BIDDER AND SUBMITTED WITH BID (PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE SECTION 7106)

The undersigned declares:
I am the(Title) f(Bidder), the
arty making the foregoing bid.
The bid is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, ompany, association, organization, or corporation. The bid is genuine and not collusive or sham. he bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to put in a false or nam bid. The bidder has not directly or indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with my bidder or anyone else to put in a sham bid, or to refrain from bidding. The bidder has not in my manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or conference with myone to fix the bid price of the bidder or any other bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, or cost ement of the bid price, or of that of any other bidder. All statements contained in the bid are true, he bidder has not, directly or indirectly, submitted his or her bid price or any breakdown thereof, or the contents thereof, or divulged information or data relative thereto, to any corporation, artnership, company, association, organization, bid depository, or to any member or agent hereof, to effectuate a collusive or sham bid, and has not paid, and will not pay, any person or nitity for such purpose.
Any person executing this declaration on behalf of a bidder that is a corporation, artnership, joint venture, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or any other ntity, hereby represents that he or she has full power to execute, and does execute, this declaration in behalf of the bidder.
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the pregoing is true and correct and that this declaration is executed on, at,
Authorized Signature:

Printed Name:

1.8 ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

By signing below Bidder acknowledges the insurance requirements as listed in the General Conditions, section 5.52 "Insurance". By this acknowledgment, the Bidder and its insurance provider(s) and surety(ies) certify that they have read and understand the insurance and bonding requirements in their entirety, including limits of coverage, additional insureds and endorsements, and bonding requirements, and that the Bidder can provide the insurance coverage and bonds as required in the Contract documents without exception.

Bidder understands that if the insurance coverage provided in section 5.52 of the General Conditions and the Contract Bonds cannot be provided, its bid is subject to rejection by the District as non-responsive.

Bidder Must Provide This Acknowledgment for Each Insurer or Surety Providing Insurance Coverage or a Bond under this Contract

1.9 IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Public Contract Code (PCC) section 2204, the following Iran Contracting Act certification is required if your bid totals \$1,000,000 or more.

If your bid totals \$1,000,000 or more, you must complete only one of the following two paragraphs. To complete paragraph 1, check the corresponding box and complete the certification. To complete paragraph 2, simply check the corresponding box. We are not on the current list of persons engaged in investment activities in Iran created by the California Department of General Services (DGS) pursuant to PCC 2203(b), and we are not a financial institution extending twenty million dollars (\$20,000,000) or more in credit to another person, for 45 days or more, if that other person will use the credit to provide goods or services in the energy sector in Iran and is identified on the current list of persons engaged in investment activities in Iran created by DGS. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration is executed on ____ (date), at _____ (city), _____ (state). (signature) (printed name) OR 2. We have received written permission from the District to submit a bid pursuant to П PCC 2203(c) or (d). A copy of the written permission from the District is included with our bid.

1-14

2 CONTRACT FORMS

2.1 CONTRACT

THIS CONTRACT is made as of [date], in Rancho Murieta, California, by and between Rancho Murieta Community Services District, a public agency, ("District") and [name of contractor], a [insert capacity of Contractor, e.g., a California corporation, partnership or a sole proprietorship] ("Contractor"), who agree as follows:

2.1.1 The Contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, supplies, tools and equipment and to perform all the work required to construct and complete in a good and workmanlike manner, and in strict accordance with the Contract Documents, those certain improvements entitled:

Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements. This project will include demolition of existing intake components, control gate replacement, grout placement, removal, reconditioning and replacement of structural steel beams, installation of grating, hatches, access ladders, and a bar rack. In addition, the Contractor may be responsible for redirecting water around the worksite as required.

2.1.2 Contract Documents for this project have been prepared by the District's Engineer, Domenicelli & Associates, hereinafter called the Engineer. All Contract Documents, and each and every provision thereof, relating to this Contract are hereby made a part of and incorporated by reference into this Contract. The following are the applicable Contract Documents: Invitation to Bid, Bid, Bid Bond, Designation of Subcontractors, Experience Qualifications, Non-collusion Declaration, Acknowledgment of Insurance Requirements, Instructions to Bidders, Contract, Faithful Performance Bond, Payment Bond, Contractor's Certificate Regarding Workers' Compensation, the Insurance Certificates and Endorsements, Abbreviations and Definitions, General Conditions, Technical Specifications and Plans (Drawings) applicable to this work, and all Addenda and Change Orders, as well as all written modifications of the Contract Documents agreed to by the parties. Any work called for in one Contract Document and not mentioned in others is to be performed and executed as if mentioned in all Contract Documents.

2.1.3 The District agrees to pay the Contractor for the performance of the Contract, subject to additions and deductions provided therein, the following prices, and the Contractor agrees to receive and accept the following prices as full compensation for furnishing all materials, labor, supplies, tools and equipment, and for doing all the work contemplated and embraced in this Contract, and for all risks of every description connected with the work and for all expenses incurred by or in consequence of the suspension or discontinuance of the work, and for well and faithfully completing the work and the whole thereof in the manner and according to the Contract Documents and the requirements of the Engineer under them, namely:

Item No.	Description	Unit (e.g., Lump Sum, Per Hour)	Amount (\$)
1	Mobilization/Demobilization	LS	
2	Worker Safety/Shoring	LS	
3	Control of Incoming Water	LS	
4	Demolition	LS	
5	Beam Reconditioning & Installation	LS	
6	Gate Installation	LS	
7	Bar Rack Fabrication & Installation	LS	
8	Grating Fabrication & Installation	LS	
9	Ladders & Metal Fabrication & Installation	LS	
10	Pipe Support Repair	LS	
11	Guardrails	LS	
12	Overflow Screen	LS	
Alternate 1	Bid Items		
A1	Bypass Pumping – See drawing G2 for description of required pumping	\$ Per Day	
	Total Lump Sum Price:		\$

- 2.1.4 The District shall make payments on the account of the Contract as specified in the General Conditions of the Contract.
- 2.1.5 The Contractor shall diligently prosecute the work to completion in accordance with the following schedule:
 - 1. Contractor shall be allowed to isolate or shall be allocated a bypass period of the forebay for no more than a total of 30 days. The Contractor may start and stop or arrange the forebay bypass as needed in coordination with and as approved by the District.
 - 2. Final project shall be complete no later than November 1, 2024
- 2.1.6 The Contractor acknowledges that it has examined the prevailing rate of per diem wages as established and published by the California Director of Industrial Relations, copies of which are available for inspection at the office of the District. The Contractor agrees to pay all workers employed on the work not less than the applicable prevailing rate of per diem wages, as the same may be amended from time to time. The Contractor shall post at each job site a copy of the determination of the Director of Industrial Relations of the prevailing rate of per diem wages. The Contractor also shall ensure that all subcontractors on the work are notified of and comply with their obligations in regard to the payment of prevailing wages to all of their workers employed on the Project.

2.1.7 Intentionally omitted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Contract as follows:

For District:	
	Name:
	Title: General Manager,
Attest:	
	Name:
	Title: Secretary, Board of Directors
For Contractor:	
	Name:
	Title

2.2 FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,
THAT, WHEREAS, Rancho Murieta Community Services District, hereinafter designated as the "District," entered into a Contract with
hereinafter designated as the "Contractor" for the work described as follows:
Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements. This project will include demolition of existing intake components, control gate replacement, grout placement, removal, reconditioning and replacement of structural steel beams, installation of grating, hatches, access ladders, and a bar rack. In addition, the Contractor may be responsible for redirecting water around the worksite as required.
WHEREAS, the Contractor is required under terms of the Contract to furnish a bond for the faithful performance of the Contract;
WHEREAS, the Contract is by reference made a part hereof;
NOW, THEREFORE, we, the undersigned Contractor, as Principal, and
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of, and duly authorized and in good standing to transact business under the laws of the State of California, as an admitted

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, THAT, if the above bounden Contractor, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns, shall in all things stand to and abide by, and well and truly keep and perform the covenants, conditions, and agreements in the Contract and any alterations thereof made as therein provided, on its part, to be kept and performed at the time and in the manner therein specified, and in all respects according to their true intent and meaning, and shall indemnify and save harmless the District, its directors, officers, employees and agents, as therein stipulated, then this obligation shall become null and void; otherwise it shall be and remain in full force and effect.

As a condition precedent to the satisfactory completion of the said Contract, the above obligation in above-stated amount shall hold good for a period of one (1) year after the recording of the notice of completion, during which time if the Contractor, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns shall fail to make full, complete, and satisfactory repair and replacements or totally protect the District from loss or damage made evident during the period of one (1) year from the date of recording of the notice of completion, and resulting from or caused by defective materials or faulty workmanship in the prosecution of the work done, the above obligation in the above-stated amount shall remain in full force and effect. However, anything in this paragraph to the contrary notwithstanding, the obligation of the Surety hereunder shall continue so long as any obligation of the Contractor remains.

The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work to be performed thereunder or the specifications accompanying the same shall, in any way, affect its obligations on this bond and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work or to the specifications. The Surety hereby waives the provisions of Sections 2819 and 2845 of the Civil Code of the State of California.

In the event suit is brought upon this bond by the District and judgment is recovered, the Surety shall pay all costs incurred by the District in such suit, including, but not limited to, administrative and consultant costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees to be fixed by the Court.

The address or addresses at which the principal and surety(ies) may be served with notices,

papers and other documents under the	California Bond and Undertaking Law (Code of Civil
Procedure section 995.010 et seq.) is the	e following:
DI WITCHESS THERE OF A	
	bove bounded parties have executed this instrument under
	ay of, the name and corporate seal ffixed and those presents duly signed by its undersigned
representative, pursuant to authority of i	
For Contractor as Principal:	
	Name:
	Title:
F 9 4	
For Surety:	
	Name:
	Title:
(Seal)	
· · · · /	

(NOTE: The date of this bond must not be prior to date of Contract. If Contractor is a

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21

partnership, all partners should execute bond.)

2.3 PAYMENT BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,

THAT, WHEREAS, the Rancho Murieta Community Services District, hereinafter designated as the "District," has awarded tohereinafter designated as the "Contractor" a Contract for the work described as follows:
Granlees Raw Water Intake Improvements. This project will include demolition of existing intake components, control gate replacement, grout placement, removal, reconditioning and replacement of structural steel beams, installation of grating, hatches, access ladders, and a bar rack. In addition, the Contractor may be responsible for redirecting water around the worksite as required.
WHEREAS, the Contractor is required by the Contract and by the provisions of Division 4, Part 6 of the Civil Code to furnish a bond in connection with the Contract, as hereinafter set forth.
WHEREAS, the Contract by this reference is made a part hereof;
NOW, THEREFORE, we, the undersigned Contractor, as Principal, and, as Surety, a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, THAT, if the Contractor, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, assigns or subcontractors shall fail to pay for any materials, provisions, provender or other supplies or teams, implements or machinery used in, upon, for or about the performance of the work contracted to be done, or shall fail to pay for any work or labor thereon of any kind, or shall fail to pay any of the persons named in Civil Code Section 9100, or shall fail to pay for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Code with respect to such work or labor as required by the provisions of Division 4, Part 6 of the Civil Code, or shall fail to pay for any amounts required to be deducted, withheld, and paid over to the Employment Development Department from the wages of employees of the Contractor and subcontractors pursuant to Section 13020 of the Unemployment Insurance Code with respect to such work or labor, and provided that the claimant shall have complied with the provisions of that Code, the Surety or Sureties hereon will pay for the same in amount not exceeding the sum specified in the Contract, otherwise the above obligation shall be void. In case suit is brought upon this bond, the Surety will pay a reasonable attorney's fee to the prevailing party to be fixed by the court. This bond shall inure to the benefit of any and all persons, companies and corporations entitled to file claims under Section 9100 of the Civil Code, so as to give a right of action to them or to their

under the terms of the Contract, for which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors and administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21

these presents.

assigns in any suit brought upon this bond. And the Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work to be performed thereunder or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work or to the specifications.

The address or addresses at which the principal and surety(ies) may be served with notices,

papers and other documents under the Procedure section 995.010 et seq.) is the	California Bond and Undertaking Law (Code of Civil following:
r roccaire section 993.010 et seq.) is the	iono wing.
their several seals this day	ove bounded parties have executed this instrument under y of, the name and ring hereto affixed and those presents duly signed by its uthority of its governing body.
For Contractor as Principal:	
	Name:
	Title:
For Surety:	
	Name:
	Title:
(Seal)	

(NOTE: The date of this bond must not be prior to date of Contract. If Contractor is a partnership, all partners should execute bond.)

2.4 CONTRACTOR'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION CERTIFICATE (LABOR CODE SECTION 1861)

To: Rancho Murieta Community Services District

BIDDER

I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code, which require every employer to be insured against liability for workers' compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will comply with such provisions before commencing the performance of the work under this Contract.

IDDEK	
ompany Name:	
uthorized Signature:	
rinted Name:	
itle:	
ate:	

3 ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

3.1 ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations may be used in the Contract Documents:

AA Aluminum Association

AASHO American Association of State Highway Officials

ABMA American Boiler Manufacturer's Association

ACI The American Concrete Institute

AGA American Gas Association

AGC Associated General Contractors

AGMA American Gear Manufacturer's Association

AI The Asphalt Institute

AIA American Institute of Architects

AISC American Institute of Steel Construction

AISI American Iron and Steel Institute

ANSI American National Standards Institute, Inc.

API American Petroleum Institute

APWA American Public Works Association

AREA American Railway Engineering Association

ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers

ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers

ASTM American Society for Testing and Materials

AWPA American Wood Preservers' Association

AWS American Welding Society

AWWA American Water Works Association

BGHMA Builders Hardware Manufacturers Association

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21

3-1

CCMTC California Concrete Masonry Technical Committee

CRSI Concrete Reinforcement Steel Institute

DFPA Douglas Fir Plywood Association

ETL Electrical Testing Laboratory

FS Federal Specification

ICBO International Conference of Building Officials

IEEE The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers

IES Illuminating Engineering Society

IPCEA Insulated Power Cable Engineers Association

MBMA Metal Building Manufacturer's Association

MSS Manufacturers Standardization Society of Valve and Fitting Industry

Standards

NBFU National Board of Fire Underwriters

NBS National Building Standards

NEC National Electrical Code

NEMA National Electrical Manufacturers Association

NFPA National Fire Protection Association

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970

PCA Portland Cement Association

SMACNA Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractor's National Association

SSPC Steel Structures Painting Council

SSPWC Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction

UBC Uniform Building Code

UHPHS United States Public Health Service

UL Underwriter's Laboratory

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21

3-2

UMC Uniform Mechanical Code

UPC Uniform Plumbing Code

USAS The United States of America Standard Institute

USBR United States Bureau of Reclamation

WCLIB West Coast Lumber Inspection Bureau

WIC Woodwork Institute of California

3.2 **DEFINITIONS**

For purposes of the Contract Documents, these words and phrases shall be defined as follows:

- 3.2.1 District means the Rancho Murieta Community Services District, also referred to as the Owner.
- 3.2.2 <u>As Approved</u> shall be understood to be followed by the words "by the Engineer," unless otherwise qualified.
- 3.2.3 <u>As Shown</u> and <u>As Indicated</u> shall be understood to be followed by the words "on the Plans."
- 3.2.4 <u>Bid</u> means the offer of the bidder for the work when made out and submitted on the prescribed bid form, properly completed, signed and guaranteed.
- 3.2.5 <u>Bid Bond</u> means the cash, cashier's check, certified check, or bidder's bond accompanying the bid submitted by the bidder, as a guarantee that the bidder will enter into a Contract with the District for the performance of work herein described.
- 3.2.6 <u>Bidder</u> means any individual, firm, partnership or corporation submitting a bid for the work contemplated, and acting directly or through a duly authorized representative.
- 3.2.7 <u>Board of Directors</u> or <u>Board</u> means the Board of Directors of the District.
- 3.2.8 <u>Contract</u> means the written agreement covering the performance of the work and the furnishing of labor, materials, tools and equipment in the construction of the work. The Contract shall include all Contract Documents and supplemental agreements amending or extending the work contemplated which may be required to complete the work in a substantial and acceptable manner. Supplemental agreements are written agreements covering alterations, amendments or extensions to the Contract, and include Addenda and Contract Change Orders.
- 3.2.9 <u>Contract Documents</u> means any or all of the documents listed in section 2.1.2 of the Contract.

- 3.2.10 <u>Contractor</u> means the person or persons, firm, partnership or corporation or other entity who has entered into the Contract with the District to perform the work.
 - 3.2.11 <u>County</u> means County of Sacramento, California.
- 3.2.12 <u>Date of the Contract</u> means the date on which the Contract is signed by the District's authorized representative.
 - 3.2.13 <u>Days</u> mean calendar days unless otherwise designated.
- 3.2.14 <u>Engineer</u> means the architect or engineer retained by the District, or the person or persons designated by the District as its engineering representative during the course of construction, acting either directly or through properly authorized agents, such agents acting within the scope of the particular duties delegated to them.
- 3.2.15 $\underline{\text{He}}$ shall include "she" and "it" and $\underline{\text{his}}$ shall include "her" and "its."
- 3.2.16 Or Equal means the term "or equal" shall be understood to indicate that the "equal" product be the same or better than the product named in function, performance, reliability, quality, and general configuration. Determination of equality in reference to the project design requirements will be made by the Engineer.
- 3.2.17 <u>Plans</u> or <u>Drawings</u> mean the term "Plans" or "Drawings" refers to the official plans, drawings, profiles, cross sections, elevations, details, and other working drawings and supplementary drawings, or reproductions thereof, signed by the Engineer, which show the location, character, dimensions, and details of the work to be performed, and identified at section 2.1.2. Plans may either be bound in the same book as the balance of the Contract Documents or bound in separate sets, and are a part of the Contract Documents, regardless of the method of binding.
- 3.2.18 <u>Specifications</u> mean the terms, provisions, and requirements contained in the Contract Documents and identified in section 2.1.2 and is synonymous with "Technical Specifications." Where standard specifications, such as those of "ASTM", "AASHO", etc. have been referred to, the applicable portions of such standard specifications shall become a part of these Contract Documents.
 - 3.2.19 State means State of California.
- 3.2.20 <u>State Standard Specifications</u> mean the edition in effect as of the Date of Execution of the Contract of the Standard Specifications issued by the State of California Business and Transportation Agency, Department of Transportation, unless a specific edition is referenced.
- 3.2.21 <u>Subcontractor</u> means only those persons, firms or entities having a direct contract with the Contractor, and it includes one who furnishes material worked to a special design according to the Plans or Specifications of this work, but does not include one who merely furnishes material not so worked and would be considered a supplier only.

- 3.2.22 <u>Time Limits</u> mean all time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.
- 3.2.23 <u>Work</u> means all the work specified, indicated, shown or contemplated in the Contract Documents to construct the improvements, including all alterations, amendments or extensions thereto made by Contract Change Order or other written orders of the Engineer.
- 3.2.24 Whenever in the Contract Documents or upon the Drawings the words DIRECTED, REQUIRED, PERMITTED, ORDERED, DESIGNATED, PRESCRIBED, or words of like import are used, it shall be understood that the direction, requirement, permission, order, designation or prescription of the Engineer is intended, and similarly the words APPROVED, ACCEPTABLE, SATISFACTORY, or words of like import, shall mean approved or acceptable to, or satisfactory to the Engineer, unless otherwise expressly stated.

4 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Each bid shall be in accordance with these Instructions to Bidders and other applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. The Invitation to Bid will specify whether Contract Documents are available on a purchase or deposit basis. Where payment for such sets is specified, no refund will be made.

4.2 PLANS

Electronic (PDF) copies of full-scale plans and specifications may be obtained at the Districts website: https://www.ranchomurietacsd.com/

4.3 LOCAL CONDITIONS

- 4.3.1 The quantities of work or material stated in the unit price items of the Bid Schedule are given only as a basis for the comparison of Bids, and the District does not represent or warrant that the actual amount of work or material will correspond therewith, but reserves the right to increase or decrease the quantity of any unit price item of the work as may be deemed necessary or expedient by the Engineer.
- 4.3.2 The Bidder shall examine carefully the site of the work contemplated and the Contract Documents. The submission of a Bid shall be conclusive evidence that the Bidder has investigated and is satisfied as to the conditions to be encountered, as to the character, quality and quantities of work to be performed and the materials to be furnished, and as to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Bidders shall thoroughly examine and be familiar with the Plans and Specifications. The failure of any bidder to receive or examine any form, instrument, addendum or other document, or to visit the site and acquaint himself with conditions there existing shall in no way relieve the Bidder from any obligation with respect to its proposal or to the Contract. The Plans for the work show conditions as they are supposed or believed by the District, the Engineer or their representatives to exist; but it is neither intended nor to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by the District, the Engineer, or their representatives that such conditions are actually existent, nor shall the District, the Engineer or their representatives be liable for any loss sustained by the Contractor as a result of any inference or extrapolation drawn by the Bidder between conditions as shown on the Plans and the actual conditions revealed during the progress of work, or otherwise. The Bidder's attention is directed to the possible existence of obstructions and public or private improvements which may be within the limits of the work or adjacent thereto, which may or may not be shown on the Plans.
- 4.3.3 Where the Engineer has made investigations of surface and subsurface conditions in areas where work is to be performed under the Contract, or in other areas, some of which may constitute possible local material sources, such investigations were made only for the purpose of study and design. Where such investigations have been made, bidders or Contractor may, upon written request, inspect the records of the Engineer as to such investigations subject to and upon the conditions hereinafter set forth. Such inspection of records may be made at the office of the Engineer.

- 4.3.4 The records of such investigations are not a part of the Contract and are made available for inspection solely for the convenience of the bidder or Contractor. It is expressly understood and agreed by bidder or Contractor that neither the District nor the Engineer assumes any responsibility whatsoever with respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the investigations thus made, the records thereof, or of the interpretation set forth therein or made by the Engineer in his use thereof and there is no representation, warranty or guarantee, either express or implied, that the conditions indicated by such investigations or records thereof are correct or representative of those existing throughout such areas or any part thereof, or that unanticipated developments may not occur or that materials other than, or in proportions different from, those indicated may not be encountered.
- 4.3.5 Where a log of test borings or other investigations of subsurface conditions have been made by the District in respect to foundation or other structural design, and that information is shown in the plans, said information represents only the statement by the District as to the character of material which has been actually encountered by it in its investigation, and is only included for the convenience of bidders. Water levels that may be shown on a log of test borings are valid only for the stated date of observation. The water level may change from season to season and from year to year. Investigations of subsurface conditions are made for the purpose of design, and the District assumes no responsibility whatever in respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of borings or of the log of test borings or other preliminary investigations, or of the interpretation thereof, and there is no guaranty, either expressed or implied, that the conditions indicated are representative of those existing throughout the work, or any part of it, or that unobserved or unanticipated developments may not occur. Making such information available to bidders is not to be construed in any way as waiver of the provisions of this section and bidders must satisfy themselves through their own investigations as to conditions to be encountered.
- 4.3.6 The availability or use of information described in these Instructions to Bidders and other bid documents shall not be construed in any way as a waiver of the provisions of the Instructions of Bidders and a Bidder or Contractor is cautioned to make such an investigation and examination as it deems necessary to satisfy itself as to conditions to be encountered in the performance of the work and, with respect to possible local material sources, the quality and quantity of material available from such property and the type and extent of processing that may be required in order to produce material conforming to the requirements of the Specifications.
- 4.3.7 No information derived from such inspection of records of investigations or compilations thereof made by the Engineer, will in any way relieve the bidder or Contractor from any risk or from properly fulfilling the terms of the Contract.
- 4.3.8 Information derived from inspection of topographic maps, or from Plans showing location of utilities and structures will not in any way relieve the Contractor from any risk, or from properly examining the site and making such additional investigations as it may elect, or from properly fulfilling all the terms of the Contract.

4.4 FORM OF BID AND SIGNATURE

Bids shall be submitted only on the forms attached hereto or copies thereof and shall be enclosed in a sealed envelope and marked and addressed as hereinafter directed. The Bidder shall state in figures the unit prices or the specific sums as the case may be, for which he proposes to supply the labor, materials, supplies tools or equipment, and perform the work required by the Contract Documents. If the Bid is made by an individual, it shall be signed by its full name and address shall be given; if it is made by a partnership, it shall be signed with the partnership name by a member of the partnership, who shall also sign his own name, and the name and address of each member of such partnership shall be given; and, if it is made by a corporation the name of the corporation shall be given and it shall be signed by its duly authorized officer or officers, the name(s) and title(s) of all signing officers, of the corporation shall be given, and the address of the corporation and the state in which incorporated shall be stated. Bids will be considered only from persons licensed as required under applicable provisions of the Contractors' State License Law (California Business and Professions Code section 7000, et seq.) and rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto; and each bidder shall insert its type of contractor's license, license number, and other requested information in the place provided in the bid. No oral, telephonic, e-mail, facsimile or telegraphic Bid or modification of a Bid will be considered.

4.5 SUBMISSION OF BIDS

- 4.5.1 All Bids must be submitted not later than the time prescribed, at the place and in the manner set forth in the Invitation to Bid. The District shall not consider any Bid received after the time fixed or received at any place other than the place stated in the Invitation to Bid. Bids must be made on the prescribed Bid forms. A complete Bid requires submission of fully completed and executed: Bid, Designation of Subcontractors (if applicable), Bid Bond (or other bid guarantee), Experience Qualifications and Noncollusion Declaration. Each Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope, so marked as to indicate its contents without being opened, and addressed in conformance with the instructions in the Invitation to Bid. The bidder is wholly responsible to see that its Bid is submitted at the time and place named for the opening of bids.
- 4.5.2 Bids shall acknowledge receipt of all addenda (identified by addendum no.) issued during the bidding period. Failure to acknowledge an addendum or clarification may result in the Bid being rejected as not responsive.
- 4.5.3 Bids shall be open at the time and place specified in the Invitation to Bid, unless changed by addendum. All Bids will be opened and read publicly. Bidders, their representatives and other interested parties, are invited to be present at the opening.

4.6 PREPARATION OF THE BID

4.6.1 Blank spaces in the Bid shall be properly completed. The phraseology of the Bid must not be changed and no additions shall be made to the items mentioned therein. Unauthorized conditions, limitations or provisions attached to a Bid may render it nonresponsive and may cause its rejection. If erasures, interlineations or other changes appear on the form, each erasure, interlineation or change must be initialed by the person signing the Bid. Alternative Bids will not be considered unless specifically provided for in the Bid Schedule.

Where performance and/or labor and material bonds are required, the Bidder shall name in his Bid the surety or sureties which have agreed to furnish the bonds.

4.6.2 Section 5.36 of the Contract General Conditions provides that the successful Contractor shall pay all federal, state and local taxes, including manufacturers' taxes, sales taxes, use taxes, processing taxes, and payroll, wage, insurance, social security, and unemployment taxes on wages, salaries or any remuneration paid to Contractor's employees. A bidder's bid prices shall be deemed to include all applicable taxes, and there shall be no separate bid item or billing for taxes.

4.7 BID GUARANTEE

- 4.7.1 All Bids shall be accompanied by a Bid Bond, as defined, made payable to the District. The Bid Bond must be enclosed in the same envelope with the Bid. The amount of the Bid Bond shall be not less than 10 percent of the total amount of the Bid.
- 4.7.2 If a bond is utilized, the Attorney in Fact (resident agent) who executes the Bid Bond on behalf of the surety company must attach a copy of his Power of Attorney as evidence of his authority. A notary shall acknowledge the power as of the date of execution of the surety bond which it covers. A bond will be accepted only if it is made out on either the Bid Bond form enclosed in these documents or on a form which substantially conforms to it.

4.8 LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS; SUBCONTRACTING LIMITS

- 4.8.1 Each Bidder shall set forth in its Bid on the form provided the following information in accordance with the provisions of California Public Contract Code section 4100, et seq.: (a) The name, location of the place of business, and California contractor's license number of each subcontractor who will perform work or labor or render service to the Contractor in or about the construction of the work or improvement, and of each subcontractor who, under subcontract to the Contractor, is to specifically fabricate and install or provide a portion of the work or improvement according to the Contract Documents, in any amount in excess of 1/2 of 1 percent of the Contractor's total Bid; and (b) The portion of the work that will be done by each such subcontractor. Only one subcontractor shall be listed for each such portion of the work as defined in the Bid. If the Bidder fails to specify a subcontractor for any portion of the work to be performed under the Contract, the Bidder agrees to perform that portion of the work itself.
- 4.8.2 The Contractor shall perform with its own organization work amounting to not less than 50 percent of the original total contract price, except that any designated "Specialty Items" may be performed by subcontract and the amount of any such "Specialty Items" so performed may be deducted from the original total contract price before computing the amount of work required to be performed by the Contractor with its own organization. When items of work in the Bid schedule are preceded by the letter (S), such items shall be deemed designated "Specialty Items." Where an entire item is subcontracted, the value of work subcontracted will be based on the contract item bid price. When a portion of an item is subcontracted, the value of work subcontracted will be based on the estimated percentage of the contract item bid price, determined from information submitted by the Contractor, subject to approval by the Engineer.

4.9 INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

4.9.1 Any explanation desired by the bidders regarding the meaning or interpretation of any of the Contract Documents must be requested in writing, with sufficient allowance of time for receipt of reply before the time set for opening of Bids. Any such explanations or interpretations will be made only in the form of addenda to the documents and will be furnished to all bidders who shall submit all addenda with their Bids. Neither the Engineer nor any representative of the District is authorized to give oral explanations or interpretations of Contract Documents, and a submission of a Bid constitutes agreement by the bidder that he has placed no reliance on any such oral explanation or interpretation. However, the Engineer may, upon inquiry by bidder, orally direct the bidder's attention to specific provisions of the Contract Documents which cover the subject of the inquiry.

4.9.2 The Bidder shall review the Plans and Specifications prior to submission of his bid and shall report any errors and omissions noted by the Bidder to the District prior to such submission.

4.10 MODIFICATION OF BIDS

A Bidder may modify its Bid by written communication provided such communication is received by the District prior to the closing time for receipt of Bids. The written communication should not reveal the Bid price but should state the addition or subtraction or other modification so that the final prices or terms will not be known by the District until the sealed bid is opened.

4.11 WITHDRAWAL AND RETURN OF BIDS

Bids may be withdrawn without prejudice by written, e-mail, facsimile or telegraphic requests received from the Bidder prior to the time for opening of Bids, and Bids so withdrawn will be returned to bidders unopened. No Bid may be withdrawn after the hour affixed for opening Bids without rendering the accompanying Bid Bond subject to retention as liquidated damages in like manner as in the case of failure to execute the Contract after award, as provided in the Contract Documents. Negligence on the part of the Bidder preparing its Bid shall not constitute a right to withdraw the Bid subsequent to the opening of Bids. Any Bid received after the bid submission deadline shall be returned to the bidder unopened.

4.12 DISCREPANCIES

In the case of discrepancy between unit prices and totals, unit prices will prevail. In case of discrepancy between words and figures, words will prevail.

4.13 SERVICING AND MAINTENANCE

Each Bidder must, if requested, furnish evidence that there is an efficient service organization which regularly carries a stock of repair parts for the proposed equipment to be furnished and installed in the work and that the organization is conveniently located for prompt service.

4.14 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDERS

- 4.14.1 More than one Bid from an individual, firm, partnership or corporation under the same or different names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any individual, firm, partnership or corporation is interested in more than one Bid for the work contemplated may cause the rejection of all Bids in which the individual, firm, partnership or corporation is interested. If there is reason for believing that collusion exists among the bidders, any or all Bids may be rejected. Bids in which the price is obviously unbalanced may be rejected.
- 4.14.2 All bidders are put on notice that any collusive agreement fixing the prices to be bid so as to control or affect the awarding of this Contract is in violation of the competitive bidding requirements applicable to the District, including Public Contract Code section 7106, and may render void any contract let under such circumstances.

4.15 AWARD OF CONTRACT

- 4.15.1 The District reserves the right to accept or reject any and all Bids during the time for awarding the Contract, and to waive any informality or irregularity in any Bid. No Bid can be withdrawn during the time for awarding the Contract. The time for awarding the Contract is provided in section 4.17.
- 4.15.2 Before a Bid is considered for award, the District may, in addition to the Experience Qualifications form, require a Bidder to submit a statement of facts and detail as to its business, technical organization and financial resources and equipment available and to be used in performing the work. Additionally, the District may require evidence that the Bidder has performed other work of comparable magnitude and type. The District expressly reserves the right to reject any Bid if it determines that the business and technical organization, equipment, financial and other resources or other experience of the Bidder (including the Bidder's subcontractors) is not sufficiently qualified for the work bid upon and, therefore, justifies such rejection.
- 4.15.2 The award of the Contract, if it is awarded, will be to the lowest responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid complies with the requirements of the Contract Documents. The lowest bid will be determined solely based on the base contract without considering alternate bid items.

4.16 CONTRACT BONDS

4.16.1 The successful Bidder shall furnish both a Performance Bond and a Payment Bond in the type, form and amount specified in the forms included with the Contract Documents. These bonds shall be furnished on such forms or on substantially similar forms acceptable to the District. The Payment Bond shall comply with California Civil Code sections 9550 and 9554 and applicable provisions of the California Bond and Undertaking Law (California Code of Civil Procedure section 995.010 et seq.). The bonds shall be obtained from a responsible corporate surety (or sureties) acceptable to the District, who is (or are) in good standing with and duly admitted by the Insurance Commissioner of the State of California to act as surety upon bonds and undertakings. The surety (or sureties) shall furnish reports as to its financial condition from

time to time as requested by the District. The premiums for the bonds shall be paid by the successful Bidder.

4.16.2 If any surety becomes unacceptable to the District, is deemed insolvent, is no longer an admitted surety in California, or fails to furnish reports as to its financial condition as requested by the District, the Contractor shall promptly furnish such additional security as may be required from time to time to protect the interests of the District and of persons supplying labor or materials in the prosecution of the work contemplated by this Contract.

4.16.3 In the event of any conflict between the terms of the Contract and the terms of the bonds, the terms of the Contract shall control and the bonds shall be deemed to be amended thereby. Without limiting the foregoing, the District shall be entitled to exercise all rights granted to it by the Contract in the event of default, without control thereof by the surety, provided that the District gives the surety notice of such default at the time or before the exercise of any such right by the District, and, regardless of the terms of the bonds, the exercise of any such right by the District shall in no manner affect the liability of the surety under the bonds.

4.17 EXECUTION OF CONTRACT

The successful Bidder will be notified in writing by the District of the award of the Contract within thirty (30) days after opening of Bids, unless the time period is extended as provided in the Invitation to Bid. Accompanying the District's notice of award will be the Contract, which the District may require to be executed in duplicate or triplicate. Within ten (10) days following receipt of such notice of award, the successful bidder will be required to execute and return the original contract(s), together with the performance and payment bonds, and the required certificates and proof of insurance documents (see sections 2.4 and 5.52), to the District. Failure to do so shall be just cause for annulment of the award and for forfeiture of the Bid Bond which shall be retained as liquidated damages, and it is agreed that the Bid Bond sum is a fair estimate of the amount of damages that the District will sustain by reason of such failure. The District will promptly determine whether such Contract, bonds and insurance are as required by the Contract Documents, and upon such determination will forward a fully executed copy of the Contract and a Notice to Proceed with the work to the successful bidder. Signature by both parties constitutes execution of the Contract. In the event of failure of the lowest responsible responsive Bidder to sign and return the Contract with acceptable bonds and insurance as prescribed herein, the District may award the Contract to the next lowest responsible responsive Bidder, and, in the event that Bidder fails to sign and return the Contract with acceptable bonds and insurance, the District may award the Contract to the then next lowest responsible responsive Bidder, etc.

4.18 RETURN OF BID GUARANTEES

All Bid Bonds will be held until the Contract has been finally executed, after which all Bid Bonds, other than any Bid Bonds which have been forfeited, will be returned to the respective bidders whose Bids they accompanied, but in no event shall non-forfeited bonds be held by the District beyond 60 days from the date that the District awards the Contract.

4.19 POWER OF ATTORNEY

The Attorney in Fact (resident agent) who executes the Performance Bond and Payment Bond on behalf of the surety company must attach a copy of his Power of Attorney as evidence of his authority. A notary public shall acknowledge the power as of the date of the execution of the bond which it covers.

4.20 TIME OF COMPLETION

The time of completion of the work to be performed under this Contract is the essence of the Contract. Delays and extensions of time may be allowed in accordance with the provisions of the General Conditions. The time allowed for the completion of the work is stated in the Contract.

4.21 LICENSING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS

The Contractor shall hold such licenses as may be required by the laws of the State of California for the performance of the work specified in the Contract Documents, and shall have the following classification or type of license for the work issued by the California Contractors State License Board: Class A.

4.22 PREVAILING WAGES

Copies of the prevailing rate of per diem wages are on file at the District's office, and will be made available to any interested party on request. The Contractor shall post at each job site a copy of the determination of the Director of Industrial Relations of the prevailing rate of per diem wages. Furthermore, Contractor must post job site notices, as required by Section 1771.4(a)(2) of the Labor Code and prescribed by regulation.

4.23 BID PROTEST

- 4.23.1 Any bid protest must be submitted in writing to the District before 5:00 p.m. of the fifth working day following the bid opening. "Working day" as used in this section means a day that District is open for normal business, and excludes weekends and holidays observed by District. The party filing the protest must have actually submitted a timely bid for the work. A subcontractor of a bidder may not submit a bid protest. A bidder may not rely on a bid protest submitted by another bidder, but must timely file its own protest.
- 4.23.2 The bid protest shall be in the form of a letter or memorandum and it shall include the following: a complete statement of the basis or bases for the protest, including any supporting documents; a reference to the specific portion(s) of the Contract Documents which form(s) the basis for the protest; and, the name, address and telephone number of the person representing the protesting bidder.
- 4.23.3 The bidder filing the protest shall concurrently transmit a copy of the protest document and any attached documentation to all other bidders with a direct financial interest who may be adversely affected by the outcome of the protest, including all other bidders who appear to have a reasonable prospect of receiving an award depending upon the outcome of the protest.

- 4.23.4 The District will issue a prompt decision on the protest. If the District determines that a protest is frivolous, the party originating the protest may be determined to be irresponsible and that party may be determined to be ineligible for future contract awards.
- 4.23.5 The procedure and time limits set forth in this section are mandatory and are the bidder's sole and exclusive remedy in the event of a bid protest. Failure to comply with these procedures shall constitute a waiver of any right to further pursue the bid protest, including filing a Government Code claim, lawsuit or other legal proceeding.
- 4.23.6 For purposes of this section, a "bid protest" means any protest, objection, complaint or challenge to, concerning or against (a) a rejection of a bidder for any reason, (b) a contract award to the apparent low bidder, (c) another bidder's bid, or (d) the legality or enforceability of the bid documents.

4.24 INELIGIBLE CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

The District shall not accept a bid from a bidder who is ineligible to bid or work on, or be awarded, a public works project pursuant to California Labor Code section 1777.1 or 1777.7. Bidders and the Contractor who is awarded the project contract shall not utilize, or allow work by, any subcontractor who is ineligible to bid or work on, or be awarded, a public works project pursuant to California Labor Code section 1777.1 or 1777.7. (See California Public Contract Code section 6109.) The California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement publishes a list of debarred contractors and subcontractors on the Internet at http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSE/debar.html

4.25 AUDIT OF BID DOCUMENTS

The District shall have the right to audit all (including review, obtain and copy upon reasonable notice) documents that comprise or relate to a bidder's bid in connection with any request, claim or contention raised by any bidder, including, but not limited to, Public Contract Code Sections 4000, et seq., or 5000, et seq., or any bid protest. The term "records" and the term "documents" as used herein shall include, but not be limited to, original estimates, subcontracts, bids, proposals, purchase orders, books, documents, accounting records, papers, correspondence, project files and scheduling information, including the original Bid and all documents related thereto and to its preparation, the as-planned construction schedule and any related documents.

4.26 SUBSTITUTIONS DURING BIDDING

Manufacturers or suppliers of materials and equipment may offer an alternative product to the Contractor, except where alternatives or substitutes are specifically excluded, and request that alternatives to specified products be considered equal. Inclusion of such alternatives in the bid is the responsibility of the Contractor. Inclusion should only be considered if the Contractor believes the offered alternative is equal in quality and performance to the specified product. After award of the Contract, such offers of alternative products will be reviewed and processed as a substitution as provided under General Conditions section 5.24 (Trade Names and Alternatives). Inclusion or offers of alternative products will not be reviewed or processed during the bidding period.

5 GENERAL CONDITIONS

5.1 INTENT OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS/MEANS AND METHODS

- 5.1.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to prescribe the details for the construction and completion of the work which the Contractor undertakes to perform in accordance with the terms of the Contract. Where the Specifications and Plans describe portions of the work in general terms, but not in complete detail, it is understood that only the best general practice is to prevail and that only materials and workmanship of the first quality are to be used. Unless otherwise specified, the Contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals and do all the work involved in performing the Contract in a satisfactory and workmanlike manner.
- 5.1.2 The technical specifications are presented in sections for convenience. However, this presentation does not necessarily delineate trades or limits of responsibility. All sections of the Specifications and Plans are interdependent and applicable to the project as a whole.
- 5.1.3 The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is called for in any one shall be as binding as if called for in all.
- 5.1.4 It is expressly stipulated that the drawings, specifications and other Contract Documents set forth the requirements as to the nature of the completed work and do not purport to control the method of performing work except in those instances where the nature of the completed work is dependent on the method of performance.
- 5.1.5 Except as provided elsewhere in the Contract Documents, neither the District nor the Engineer will be responsible for or have control or charge of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the work. Except as provided elsewhere in the Contract Documents, neither the District nor the Engineer will be responsible for or have control or charge over the acts or omissions of the Contractor, or any of their subcontractors, agents or employees, or any other persons performing any of the work. Any general control of the work exercised by the District or its authorized representatives shall not make the Contractor an agent of the District, and the liability of the Contractor for all damages to persons and/or to public or private property arising from the Contractor's execution of the work shall not be lessened because of such general control.

5.2 CONTRACTOR'S UNDERSTANDING

It is understood and agreed that the Contractor has, by careful examination, satisfied itself as to the nature and location of the work, the conformation of the ground, the character, quality and quantity of the materials to be encountered, the character of equipment and facilities needed preliminary to and during the prosecution of the work, the general and local conditions, and all other matters which can in any way affect the work under this Contract. No verbal agreement or conversation with any officer, agent or employee of the District, either before or after the execution of this Contract, shall affect or modify any of the terms or obligations herein contained.

5.3 CHANGES IN THE WORK

- 5.3.1 The District reserves the right to make such alterations, deviations, additions to, deletions or omissions from the plans and specifications, including the right to increase or decrease the quantity of any item or portion of the work, as may be deemed by the Engineer to be necessary or advisable and to require such extra work as may be determined by the Engineer to be required for the proper completion or construction of the whole work contemplated. Such changes, no matter how many, shall be within the contemplation of this Contract and shall not be the basis for a compensable delay or a claim for lost profits.
- 5.3.2 The Engineer shall have the authority to order minor changes in the work not involving any increase or decrease in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Contract. Such minor changes shall be effected by written order of the Engineer, and the Contractor shall carry out such written orders promptly. If the Contractor disagrees with the Engineer's determination that the minor change does not involve any increase or decrease in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Contract, then the Contractor may file and pursue a claim pursuant to section 5.4. The written claim must be submitted to the Engineer within 15 days after the date of the Engineer's written order. If the Contractor believes that any such work is beyond the scope of the contract documents, the Contractor shall provide a written "Daily Extra Work Report" documenting the alleged extra work, which will be submitted to and verified by the Engineer or the District's representative at the end of the day the work was performed.
- 5.3.3 If any change in the work ordered by the Engineer causes an increase or decrease in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Contract, an adjustment and modification of the Contract will be made in the form of a Change Order which will set forth (a) the changes, additions and/or deductions in the work to be done, (b) the increase or decrease in compensation due the Contractor, if any, or the method by which the increase or decrease, if any, will be calculated, and (c) the adjustment in the time of completion of the work, if applicable. A Change Order may be issued to the Contractor at any time.
- 5.3.4 The compensation to be paid for any work addressed in a Change Order shall be determined in one or more of the following ways as shown in the Change Order:
 - a. By unit prices;
 - b. By an agreed-upon lump sum; or
 - c. By the cost-plus basis determined pursuant to section 5.3.9.
- 5.3.5 Contractor shall keep full and complete records of the cost of any work addressed in a Change Order in the form and manner prescribed by the Engineer and shall permit the Engineer to have access to such records as may be necessary to assist in the determination of the compensation payable for such work.
- 5.3.6 With respect to a Change Order involving the deletion or reduction of work, the Engineer shall determine the appropriate reduction in the Contract price based on the lump sum and/or per unit prices in the bid schedule for the items of work deleted or

reduced by the Change Order. The Contractor shall not be entitled to claim damages for anticipated profits on any portion of the work that may be deleted.

- 5.3.7 Upon receipt of a Change Order signed by the Engineer, the Contractor shall forthwith proceed with the ordered work, unless otherwise directed by the Engineer. If the Contractor agrees with the terms and conditions of the Change Order, then it shall sign the Change Order.
- 5.3.8 Should the Contractor disagree with any terms or conditions set forth in a proposed Change Order, it shall submit a written protest to the Engineer within 15 days after the receipt of the proposed Change Order. The protest shall state the points of disagreement, addressing, if applicable, the quantities and cost involved and the adjustment of time for completion.
- 5.3.8.1 If a written protest is not timely submitted by the Contractor, then the proposed Change Order, including all cost and time adjustment provisions, if any, that was submitted to the Contractor shall be deemed final and acceptable to the Contractor even if not signed by the Contractor. Any payment under an unprotested Change Order's cost adjustment provisions shall constitute full compensation for all work included in or required by the Change Order.
- 5.3.8.2 If the Contractor timely protests a proposed Change Order, it shall nevertheless proceed with the ordered work pending resolution of the protest.
- 5.3.8.3 If the Contractor timely protests a proposed Change Order, the Engineer shall render in writing its determination of the protest. If the Contractor disputes the determination, then the Contractor may file and pursue a claim pursuant to section 5.4. The written claim must be submitted to the Engineer within 15 days after the date of the Engineer's written determination on the protest. If the Contractor does not timely file a claim, then the proposed Change Order (as may have been revised by the Engineer's determination on the protest), including all cost and time adjustment provisions, if any, shall be deemed final and acceptable to the Contractor even if not signed by the Contractor. Any payment under such a Change Order's cost adjustment provisions shall constitute full compensation for all work included in or required by the Change Order.
- 5.3.8.4 If the Contractor refuses to accept a Change Order, the District may issue it unilaterally. The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of the Change Order. The District shall provide for an equitable adjustment to the Contract, and compensate the Contractor accordingly. If the Contractor does not agree that the adjustment is equitable, it may submit a claim in accordance with section 5.4.
 - 5.3.9 The following shall constitute the cost-plus basis of payment:
- 5.3.9.1 Charges for all of the labor furnished and used by the Contractor shall be made for manual classifications up to and including general foreman. It will not include charges for assistant superintendents, superintendents, office personnel, timekeepers and maintenance mechanics. The time charged to work shall be subject to the daily approval of the Engineer and evidence of such approval shown on an approved Daily Extra Work Report and

shall be submitted with the billing. Labor rates used to calculate the costs shall be those basic wages including current employer contributions for fringe benefits and federal and state surcharges and including applicable subsistence and travel allowances, all as actually paid to workers under collective bargaining agreements or as a regular practice of the employer. No time or charges will be allowed except when the workers are actually engaged in the proper, efficient and diligent performance or completion of the work as authorized. Overtime shall not be worked without prior approval of the Engineer.

5.3.9.2 Charges for the rental and operation of the equipment furnished and used by the Contractor shall be made for all prime construction and automotive equipment. It shall not include charges for listed equipment or major tools with a new cost of \$500 or less. Equipment time charges shall be itemized on a Daily Extra Work Report, subject to the daily approval of the Engineer and evidence of such daily approval shall be submitted with the billing. The equipment rental and operation rates used shall be those agreed upon by the Engineer and the Contractor prior to commencement of the work and shall include an approved allowance for depreciation. The cost for each type of approved equipment (active or standby) shall be no greater than the amount allowed in the latest edition of the Caltrans Standard Equipment Rates. Time and charges shall be allowed only when equipment is actually being used for the proper and efficient performance or completion of the work as authorized.

5.3.9.3 Charges for the cost of materials furnished by the Contractor shall be made, provided such furnishing was specifically authorized in the work order and the actual use verified by the Engineer. Charges shall be net cost to the Contractor delivered at the job, including all applicable sales taxes; and a vendor's invoice must accompany the billing along with verification of use of such materials by the Engineer.

5.3.9.4 A charge for major tools, supplies, overhead, supervision and profit will be allowed in the amount of 15% of the total direct labor costs, equipment costs, and material costs, as defined in sections 5.3.9.1 to 5.3.9.3.

5.3.9.5 When all or any part of work is performed by any of the Contractor's subcontractors, the markup percentage established in section 5.3.9.4 shall be applied to the subcontractor's actual cost of such work (as determined in sections 5.3.9.1 to 5.3.9.3), to which a markup of 5% on the subcontracted portion of the extra work may be added by the Contractor.

5.3.10 Lump sum change orders shall include all work and costs associated with the change work item(s) and shall be agreed to and signed by both the Contractor and the District prior to commencing the work.

5.3.10.1 A charge for major tools, supplies, overhead, supervision and profit will be allowed an amount no greater than 15% of the total direct labor, equipment, and material costs.

5.3.10.2 When all or any part of work is performed by any of the Contractor's subcontractors, the markup percentage established in section 5.3.10.1 shall be applied

to the subcontractor's actual cost of such work, to which a markup of no greater than 5% on the subcontracted portion of the extra work may be added by the Contractor.

- 5.3.11 The consent of the Contractor's bond sureties shall not be required as to any change or extra work ordered by the District, and the liability of the Contractor's bonds and sureties shall be increased or decreased accordingly without notice to the sureties.
- 5.3.12 The District reserves the right to contract with any person or firm other than the Contractor for any or all extra work.
- 5.3.13 If the total pay quantity of any item of work required under the Contract to be paid at a unit price exceeds the item as bid by more than 25 percent, then in the absence of an executed contract change order specifying the compensation to be paid, the work in excess of 125 percent of such estimate may, at the District's discretion, be paid for by a cost plus basis of payment as described at section 5.3.9, instead of at the unit price.
- 5.3.14 Any extra work related to differing site conditions pursuant to Public Contract Code section 7104 shall be addressed in accordance with section 5.45.7.5 of these General Conditions. No claim of the Contractor under this clause shall be allowed unless the Contractor has promptly given the notice required before any such claimed conditions are disturbed.

5.4 CLAIMS AND RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

- 5.4.1 General. The parties intend by this section 5.4 that differences between the parties, arising under the Contract, be brought to the attention of the Engineer at the earliest possible time in order that such matters may be settled, if possible, or other appropriate action promptly taken. The parties agree to initially strive to resolve all disputes amicably and in an informal manner. Any dispute resolved informally shall be documented by the Engineer, and if the dispute resolution involves a change in the contract work, increase or decrease in the compensation due the contractor, or adjustment in the time of completion of the Work, then the informal dispute resolution shall be confirmed by a Change Order pursuant to section 5.3. Informal discussions or negotiations with the Engineer or other District representatives concerning informal resolution of a dispute shall not toll or suspend the claim filing and other deadlines provided below, unless so provided by the Engineer in writing. The willingness of the Engineer to engage in any such discussions is not a waiver of the District's right to deny a claim or dispute it based on lack of merit, or procedural deficiency, or both.
- 5.4.2 Compliance Required. Contractor shall not be entitled to any additional time to complete Work or to the payment of any additional compensation for claimed extra work (or otherwise on account of any claim, cause, act, failure to act, or happening of any event or occurrence) unless either District has issued a Change Order pursuant to section 5.3 or a claim has been timely filed and approved pursuant to this section 5.4. If the Contractor fails to file a written claim within the claim deadline of section 5.4.4, then the Contractor agrees that it has waived any right or remedy to thereafter pursue the claim against the District in any administrative, arbitration or litigation proceeding, and the District may elect to document this waiver.

5.4.3 Scope of Claims. A claim for purposes of this section 5.4 means a separate demand by the Contractor for (a) a time extension (including a demand for relief from damages or penalties for delay assessed by the District under the Contract), (b) payment of money or damages arising from work done by, or on behalf of, the Contractor pursuant to the Contract and payment of which is not otherwise expressly provided for or the Contractor is not otherwise entitled to, or (c) an amount the payment of which is disputed by the District.

5.4.4 Filing of Contract Claim; Contents; Filing Deadline

5.4.4.1 The Contractor shall file any "Contract Claim" with the Engineer. A Contract Claim must (a) be in writing, (b) be labeled or clearly indicated as a claim under the Contract, (c) set forth in detail the reasons why the Contractor believes additional compensation or a time extension is or may be due, the nature of the costs involved, and, insofar as possible, the amount of the claim, and (d) include (or reference earlier provided) documents that support and substantiate the claim as to both entitlement and quantification of time, money, or both.

5.4.4.2 A Contract Claim must be submitted to the Engineer within the following claim filing deadlines: (a) if a deadline is set forth in the Contract Documents for filing of the particular claim, then the claim must be filed by the specified time; (b) if the claim relates to extra, additional or unforeseen work for which the Contractor intends to demand additional compensation, a time extension, or both, notice shall be given to the Engineer prior to the time that the Contractor commences performance of the work giving rise to the potential claim for additional compensation or time extension, and Contractor shall not proceed with that work until so directed by the Engineer; and (c) for all other claims not included within (a) or (b), the claim must be filed on or before 15 days after the date of the occurrence, event or circumstance giving rise to the claim. In no event shall a Contract Claim be filed later than the date of final payment.

5.4.5 Processing of Claims, Generally. This Contract provides for three types of Contract Claims, which will be processed and resolved under different subsections. Any claim for money or damages of \$375,000 or less or for a time extension (i.e., any claim subject to Public Contract Code section 20104) shall be processed and resolved in accordance with section 5.4.6. Any claim for money or damages of more than \$375,000 (i.e., any claim not subject to Public Contract Code section 9204 or 20104) shall be processed and resolved in accordance with section 5.4.7. Any Contract Claim sent to District by registered mail or certified mail with return receipt requested (i.e., any claim subject to Public Contract Code section 9204) shall be processed and resolved pursuant to section 5.4.8.

5.4.6 Claims for \$375,000 or Less or for Time Extension

5.4.6.1 Application. This section applies to all claims for \$375,000 or less in value, including any claim for a time extension or for a time extension that includes claimed delay damages of \$375,000 or less.

5.4.6.2 District Response to Contract Claim. The Engineer shall respond in writing to the Contract Claim within 60 days of receipt of the claim (or within 45 days

of receipt for claims of less than \$50,000), or may request, in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the claim, any additional documentation supporting the claim or relating to defenses to the claim the District may have against the Contractor. If additional information is thereafter required, it shall be requested and provided pursuant to this subsection, upon mutual agreement of the Engineer and the Contractor. The Engineer's written response to the claim, as further documented, shall be submitted to the Contractor within 30 days after receipt (or 15 days after receipt for claims of less than \$50,000) of the further documentation, or within a period of time no greater than that taken by the Contractor in producing the additional information or requested documentation, whichever is greater. The District shall not fail to pay money as to any portion of a Contact Claim that is undisputed except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents.

5.4.6.3 Meet and Confer. If the Contractor disputes the Engineer's written response, or the Engineer fails to respond within the time prescribed, the Contractor may notify the District, in writing, either within 15 days of receipt of the Engineer's response or within 15 days of the Engineer's failure to respond within the time prescribed, respectively, and demand an informal conference to meet and confer for settlement of the issues in dispute. Upon such a demand, the District shall schedule a meet and confer conference within 30 days for the parties to consider settlement of the dispute. If the Contractor fails to timely demand a meet and confer conference within the applicable 15-day period, then the Contractor shall be deemed not to dispute the Engineer's written response to the Contract Claim and the Engineer's decision on the Contract Claim shall be final, conclusive and binding, and the Contractor shall be deemed to have waived all its rights to further protest, judicial or otherwise.

5.4.6.4 Government Code Claim. Following the meet and confer conference, if the Contract Claim or any portion remains in dispute, the Contractor may file a Government Code Claim as provided in Government Code title 1, division 3.6, part 3, chapters 1 (commencing with section 900) and 2 (commencing with section 910). The running of the period of time within which Contractor must file a Government Code Claim shall be tolled from the time the Contractor submits a timely Contract Claim pursuant to section 5.4.4 until the time that the Contract Claim is denied as a result of the meet and confer process, including any period of time utilized by the meet and confer process. The District shall respond to any Government Code Claim in accordance with the Government Claims Act.

5.4.6.5 Lawsuit. If the claim is not resolved pursuant to section 5.4.6.4, the Contractor may file a lawsuit on the claim within the limitations period provided by the Government Claims Act. If the Contractor fails to timely file a lawsuit within the limitations period of the Government Claims Act, then the District's response to the Government Code Claim shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Contractor, and the Contractor thereafter shall be barred from filing a lawsuit on the claim.

5.4.6.6 Mediation. If the Contractor timely files a lawsuit, then within 60 days, but no earlier than 30 days, following the filing of responsive pleadings, the court shall submit the matter to non-binding mediation (unless waived by mutual stipulation of both parties). The mediation process shall provide for the selection within 15 days by both parties of a disinterested third person as mediator, shall be commenced within 30 days of the submittal, and shall be concluded within 15 days from the commencement of the mediation unless a time requirement is extended upon a good cause showing to the court or by stipulation of both parties.

If the parties fail to select a mediator within the 15-day period, any party may petition the court to appoint the mediator. The mediator's fees and expenses shall be split and paid equally between the parties. The court may, upon request by any party, order any witnesses to participate in the mediation process.

5.4.6.7 Arbitration. If the matter remains in dispute following the mediation or if the parties waive the mediation, then the case shall be submitted to judicial arbitration pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure part 3, title 3, chapter 2.5 (commencing with section 1141.10), notwithstanding section 1141.11 of that code. The Civil Discovery Act of 1986 (Code of Civil Procedure part 4, title 3, chapter 3, article 3 (commencing with section 2016)) shall apply to any proceeding brought under this subdivision consistent with the rules pertaining to judicial arbitration. The arbitrator shall be experienced in public works construction law. The arbitrator's fees and expenses shall be split and paid equally by the parties, except where the arbitrator, for good cause, determines a different division. The court may, upon request by any party, order any witnesses to participate in the arbitration process. Any party who, after receiving an arbitration award, requests a trial de novo but does not obtain a more favorable judgment shall (in addition to payment of any costs and fees under Code of Civil Procedure part 3, title 3, chapter 2.5 (commencing with section 1141.10)) pay the attorney's fees of the other party arising out of the trial de novo.

5.4.6.8 Interest. In any lawsuit filed under this subsection, District shall pay interest at the legal rate on any arbitration award or judgment. The interest shall begin to accrue on the date the lawsuit is filed in court.

5.4.7 Claims for More Than \$375,000

5.4.7.1 Application. This section applies to all claims that exceed \$375,000 in value, including any claim for time extension that includes claimed delay damages exceeding \$375,000.

5.4.7.2 District Response to Contract Claim. The Engineer shall respond in writing to the Contract Claim within 60 days of receipt of the claim, or may request, in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the claim, any additional documentation supporting the claim or relating to defenses to the claim that the District may have against the Contractor. If additional information is thereafter required, it shall be requested and provided pursuant to this subsection, upon mutual agreement of the Engineer and the Contractor. The Engineer's written response to the claim, as further documented, shall be submitted to the Contractor within 30 days after receipt of the further documentation. If the Contractor fails to timely dispute the Engineer's decision on the matter in accordance with section 5.4.7.3, then the Contractor shall be deemed not to dispute the Engineer's written response to the Contract Claim and the Engineer's decision shall be final, conclusive and binding, and the Contractor shall be deemed to have waived all its rights to further protest, judicial or otherwise.

5.4.7.3 Government Code Claim. If the Contractor disputes the Engineer's written response to the Contract Claim, the Contractor may file a Government Code Claim as provided in Government Code title 1, division 3.6, part 3, chapters 1 (commencing with

section 900) and 2 (commencing with section 910). District shall respond to any Government Code Claim in accordance with the California Government Claims Act.

5.4.7.4 Lawsuit. If the claim is not resolved pursuant to section 5.4.7.3, the Contractor may file a lawsuit on the claim within the limitations period provided by the Government Claims Act. If the Contractor fails to timely file a lawsuit within the limitations period of the Government Claims Act, then the District's response to the Government Code Claim shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Contractor, and the Contractor thereafter shall be barred from filing a lawsuit on the claim.

5.4.7.5 Judicial Reference. If the Contractor timely files a lawsuit, the case shall be submitted to judicial reference pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure sections 638 and 640 through 645.1 (or any successor statute) and California Rules of Court title 3, division 9 (commencing with section 3.900). As authorized by Code of Civil Procedure section 638, a referee will consider and decide all factual and legal issues in the action. Each party acknowledges that it will not have any right to a jury trial or to have any judicial officer besides the referee hear or decide the action. When Contractor initiates the superior court lawsuit, it will, at the same time it files the complaint in the action, also file a motion for appointment of a single referee.

- (a) Appointment of a referee shall be by mutual agreement within 30 days between the parties, and if unsuccessful, then by the court and will be governed by Code of Civil Procedure section 640, and subject to objection by either party as provided by Code of Civil Procedure section 641. The referee must be a retired judge or a licensed attorney with at least ten years substantive experience in public works construction matters.
- (b) The parties shall be entitled to discovery and the referee shall oversee discovery and may enforce all discovery orders in the same manner as a superior court judge. The referee shall have the authority to consider and rule on appropriate pre-hearing and post-hearing motions in the same manner as a superior court judge. The referee will have the authority to set a briefing and hearing schedule for any such motion or for a hearing on the merits.
- (c) The referee's statement of decision shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law. The statement of decision will stand as the decision of the superior court and, upon filing of the statement with the clerk of the court, judgment may be entered pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 644, subsection (a). The parties will have rights to appeal the final judgment so entered.
- (d) Each Party will pay half of the costs of the referee and the administrative fees of the reference proceeding, and each party will bear its own costs, expenses and attorney fees for the reference proceeding.
 - 5.4.8 Claims Subject to Public Contract Code section 9204

5.4.8.1 The Contract Claim will be processed and resolved pursuant to Public Contract Code section 9204, which is summarized here:

- (a) District Review of Claim. Within 45 days after receiving a complete Contract Claim, District shall review the claim and provide the Contractor a written statement identifying what portion of the claim is disputed and what portion is undisputed. District will pay any undisputed portion of the claim within 60 days from the date of the written statement. If District fails to timely issue a written statement, the claim shall be deemed rejected in its entirety.
- (b) Meet and Confer Conference. If the Contractor disputes the District's written statement or if the Contract Claim is deemed rejected, the Contractor may demand and the parties will conduct an informal conference to meet and confer regarding settlement in accordance with section 9204, subsection (d)(2). Within 10 business days following the conclusion of the meet and confer conference, District shall provide Contractor a written statement identifying the portion (if any) of the claim remaining in dispute and any undisputed portion will be paid by District within 60 days after this written statement.
- (c) Non-Binding Mediation. Any remaining disputed portion of the claim shall be submitted to nonbinding mediation in accordance with section 9204, subsection (d)(2).
- (d) Interest. Any amount not paid in a timely manner as required by this subsection shall bear interest at a rate of 7 percent per annum until paid.

The foregoing is a summary of section 9204. In the event of any conflict between the summary and section 9204, the statute will govern.

- 5.4.8.2 Lawsuit and Reference. If mediation is unsuccessful and all or parts of the Contract Claim remain in dispute, then the Contractor may pursue a lawsuit (with judicial reference) in accordance with the procedures set forth at sections 5.4.7.4 through 5.4.7.5.
- 5.4.9 Contract Work Pending Claim Resolution. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Engineer, pending resolution of a claim under this section 5.4, the Contractor shall continue to diligently prosecute the Contract work in accordance with the Contract Documents and the instructions of the Engineer.
- 5.4.10 Tort Claims. The provisions of this section 5.4 apply only to contract-based claims and they shall not apply to tort claims, and nothing in this section 5.4 is intended nor shall be construed to change the time periods for filing tort claims or actions specified by Government Code title 1, division 3.6, part 3, chapters 1 (commencing with section 900) and 2 (commencing with section 910).

5.5 GUARANTEE

5.5.1 In addition to warranties, representations and guarantees stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, or implied-in-fact or in-law, the Contractor unconditionally guarantees all materials and workmanship furnished hereunder, and agrees to repair or replace or both at its sole cost and expense, and to the satisfaction of the Engineer and the District, any and all materials which may be defective or improperly installed.

- 5.5.2 The Contractor shall repair or replace to the satisfaction of the Engineer any or all such work that may prove defective in workmanship or materials, ordinary wear and tear excepted, together with any other work which may be damaged or displaced in so doing. Contractor shall leave the site of any such repair or replacement work in satisfactory working order and condition.
- 5.5.3 In the event of failure to comply with the above stated conditions within a reasonable time, the District is authorized to have the defect repaired and made good at the expense of the Contractor who will pay the costs and charges therefor immediately upon demand, including any reasonable management and administrative costs, and engineering, legal and other consultant fees incurred to enforce this section.
- 5.5.4 The signing of the Contract by the Contractor shall constitute execution of the above guarantees. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, the guarantees and warranties shall remain in effect for one year from the date of recording a notice of completion. The District shall have the right to call for such inspection or inspections of the work before the end of the one-year guarantee period and Contractor shall attend and participate in such inspection(s) upon request of the District. This guarantee does not excuse the Contractor from breaches of contract causing defects that occur or are discovered more than one year after the notice of completion. In addition, the warranty and guaranty period for repaired or replaced work or part shall be one year from the date of acceptance of said repaired or replaced work or part, but not less than the remaining warranty period of the original work.

5.6 AUTHORITY OF THE ENGINEER

- 5.6.1 The Engineer is the representative of the District and has full authority to interpret the Contract Documents, to conduct the construction review and inspection of the Contractor's performance, and to decide questions which arise during the course of the work; and its decisions on these matters shall be final and conclusive. The Engineer has the authority to reject all work and materials that do not conform to the Contract Documents, and has the authority to stop the work whenever such stoppage may be necessary to insure the proper execution of the Contract.
- 5.6.2 If at any time the Contractor's work force, tools, plant or equipment appear to the Engineer to be insufficient or inappropriate to secure the required quality of work or the proper rate of progress, the Engineer may order the Contractor to increase their efficiency, improve their character, to augment their number or to substitute other personnel, new tools, plant or equipment, as the case may be, and the Contractor shall comply with such order. Neither the failure of the Engineer to demand such increase of efficiency, number, or improvement, nor the compliance by the Contractor with the demand, shall relieve the Contractor of its obligation to provide quality work at the rate of progress necessary to complete the work within the specified time.
- 5.6.3 The Engineer shall have the authority to make minor changes in the work, not involving extra costs, and not inconsistent with the purposes of the work.

- 5.6.4 Any order given by the Engineer, not otherwise required by the Contract Documents to be in writing shall, on request of the Contractor, be given or confirmed by the Engineer in writing.
- 5.6.5 Whenever work, methods of procedure, or any other matters are made subject to direction or approval, such direction or approval will be given by the Engineer.

5.7 DRAWINGS

- 5.7.1 Drawings furnished herewith are for bidding purposes. The Engineer will furnish the Contractor, free of charge, copies of full-size Drawings which are reasonably necessary for the execution of the work. The Contractor shall have no claim for excusable delay on account of the failure of the Engineer to deliver such Drawings unless the Engineer shall have failed to deliver the same within two weeks after receipt of written demand therefor from the Contractor. If the Contractor, in the course of the work, finds any discrepancy between the Drawings and the physical condition of the locality, or any errors or omissions in the Drawings, or in the layout as given by points and instructions, it shall be its duty to inform the Engineer in writing, and the Engineer will promptly verify the same. Any work done after such discovery, until authorized, will be done at the Contractor's risk. All Drawings, Specifications, and copies thereof furnished by the Engineer are the property of the Engineer and shall not be reused on other work and, with the exception of the signed Contract sets, are to be returned to it, on request, at the completion of the work. All models are the property of the District.
- 5.7.2 The Contractor shall maintain at the site of work one record copy of the Drawings, in good order, and available to the Engineer. The Contractor shall mark the Drawings to record all changes and corrections made during construction. The Contractor shall make all corrections and changes on the Drawings as necessary to produce accurate and complete record Drawings showing the "as built" work. Marked Drawings shall be updated at least weekly. The Contractor shall submit to the Engineer a final, complete and accurate set of record Drawings prior to or simultaneously with the Contractor's request for final payment.
- 5.7.3 The Drawings shall be supplemented by such shop drawings prepared by the Contractor as are necessary to adequately control the work. Contractor shall not make any changes in any shop drawings after they have been reviewed by the Engineer.
- 5.7.4 Shop drawings for any structure shall include, but not be limited to: stress sheets, anchor bolt layouts, shop details, and erection plans, which shall be reviewed and approved by the Engineer before any such work is performed.
- 5.7.5 Shop drawings will be required for cribs, cofferdams, falsework, centering and form work and for other temporary work and methods of construction the Contractor proposes to use. Such drawings shall be subject to the review and approval of the Engineer insofar as the details affect the character of the finished work, but details of design will be left to the Contractor who shall be responsible for the successful construction of the work.
- 5.7.6 Contractor agrees that shop drawings processed by the Engineer are not Contract Change Orders, and that the purpose of shop drawings submitted by the Contractor is to demonstrate to the Engineer that the Contractor understands the design concept, and to

demonstrate its understanding by indicating which equipment and material it intends to furnish and by detailing the fabrication methods it intends to use.

- 5.7.7 It is expressly understood, however, that favorable review of the Contractor's shop drawings shall not relieve the Contractor of any responsibility for accuracy of dimensions and details, or for mutual agreements of dimensions and details. It is mutually agreed that the Contractor shall be responsible for agreement and conformity of its shop drawings with the Specifications. Contractor further agrees that if deviations, discrepancies or conflicts between shop drawings and Specifications are discovered either prior to or after shop drawings are processed by the Engineer, the Specifications shall control and shall be followed.
- 5.7.8 Unless otherwise stated, the Engineer shall have 30 days from the date of receipt of shop drawings for review.
- 5.7.9 Full compensation for furnishing all shop drawings shall be considered as included in the prices paid for the Contract items of work to which such drawings relate and no additional compensation will be allowed therefor. Any cost related to the Engineer's review of any particular set of shop drawings more than twice, due to incompleteness or unacceptability, shall be borne by the Contractor, and the District reserves the right to withhold such costs from payments due the Contractor.

5.8 CONSTRUCTION STAKING AND SURVEYS

The Engineer will provide the Contractor with drawings showing benchmarks and reference points as it deems necessary to establish lines and grades required for the completion of the site work specified in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall make or furnish all surveys and set all construction stakes necessary for the completion of the work.

Stakes and marks set by the District or Engineer, if any, shall be carefully preserved by the Contractor. The Contractor shall be charged for the cost of replacing or restoring the stakes and marks that are destroyed or damaged by its operation. This charge will be deducted from any monies due or to become due to the Contractor under the Contract.

5.9 PERMITS AND REGULATIONS

- 5.9.1 Permits and licenses, of a temporary nature, necessary for the prosecution of the work shall be secured and paid for by the Contractor. Permits, licenses and easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities shall be secured and paid for by the District unless otherwise specified.
- 5.9.2 The Contractor shall give all notices and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations bearing on the conduct of the work as shown on the plans and described in the Specifications. The Contractor shall promptly notify the Engineer in writing of any specification at variance therewith and any necessary changes shall be adjusted as provided in the Contract for changes in the work. If the Contractor performs any work knowing it to be contrary to such laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and without such notice to the Engineer, it shall bear all costs arising therefrom.

5.10 CONFORMITY WITH CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

Work and materials shall conform to the lines, grades, cross sections, dimensions and material requirements, including tolerances, shown on Contract Documents. Although measurement, sampling, and testing may be considered evidence as to such conformity, the Engineer shall be the sole judge as to whether the work or materials deviate from the Specifications and plans, and his decision as to any allowable deviations therefrom shall be final and conclusive.

5.11 COORDINATION & INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- 5.11.1 The Contract Documents are complementary and a requirement occurring in one is as binding as though occurring in all.
- 5.11.2 In the event of conflict between the Plans and the Specifications, the Specifications shall govern, except that, where items are shown on the Plans and are not specifically included in the Specifications, the Plans shall govern.
- 5.11.3 Should it appear that the work to be done or any of the matters relative thereto are not sufficiently detailed or explained in the Specifications and Plans, the Contractor shall apply to the Engineer for such further explanations as may be necessary and shall conform to them as part of the Contract. In the event of any doubt or question arising respecting the true meaning of the Specifications and Plans, reference shall be made to the Engineer, whose decision thereon shall be final and conclusive.
- 5.11.4 In the event of any discrepancy between any Plans and the figures written thereon, the figures shall be taken as correct. Detailed drawings shall prevail over general drawings.
- 5.11.5 Any reference made in the Specifications or on the Plans to any specification, standard, method, or publication of any scientific or technical society or other organization shall, in the absence of a specific designation to the contrary, be understood to refer to the Specification, standard, method, or publication in effect as of the date that the work is advertised for Bids.

5.12 SUBCONTRACTS

- 5.12.1 The attention of the Contractor is directed to California Public Contract Code section 4100, et seq., regarding subcontracting and said provisions are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof.
- 5.12.2 Each subcontract shall contain a suitable provision for the suspension or termination thereof should the work be suspended or terminated or should the subcontractor neglect or fail to conform to every provision of the Contract Documents insofar as such provisions are relevant. No subcontractor or supplier will be recognized as such, and all persons engaged in work will be considered as employees of the Contractor, and the Contractor will be held responsible for their work, which shall be subject to the provisions of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall be fully responsible to the District for the acts or omissions of

its subcontractors and of the persons either directly or indirectly employed by them. Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship between any subcontractor and the District. If a legal action, including arbitration and litigation, against the District is initiated by a subcontractor or supplier, the Contractor shall reimburse the District for the amount of legal, engineering and all other expenses incurred by the District in defending itself in said action.

5.12.3 The District and the Engineer reserve the right to approve all subcontractors. Such approval shall be a consideration to the awarding of the Contract and unless notification to the contrary is given to the Contractor prior to the signing of the Contract, the list of subcontractors that is submitted with its proposal will be deemed to be acceptable.

5.13 COOPERATION OF CONTRACTORS

- 5.13.1 Should construction be under way by other forces or by other contractors within or adjacent to the limits of the work specified or should work of any other nature be under way by other forces within or adjacent to said limits, the Contractor shall cooperate with all such other contractors or other forces to the end that any delay or hindrance to their work will be avoided. The right is reserved by the District to perform other or additional work at or near the site (including material sources) at any time, by the use of other forces.
- 5.13.2 When two or more contractors are employed on related or adjacent work, each shall conduct its operation in such a manner as not to cause any unnecessary delay or hindrance to the other. Each contractor shall be responsible to the other for all damage to work, to persons or property caused to the other by its operations, and for loss caused the other due to its unnecessary delays or failure to finish the work within the time specified for completion.

5.14 SUPERINTENDENCE

- 5.14.1 The Contractor shall designate in writing before starting work an individual as authorized representative who shall have the authority to represent and act for the Contractor. This authorized representative shall be present at the site of the work at all times while work is actually in progress on the Contract. When work is not in progress and during periods when work is suspended, arrangements acceptable to the Engineer shall be made for any emergency work that may be required.
- 5.14.2 The Contractor is solely responsible, at all times, for the superintendence of the work and for its safety and progress.
- 5.14.3 Whenever the Contractor or its authorized representative is not present on any particular part of the work where it may be desired to give direction, orders will be given by the Engineer, which shall be received and obeyed by the superintendent or foreman who may have charge of the particular work in reference to which the orders are given.
- 5.14.4 Any order given by the Engineer, not otherwise required by the Contract Documents to be in writing, will on request of the Contractor, be given or confirmed by the Engineer in writing.

5.15 INSPECTION OF WORK

- 5.15.1 Unless otherwise provided, all equipment, materials, and work shall be subject to inspection and testing by the Engineer. The Engineer will observe the progress and quality of the work and determine, in general, if the work is proceeding in accordance with the intent of the Contract Documents. He shall not be required to make comprehensive or continuous inspections to check the quality of the work, and he shall not be responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the work. Visits and observations made by the Engineer shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligation to conduct comprehensive inspections of the work and to furnish proper materials, labor, equipment and tools, and perform acceptable work, and to provide adequate safety precautions, in conformance with the intent of the Contract.
- 5.15.2 Whenever the Contractor varies the period during which work is carried on each day, it shall give due notice to the Engineer so that proper inspection may be provided. Any work done in the absence of the Engineer shall be subject to rejection. Proper facilities for safe access for inspection to all parts of the work shall at all times be maintained for the necessary use of the Engineer and other agents of the District, and agents of the Federal, State, or local governments at all reasonable hours for inspection by such agencies to ascertain compliance with laws and regulations.
- 5.15.3 One or more inspectors may be assigned to observe the work and to act in matters of construction under this Contract. It is understood that inspectors shall have the power to issue instructions and make decisions within the limitations of the authority of the Engineer. Such inspection shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligation to conduct comprehensive inspections of the work, to furnish proper materials, labor, equipment and tools, and perform acceptable work, and to provide adequate safety precautions in conformance with the intent of the Contract.
- 5.15.4 The Engineer and his representatives shall at all times have access to the work wherever it is in preparation or progress; and the Contractor shall provide safe and convenient facilities for such access and for inspection. If the Specifications, the Engineer's instructions, laws, ordinances, or any public authority require any material, equipment or work to be specifically tested or approved, the Contractor shall give the Engineer timely notice of its readiness for inspection, and if the inspection is by an authority other than the District, of the time fixed for inspection. Inspections by the Engineer will be made promptly and, where practicable, at the source of supply.
- 5.15.5 Work performed without inspection may be required to be removed and replaced under proper inspection and the entire cost of removal and replacing, including the cost of District-furnished materials used in the work, shall be borne by the Contractor, regardless of whether or not the work exposed is found to be defective. Examination of questioned work, other than that installed without inspection, may be ordered by the Engineer and, if so ordered, the work must be uncovered by Contractor. If such work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents, the District will pay the cost of reexamination and replacement. If such work is found to be not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the

Contractor shall pay such cost unless it can show that the defect in the work was caused by another contractor, and in that event the District will pay such costs.

- 5.15.6 The inspection of the work shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligation to fulfill the Contract as herein prescribed, or in any way alter the standard of performance provided by the Contractor; and defective work shall be made good and unusable materials may be rejected, notwithstanding that such work and materials have been previously overlooked by the Engineer and accepted or estimated for payment. If the work or any part thereof shall be found defective, Contractor shall, within ten (10) calendar days, make good such defect in a manner satisfactory to the Engineer. If the Contractor shall fail or neglect to make ordered repairs of defective work or to remove the condemned materials from the work within ten (10) calendar days after direction by the Engineer in writing, the District may make the ordered repairs, or remove the condemned materials, and deduct the cost thereof from any monies due the Contractor.
- 5.15.7 The Contractor shall furnish promptly without additional charge all facilities, labor and materials reasonably needed by the Engineer for performing all inspection and tests. Contractor shall be charged with any additional cost of inspection when material and workmanship are not ready at the time specified by the Contractor for its inspection.
- 5.15.8 Where any part of the work is being done under an encroachment permit or building permit, or is subject to Federal, State, County or City codes, laws, ordinances, rules or regulations, representatives of the government agency shall have full access to the work and shall be allowed to make any inspection or tests in accordance with such permits, codes, laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations. If advance notice of the readiness of the work for inspection by the governing agency is required, the Contractor shall furnish such notice to the appropriate agency.
- 5.15.9 The Engineer may inspect the production of material, or the manufacture of products at the source of supply. Plant inspection, however, will not be undertaken until the Engineer is assured of the cooperation and assistance of both the Contractor and the material producer. The Engineer or his authorized representative shall have free entry at all times to such parts of the plant as concerns the manufacture or production of the materials. Adequate facilities shall be furnished free of charge to make the necessary inspection. The District assumes no obligation to inspect materials at the source of supply.

5.16 TESTS

The Contractor shall perform at its expense all tests specified or required by the Specifications. The Engineer will perform such tests as he deems necessary to determine the quality of work or compliance with Contract Documents. The Contractor shall furnish promptly without additional charge all facilities, labor, and material reasonably required for performing safe and convenient tests as may be required by the Engineer. All tests by the Engineer will be performed in such a manner as will not unnecessarily delay the work. The Contractor shall not be required to reimburse the District for tests performed by the District or Engineer. If samples of materials are submitted which fail to pass the specified tests, the Contractor shall pay for all subsequent tests.

5.17 REMOVAL OF REJECTED/UNAUTHORIZED WORK AND MATERIALS

- 5.17.1 All work or materials which have been rejected shall be remedied, or removed and replaced by the Contractor in an acceptable manner and no compensation will be allowed it for such removal, replacement, or remedial work.
- 5.17.2 Any work done beyond the lines and grades shown on the Plans or established by the Engineer or any extra work done without written authority will be considered as unauthorized work and will not be paid for. Upon order of the Engineer, unauthorized work shall be remedied, removed, or replaced at the Contractor's expense.
- 5.17.3 Upon failure of the Contractor to comply with any order of the Engineer made under this section, the District may cause rejected or unauthorized work to be remedied, removed, or replaced, and may deduct the costs therefor from any monies due or to become due the Contractor.

5.18 DEDUCTIONS FOR UNCORRECTED WORK.

If the Engineer deems it inexpedient to correct work damaged or not done in accordance with the Contract Documents, an equitable deduction from the Contract price shall be made therefor; and such sum may be withheld by the District from Contractor's payment.

5.19 EQUIPMENT AND PLANTS

- 5.19.1 Only equipment and plants suitable to produce the quality of work and materials required will be permitted to operate on the project.
- 5.19.2 Plants will be designed and constructed in accordance with general practice for such equipment and shall be of sufficient capacity to ensure the production of sufficient material to carry the work to completion within the time limit.
- 5.19.3 The Contractor shall provide adequate and suitable equipment and plants to meet the above requirements, and when ordered by the Engineer, shall remove unsuitable equipment from the work and discontinue the operation of unsatisfactory plants.
- 5.19.4 The Contractor shall identify each piece of its equipment, other than hand tools, by means of an identifying number plainly stenciled or stamped on the equipment at a conspicuous location, and shall furnish to the Engineer a list giving the description of each piece of equipment and its identifying number. In addition, the make, model number and empty gross weight of each unit of compacting equipment shall be plainly stamped or stenciled in a conspicuous place on the unit. The gross weight shall be either the manufacturer's rated weight or the scale weight.
- 5.19.5 In the case of termination of this Contract before completion from any cause whatever, the Contractor, if notified to do so by the District, shall promptly remove any part or all of its equipment and supplies from the property of the District. If the Contractor

fails to do so, the District shall have the right to remove such equipment and supplies at the expense of the Contractor.

5.20 CHARACTER OF WORKER

If any subcontractor or person employed by the Contractor or any subcontractor shall be incompetent or act in a disorderly or improper manner, that subcontractor or person shall be removed from the work immediately, and such subcontractor or person shall not again be employed on the work. Such discharge shall not be the basis for any claim for compensation or damages against the District, the Engineer or any of their officers, directors, employees or agents.

5.21 SEPARATE CONTRACTS

- 5.21.1 The District reserves the right to let other contracts in connection with this work. The Contractor shall afford other contractors reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of their materials and the execution of their work, and shall properly connect and coordinate its work with the other contractor's work.
- 5.21.2 If any part of the Contractor's work depends for proper execution or results upon the work of any other contractor, the Contractor shall inspect and promptly report to the Engineer any defects in such work that render it unsuitable for such proper execution and results. The Contractor's failure to inspect and report shall constitute an acceptance of the other contractor's work as fit and proper for the reception of the Contractor's work, except as to defects that may develop in the other contractor's work after the execution of its work. To ensure the proper execution of its subsequent work, the Contractor shall measure work already in place and shall at once report to the Engineer any discrepancy between the executed work and the drawings.

5.22 MATERIALS

- 5.22.1 Unless otherwise specifically stated in the Specifications, the Contractor shall furnish all materials necessary for the execution and completion of the work. Unless otherwise specified, all materials shall be new and shall be manufactured, handled, and installed in a workmanlike manner to insure completion of the work in accordance with the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall, upon request of the Engineer, furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials.
- 5.22.2 Where materials are to be furnished by the District, the type, size, quantity and location at which they are available will be stated in the Contract Documents.
- 5.22.3 Manufacturers' and suppliers' warranties, guarantees, operating manuals, instruction sheets and parts listed, which are furnished with certain articles or materials incorporated in the work, shall be delivered to the Engineer before final acceptance of the Contract work.

5.23 STORAGE OF MATERIALS; STORAGE AREAS

- 5.23.1 Articles or materials to be incorporated in the work shall be stored in such a manner as to ensure the preservation of their quality and fitness for the work, and to facilitate inspection.
- 5.23.2 The Contractor's work and storage areas are limited by the right-of-way lines as indicated on the Plans. The plant facilities are to be installed in property or easements owned by the District as shown on the Plans. The District shall be specifically exempted in any agreement from any liability incurred from the use of private property for construction purposes. The Contractor shall make arrangements and pay for property off-site as required for storage, offices, work assembly areas, etc. The Contractor shall take all responsibility for storage of materials. No equipment for incorporation in the project may be stored in an area subject to flooding.

5.24 TRADE NAMES AND ALTERNATIVES

For convenience in designation in the Specifications and Plans, certain articles or materials to be incorporated in the work may be designated under a trade name or the name of a manufacturer and its catalog information. The use of an alternative article or material that is of equal quality and of the required characteristics for the purpose intended will be permitted, subject to the following requirements:

- 5.24.1 The burden of proof as to the quality and suitability of alternatives shall be upon the Contractor and it shall furnish all information necessary as required by the Engineer. The Engineer shall be the sole judge as to the quality and suitability of alternative articles or materials and his decision shall be final.
- 5.24.2 Whenever the Specifications and Plans permit the substitution of a similar or equivalent material or article, no tests or action relating to the approval of such substitute material or article will be made until the request for substitution is made in writing by the Contractor accompanied by complete data as to the equality of the material or article proposed. Such request by the Contractor must be made within thirty-five (35) days after award of Contract.

5.25 CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE

- 5.25.1 A Certificate of Compliance shall be furnished prior to the use of any materials for which the Specifications require that such a certificate be furnished. In addition, when so authorized in the Specifications, the Engineer may permit the use of certain materials or assemblies prior to sampling and testing if accompanied by a Certificate of Compliance. The Certificate shall be signed by the manufacturer of the material or the manufacturer of assembled materials and shall state that the materials involved comply in all respects with the requirements of the Contract. A Certificate of Compliance shall be furnished with each lot of material delivered to the work and the lot so certified shall be clearly identified in the Certificate.
- 5.25.2 All materials used on the basis of a Certificate of Compliance may be sampled and tested at any time. The fact that material is used on the basis of a Certificate

of Compliance shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for incorporating material in the work which conforms to the requirements of the Contract Documents and any such material not conforming to such requirements will be subject to rejection whether in place or not.

- 5.25.3 The District reserves the right to refuse to permit the use of material on the basis of a Certificate of Compliance.
- 5.25.4 The form of the Certificate of Compliance and its disposition shall be as directed by the Engineer.

5.26 ASSIGNMENT

The Contractor shall not assign the Contract or sublet it as a whole or in part without the written consent of the District, nor shall the Contractor assign any monies due, or to become due to it hereafter, without the prior written consent of the District.

5.27 DISTRICT ENTRY ON WORK SITE; RIGHT TO OPERATE UNSATISFACTORY EQUIPMENT OR FACILITIES

- 5.27.1 The District may, at any time, and from time to time, during the performance of the work, enter the work site for the purpose of installing any necessary work by District labor or other contracts, and for any other purpose in connection with the installation of facilities. In doing so, the District shall endeavor not to interfere with the Contractor and the Contractor shall not interfere with other work being done by or on behalf of the District.
- 5.27.2 The District reserves the right, prior to completion and final acceptance, to occupy, or use, any completed part or parts of the work, providing these areas have been approved for occupancy by the District. The exercise of this right shall in no way constitute an acceptance of such parts, or any part of the work, nor shall it in any way affect the dates and times when progress payments shall become due from the District to the Contractor or in any way prejudice the District's rights in the Contract, or any bonds guaranteeing the same. The Contract shall be deemed completed only when all the work contracted has been duly and properly performed and accepted by the District.

Prior to such occupancy or use, the District and Contractor shall agree in writing regarding the responsibilities assigned to each of them for payments, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the work, insurance, the period for correction of the work, and the commencement of warranties required by the Contract Documents.

In exercising the right to occupy or use completed parts of the work prior to the completion thereof, the District shall not make any use which will materially increase the cost to the Contractor, without increasing the Contract Amount, nor materially delay the completion of the Contract, without extending the time for completion.

5.27.3 If, following installation of any equipment or facilities furnished by the Contractor, defects requiring correction by the Contractor are found, the District shall have the right to operate such unsatisfactory equipment or facilities and make reasonable use thereof

5-21

until the equipment or facilities can be shut down for correction of defects without injury to the District.

5.28 LANDS FOR WORK; RIGHTS OF WAY; CONSTRUCTION ROADS; TEMPORARY UTILITY SERVICES

- 5.28.1 The District will provide the lands, easements, rights of way, and/or encroachment permits necessary or other rights to enter and work on lands necessary for the performance of the work. Other permits and licenses are addressed by section 5.9. Should the Contractor find it advantageous to use any additional land for any purpose whatever, the Contractor shall provide for the use of such land at its expense. The Engineer shall be furnished with a copy of written agreements or otherwise be notified in writing of additional working space which is acquired. Nothing herein contained and nothing marked on the Plans shall be interpreted as giving the Contractor exclusive occupancy of the territory provided by the District. When two or more contracts are being executed at one time on the same or adjacent land in such a manner that work on one contract may interfere with that on another, the Engineer shall decide which contractor shall cease work, and which shall continue, or whether the work on both contracts shall progress at the same time and in what manner; and the decision of the Engineer shall be final and binding. When the territory of one contract is the necessary or convenient means of access for the performance of another contract, such privilege of access or any other reasonable privilege may be granted by the Engineer to the contractor so desiring, to the extent, amount, in the manner, and at the time permitted. No such decision as to the method or time of conducting the work or the use of territory shall be the basis of any claim for delay or damage.
- 5.28.2 Lands, easements or rights of way to be furnished by the District for construction operations will be specifically shown on the Plans.
- 5.28.3 The Contractor shall construct and maintain all roads necessary to reach the various parts of the work and for the transportation thereto of construction material and personnel. The cost of constructing and maintaining such roads shall be borne by the Contractor.
- 5.28.4 The Contractor shall make its own arrangements for any utility services it may require during the life of this project. The Contractor shall make its own arrangements for telephone service which it will require for its field office.

5.29 PROGRESS SCHEDULE

5.29.1 The Contractor shall submit within 10 days after Date of the Contract a schedule or schedules which shall show the dates at which the Contractor will start and complete the several parts of the work. This schedule shall conform to the completion time specified in the Contract. The Contractor shall review and, if necessary, revise the progress schedule at least once per month, and in any event shall submit a current schedule to the Engineer at his request at any time during the contract period.

The Contractor's timely submittal of complete and accurate initial and updated project schedules is a material requirement of this Contract, and Contractor's failure to comply with this

5-22

requirement would be a material breach of this Contract that could subject Contractor to all applicable penalties, up to and including termination.

- 5.29.2 The Engineer shall be advised in advance by the Contractor when any part of the work is scheduled and the days when no work will take place. If the Contractor fails to notify the Engineer in advance of the day or days when no work will be done, the Contractor will be charged the cost of inspection for that day or days and such charges may be deducted from any payment due the Contractor.
- 5.29.3 When, in the judgment of the Engineer, it is necessary to accelerate any part of the work ahead of schedule, the Contractor shall, when directed, concentrate its efforts on such part of the work.

5.30 COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK AND TIME OF COMPLETION; CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE; DELAYS

- 5.30.1 The Contractor shall commence the work covered by this Contract within fifteen (15) days after date of issuance of Notice to Proceed from the District to proceed with the work. Work will be considered to have commenced when the Contractor begins ordering materials and equipment or starts site work. The Contractor shall not commence work or incur any expenses in connection therewith, before it is notified to proceed with the work. Work on the total project shall be completed within 60 calendar days from the date of the Notice to Proceed. The time allowed for completion includes an allowance for working time lost due to normal inclement weather. A Pre-Construction conference will be scheduled by the Engineer prior to the Contractor starting work.
- 5.30.2 The Contractor shall give the Engineer written notice not less than two (2) working days in advance of the actual date on which the work will be started. The Contractor shall be entirely responsible for any delay in the work that may be caused by this failure to give such notice. The Engineer shall have the right to specify the locations where the Contractor shall start and proceed with the work.
- 5.30.3 The Contractor shall diligently pursue the work and complete the work as specified within the time limits as set forth in the Contract Documents.
- 5.30.4 When the Contractor foresees a delay in the prosecution of the work and, in any event, immediately upon the occurrence of a delay, the Contractor shall notify the Engineer in writing of the probability of the occurrence and the estimated extent of the delay, and its cause. The Contractor shall take immediate steps to prevent, if possible, the occurrence or continuance of the delay. The Contractor agrees that no claim shall be made for delays that are not called to the attention of the Engineer at the time of their occurrence.
- 5.30.5 Non-excusable delays in the prosecution of the work shall include delays which could have been avoided by the exercise of care, prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of the Contractor or its subcontractors, at any tier level, or suppliers.
- 5.30.6 Excusable delays in the prosecution or completion of the work shall include delays which result from causes beyond the control of the Contractor and District and

which could not have been avoided by the exercise of care, prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of the Contractor or its subcontractors, at any tier level, or suppliers.

5.30.7 Delays caused by acts of god, fire, unusual storms, floods, tidal waves, earthquakes, epidemics and pandemics, strikes, labor disputes, and freight embargoes, shall be considered as excusable delays insofar as they prevent the Contractor from proceeding with at least seventy-five (75) percent of the normal labor and equipment force for at least five (5) hours per day toward completion of the current critical activity item(s) on the latest favorably reviewed progress schedule. Such delays may entitle the Contractor to an adjustment in the Project schedule as its sole and exclusive remedy.

5.30.8 Should inclement weather conditions or the conditions resulting from weather prevent the Contractor from proceeding with seventy-five (75) percent of the normal labor and equipment force engaged in the current critical activity item for a period of at least five (5) hours per day toward completion of such operation or operations, and the crew is dismissed as a result thereof, it shall be a weather delay day.

5.30.9 Upon the submission of satisfactory proof to the Engineer by the Contractor, shortages of material may be acceptable as grounds for granting a time extension. In order that such proof may be satisfactory and acceptable to the Engineer, it must be demonstrated by the Contractor that the Contractor has made every effort to obtain such materials, or obtain acceptable substitute materials, from all known sources within reasonable reach of the proposed work. Only the physical shortage of material, caused by unusual circumstances, will be considered under these provisions as a cause for extension of time, and no consideration will be given to any claim that material could not be obtained at a reasonable, practical, or economical cost or price, unless it is shown to the satisfaction of the Engineer that such material could have been obtained only at exorbitant prices entirely out of line with current rates, taking into account the quantities involved and usual practices in obtaining such quantities. A time extension for shortage of material will not be considered for material ordered or delivered late or whose availability is affected by virtue of the mishandling of procurement. The above provisions apply equally to equipment to be installed in the work.

5.30.10 Compensable delays in the prosecution or completion of the work shall include delays that occur through no fault of the Contractor and prevent the Contractor from proceeding with at least seventy-five (75) percent of the normal labor and equipment force for at least five (5) hours per day toward completion of the current critical activity item(s) on the latest favorably reviewed progress schedule due one or more of the following cause(s):

- a. Delays due solely to the actions and/or inactions of the District.
- b. Delays due to differing site conditions as addressed in sections 5.3.14 and 5.45.7.5.
- c. Delays due to other Contractors employed by the District who interfere with the Contractor's prosecution of the work as defined above.

No delay shall be compensable unless the claimed event or occurrence delays completion of the work beyond the contractual completion date or the completion date shown in the accepted

initial or updated schedules, and the delay affects a critical activity while such activity is on the critical path.

5.30.11 Concurrent delays are those delay periods when the prosecution of the work is delayed during the same period of time due to causes from a combination of the delays defined in sections 5.30.5 (Non-excusable delays) 5.30.6 (Excusable delays) or 5.30.10 (Compensable delays) During such concurrent delay periods, time extensions will be granted in accordance with the sections below in this section 5.30; however, the Contractor shall not be compensated for its delay damages as defined in section 5.30.14, or for any other damages, and the District shall not assess its actual costs as defined in section 5.30.12 (non-excusable delays).

5.30.12 Non-excusable Delays - The District may in its sole discretion grant an extension of time for non-excusable delays if the District deems it is in its best interest. If the District grants an extension of time for non-excusable delays, the Contractor agrees to pay the District's actual costs, including charges for engineering, inspection and administration incurred during the extension.

5.30.13 Excusable or Compensable Delays - If the Contractor is delayed in the performance of its work as defined in section 5.30.6 (excusable delays), or section 5.30.10 (compensable delays), then the Contract completion date may be extended by the District for such time that, in the District's and Engineer's determination, the Contractor's completion date will be delayed, provided that the Contractor strictly fulfills the following:

- a. The Contractor shall provide notification, in accordance with section 5.30.4 and as otherwise provided by this Contract, and may submit in writing a request for an extension of time to the Engineer stating at a minimum the probable cause of the delay and the number of days being requested. Any Contractor time extension request shall be submitted as a change order request in accordance with the requirements of section 5.3.
- b. If requested by the Engineer, the Contractor shall promptly provide sufficient information to the Engineer to assess the cause or effect of the alleged delay, or to determine if other concurrent delays affected the work.
- c. Weather Delays. The Contractor will be granted a non-compensable time extension for weather caused delays, pursuant to section 5.30.8 (weather delays), over and above any allowance provided for in this Agreement for weather days or weather delays.

Should the Contractor fail to fulfill any of the foregoing, which are conditions precedent to the right to receive a time extension, the Contractor waives the right to receive a time extension.

During such extension of time, neither extra compensation for engineering, inspection and administration nor damages for delay will be charged to the Contractor. It is understood and agreed by the Contractor and District that time extensions due to excusable or compensable delays will be granted only if such delays involve controlling operations which would prevent completion of the whole work within the specified Contract time.

Should the Contractor fail to complete the work within the time specified in the Contract, as extended in accordance with this clause if appropriate, the Contractor shall pay to the District liquidated damages in accordance with section 5.34.

5.30.14 Delay Damages

5.30.14.1 Indirect Overhead - The Contractor shall be reimbursed for indirect overhead expenses for periods of time when the work is delayed as defined in section 5.30.10 (Compensable delays). However, no reimbursement for indirect overhead or any other costs or damages shall be made for compensable delays which occur during a concurrent delay as defined in section 5.30.11 (Concurrent delays). No reimbursement for indirect overhead as covered in this section shall be made for any time extensions granted for Contract change orders as provided in section 5.4. As a condition precedent to any reimbursement, the Contractor must fulfill all conditions as provided in section 5.30.13 (Excusable or Compensable delays). No additional markup for overhead or profit shall be provided for such indirect overhead expenses.

Payment to the Contractor for indirect overhead expenses will be made only if the extended Contract period granted for the compensable delay(s) is required to complete the work following the depletion of the original contract period and any time extensions granted other than compensable time extensions. Except as provided herein, the Contractor shall have no claim for damage or compensation for any delay including not limited to extended field costs, extended home office overhead costs, impact, inefficiency, unabsorbed home office overhead, underabsorbed home office overhead, hindrance, disruption, or any other damage arising from delay, no matter how characterized, including delay claims of its subcontractors/suppliers of every tier.

5.30.14.2 Indirect Field Overhead - For those allowable delay periods as defined in section 5.30.14.1 (Indirect Overhead), the Contractor shall be reimbursed for its indirect field overhead based on:

- a. Invoices for all field office equipment.
- b. Actual salary for field office staff.
- c. Fair rental values acceptable to the Engineer for construction equipment idled due to the delay.

5.30.14.3 Indirect Home Office Overhead - For those allowable delay periods as defined in section 5.30.14.1 (Indirect Overhead), the Contractor shall be reimbursed for its daily home office overhead based on the following formula:

Contract Bid Price (\$) \div Contract Period (Days) x (0.04) = Daily Home Office Overhead (\$/Day).

As it is impractical to determine the actual home office overhead, such reimbursement shall be mutually agreed between the District and Contractor to encompass full payment for any home office overhead expenses for such periods of time for the Contractor and all subcontractors. The Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the District harmless for any indirect overhead claims from its subcontractors.

5.31 SUSPENSION OF WORK

- 5.31.1 The Engineer may at any time, by notice in writing to the Contractor, suspend any part of the work for such period of time with or without cause, and the Contractor shall have no claim for damages or additional compensation on account of any such suspension.
- 5.31.2 Upon receipt of a written notice to suspend any portion of the work issued by the Engineer, the Contractor shall thereupon discontinue all work suspended except for all operations necessary to prevent loss or damage to work already executed as may be directed by the Engineer. In the event a part of the work is suspended, the Contractor, if the suspension is not through its fault or the fault of its subcontractors or agents, shall be paid in accordance with section 5.3.9 for costs of work performed in accordance with such orders of the Engineer during such suspension, provided that this shall not include any cost pertaining to work not suspended by the notice to suspend work. Work shall be resumed by the Contractor after such suspension on subsequent written notice to resume work from the District. In the event of suspension of the entire work by the District, the Contractor, if the suspension is not through the fault of the Contractor or the fault of its subcontractors or agents, shall be paid the sum of \$50 for each calendar day during which the entire work shall have been suspended. Said sum is hereby mutually agreed upon as fixed and liquidated damages in full settlement of all costs and expenses, losses and damages resulting to the Contractor from such suspension.
- 5.31.3 In the event of any suspension of the work in whole or in part under subsection 5.31.2, if the suspension is not through the fault of the Contractor or the fault of its subcontractors or agents, the Contractor shall be entitled to an extension of time wherein to complete the work to the extent of the delay caused the Contractor thereby. If no agreement can be reached as to the time for extension, the Contractor shall submit a claim to the District within fifteen (15) days of a notice from the District that no agreement can be reached. The claim shall be processed in accordance with section 5.4.
- 5.31.4 In the event the entire work shall be suspended by order of the District, and shall remain so suspended for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days, through no fault of the Contractor or its subcontractors or agents, and notice to resume the work shall not have been served on the Contractor, Contractor may, at its option, by written notice to the District, terminate the Contract in the same manner and on the same terms as if the termination had been initiated by the District pursuant to section 5.32, and the District shall have no claim for damages because of such termination of the Contract.

5.32 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT; DAMAGES FOR DELAY; TIMELY EXTENSION

5.32.1 Subject to prior notice from the District and the Contractor's cure rights set forth in this section, the District will have the right to terminate the Contract for cause and/or the Contractor's right to proceed with the work upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- a. Contractor becomes insolvent or files for relief under the bankruptcy laws of the United States.
- b. Contractor makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or fails to pay its debts as the same become due.
- c. A receiver is appointed to take charge of Contractor's property.
- d. The work is not completed within the applicable Contract time, as such Contract time may be adjusted in accordance with this Contract, and Contractor is not diligently prosecuting the completion or correction of the work.
- e. Contractor persistently or repeatedly refuses or fails to supply skilled supervisory personnel, an adequate number of properly skilled workers, proper materials, or necessary equipment to prosecute the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- f. Contractor fails to make prompt payment of amounts properly due subcontractors after receiving payment from District.
- g. Contractor disregards applicable laws, regulations or other governmental requirements.
- h. Contractor persistently or materially fails to execute the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- i. Contractor persistently or materially fails to comply with applicable safety requirements.
- j. Contractor abandons the work.
- k. Contractor is in default of any other material obligation under the Contract Documents.
- 5.32.2 Upon the occurrence of any of the preceding events, District will have the right to terminate the Contract for cause and/or the Contractor's right to proceed with the work if Contractor fails to promptly commence to cure such default and diligently prosecutes such cure within 5 days after notice from District, or within such longer period of time as is reasonably necessary to complete such cure.
- 5.32.3 The rights and remedies of the District provided in this section are in addition to any of the rights and remedies provided by law or under this Contract.
- 5.32.4 In addition to the District's rights under this section, if at any time before completion of the work under the Contract, it shall be determined by the District that it is advisable for it, for whatever reason, to terminate the work, it may do so upon ten (10) days written notice to the Contractor. Upon service of such notice of termination, the Contractor shall discontinue the work in such manner, sequence, and at such times as the Engineer may direct. The

Contractor shall have no claim for damages for such discontinuance or termination, nor any claim for anticipated profits on the work thus dispensed with or uncompleted, nor any other claim except for the work actually performed up to the time of termination, including any extra work ordered by the Engineer to be done, nor for any claim for liquidated damages in accordance with the provisions of section 5.31.

5.32.5 Upon receipt of notice of termination of the Contract and/or the Contractor's right to proceed with the work under this section 5.32, the Contractor shall, unless the notice directs otherwise, do the following:

- a. Immediately discontinue the work to the extent specified in the notice.
- b. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, equipment, services, or facilities, except as may be necessary for completion of such portion of the work as is not discontinued.
- c. Promptly cancel, on the most favorable terms reasonably possible, all orders and subcontracts to the extent they relate to the performance of the discontinued portion of the work.
- d. Thereafter do only such work as may be necessary to preserve and protect work already in progress and to protect materials, plants, and equipment on the project site or in transit thereto.

Upon termination of the Contract, the obligations of the Contract shall continue as to portions of the work already performed and, subject to the Contractor's obligations under this section 5.32, as to bona fide obligations assumed by the Contractor prior to the date of termination.

Upon termination of the Contract or the Contractor's right to proceed with the work, the District shall pay to the Contractor the sum of the following:

- a. The amount of the Contract price allocable to the portion of the work properly performed by the Contractor as of the date of termination, less sums previously paid to the Contractor.
- b. Plus previously unpaid costs of any items delivered to the project site that were fabricated for subsequent incorporation into the work.
- c. Plus any proven losses with respect to materials and equipment directly resulting from such termination.
- d. Plus reasonable demobilization costs.
- e. Plus reasonable costs of preparing a statement of the aforesaid costs, expenses, and losses in connection with such termination.

The above payment shall be the sole and exclusive remedy to which the Contractor is entitled in the event of termination of the Contract by the District and/or the Contractor's right to

proceed with the work pursuant to this section 5.32; and the Contractor will be entitled to no other compensation or damages and expressly waives same. The District shall have the right to subtract from the above payment such sums as may be deducted consistent with the terms of the Contract Documents.

5.33 RIGHTS OF DISTRICT UPON TERMINATION

5.33.1 In the event the right of the Contractor to proceed with the work, or any portion thereof, has been terminated because of the fault of the Contractor and the Contractor has been given five (5) days' notice to cure such fault and has not done so, the District may take over the work and prosecute the same to completion by contract or any other method the District deems expedient, and may take possession of and utilize in completing the work such materials, appliances, equipment and plant as may be on the site of the work and necessary therefor. Whether or not the Contractor's right to proceed with the work is terminated, it and its sureties shall be liable for all damages, including but not limited to, costs of managerial and administrative services, engineering, legal and other consultant fees, sustained or incurred by the District in enforcing the provisions of section 5.32 and in completing or causing to complete the Contract work.

5.33.2 Upon termination, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the work is finished. If upon completion of the work the total cost to the District, including, but not limited to, engineering, legal and other consultant fees, costs of managerial and administrative services, construction costs and liquidated damages, shall be less than the amount which would have been paid if the work had been completed by the Contractor in accordance with the terms of the Contract, then the difference shall be paid to the Contractor in the same manner as the final payment under the Contract. If the total cost incurred by the District on account of termination of the Contractor and subsequent completion of the work by the District by whatever method the District may deem expedient shall exceed said amount which the Contractor would otherwise have been paid, the Contractor and its sureties shall be liable to the District for the full amount of such excess expense.

5.33.3 The rights and remedies of the District provided in this section are in addition to any of the rights and remedies provided by law or under this Contract.

5.34 FAILURE TO COMPLETE THE WORK IN THE TIME AGREED UPON; LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

5.34.1 It is agreed by the parties to the Contract that time is of the essence; and that in case all the work is not completed before or upon the expiration of the time limit as set in the Bid, Contract and/or Progress Schedule as designated by the District (Generally the date of final completion), or as revised by any time extensions that may have been granted, damage will be sustained by the District; and that it may be impracticable to determine the actual amount of damage by reason of such delay; and it is, therefore, agreed that the Contractor shall pay to the District as damages the amount of \$1,000 per day for each and every calendar day's delay in finishing the work in excess of the number of days specified. The parties expressly agree that this liquidated damage clause is reasonable under the circumstances existing at the time the

Contract was made. The District shall have the right to deduct the amount of liquidated damages from any money due or to become due to the Contractor.

5.34.2 Notwithstanding the above, the parties expressly agree that the liquidated damages specified above do not include the District's legal, engineering, inspection, superintendence and other similar expenses. Accordingly, the District shall have the right to charge to the Contractor and to deduct from the final or progress payments for the work the actual cost to the District of legal, engineering, inspection, superintendence, loss of revenue due to water delivery interruptions, and other expenses, which are directly chargeable to the Contract and which accrue during the period of such delay, except that the cost of final inspection and preparation of the final estimate shall not be included in the charges.

5.34.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of section 5.34.1, the Contractor shall not be liable for liquidated damages or delays caused by the removal or relocation of utilities when such removal or relocation is the responsibility of the District or the owner of the utility under California Government Code section 4215.

5.35 CLEAN UP

5.35.1 During the progress of the work, the Contractor shall maintain the site and related structures and equipment in a clean, orderly condition and free from unsightly accumulation of rubbish. Upon completion of work and before the final estimate is submitted, the Contractor shall at its own cost and expense remove from the vicinity of the work all plants, buildings, rubbish, unused work materials, concrete forms, and temporary bridging and other like materials, belonging to it or used under its direction during the construction; and in the event of its failure to do so, the same may be removed by the District after ten (10) calendar days' notice to the Contractor, such removal to be at the expense of the Contractor. Where the construction has crossed yards or driveways, they shall be restored by the Contractor to the complete satisfaction of the Engineer, at the Contractor's expense.

5.35.2 The Contractor shall dispose of all testing or disinfection water without damage to property, and all in accordance with applicable regulations. All chlorinated water shall be dechlorinated prior to discharge.

5.36 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS; PERMITS; TAXES

Contractor is an independent contractor and shall at its sole cost and expense do the following: comply with all laws, rules, ordinances and regulations of all federal, state and local agencies having jurisdiction over the work; procure all permits and licenses, pay all charges and fees, and give all notices necessary and incident to the lawful prosecution of the work; pay all federal, state and local taxes, including manufacturers' taxes, sales taxes, use taxes, processing taxes, and payroll, wage, insurance, social security, and unemployment taxes on wages, salaries or any remuneration paid to Contractor's employees, whether levied under existing or subsequently enacted laws, rules or regulations; and pay all property tax assessments on materials or equipment used until acceptance by the District. If any discrepancy or inconsistency is discovered in the Plans or Specifications, or in this Contract in relation to any such law, rule, ordinance, regulation, order or decree, the Contractor shall forthwith report the same to the Engineer in writing. The

Contractor shall also protect, defend, hold harmless and indemnify the District, the Engineer, and all of the District's officers, directors, agents, and employees against any claim or liability arising from or based upon the violation of any such law, rule, ordinance, regulation, order or decree, whether by the Contractor itself or by its employees. Particular attention is called to the following:

5.36.1 Contractor is responsible for the safety of its workers and Contractor shall comply with, and require its workers to comply with, all applicable federal and state worker and job site safety-related laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, applicable federal Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA") regulations and California Department of Industrial Relations (including the Division of Occupational Safety and Health and Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board ("Cal/OSHA")) regulations and safety orders.

5.36.2 The Contractor, upon request, shall furnish evidence satisfactory to the District and Engineer that any or all of the foregoing obligations have been or are being fulfilled. The Contractor warrants to the District that it is licensed by all applicable federal, state and local governmental bodies to perform this Contract and will remain so licensed throughout the progress of the work, and that it has, and will have, throughout the progress of the work, the necessary experience, skill and financial resources to enable it to perform this Contract.

5.36.3 The Contractor shall comply in all respects with the requirements of AB 5 (Labor Code sections 2750.3 and 3351 and Unemployment Insurance Code sections 606.5 and 621), and is solely responsible for such compliance and the costs thereof. The Contractor shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Agency against any claims, demands or damages of any workers or entity arising out of Contractor's failure to comply in all respects with the requirements of AB 5.

5.37 PREVAILING WAGE PENALTIES; WAGE CLAIMS PROHIBITED

5.37.1 The Contractor shall forfeit as penalty to the District not more than the sum of two hundred dollars (\$200) and not less than forty dollars (\$40) for each calendar day or portion thereof for each worker (whether employed by the Contractor or subcontractor) paid less than the stipulated prevailing rates for any work done under the Contract in violation of the provisions of the California Labor Code and in particular, sections 1772 to 1780. The amount of this penalty shall be determined by the Labor Commissioner and shall be based on consideration of the contractor's mistake, inadvertence, or neglect in failing to pay the correct rate of prevailing wages, the previous record of the contractor in meeting its prevailing wage obligations, and a contractor's willful failure to pay the correct rates of prevailing wages. A mistake, inadvertence, or neglect in failing to pay the correct rate of prevailing wages is not excusable if the contractor had knowledge of its obligations under Labor Code sections 1720, et seq. In addition to the aforementioned penalty, each worker shall be paid the difference between the prevailing wage rate and the amount paid to each worker for each calendar day or portion thereof for which said worker was paid less than the prevailing wage.

5.37.2 The District will not recognize any claims for additional compensation because of the payment of the wages set forth in the Contract Documents. The possibility of wage increases is one of the elements to be considered by the Contractor in determining its Bid, and will not under any circumstances be considered as the basis of a claim against the District or the Engineer.

5.38 LABOR DISCRIMINATION

Attention is directed to California Labor Code section 1735 which is applicable to the work under this Contract and which reads as follows: "A contractor shall not discriminate in the employment of persons upon public works on any basis listed in subdivision (a) of section 12940 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in sections 12926 and 12926.1 of the Government Code, except as otherwise provided in section 12940 of the Government Code. Every contractor for public works who violates this section is subject to all the penalties imposed for a violation of this chapter."

5.39 EIGHT HOUR DAY LIMITATION; CERTIFIED PAYROLL REPORTS

5.39.1 In accordance with the provisions of the California Labor Code, and in particular, sections 1810 to 1815, eight hours labor shall constitute a day's work, and no worker, in the employ of the Contractor, or any subcontractor, doing or contracting to do any part of the work contemplated by this Contract, shall be required or permitted to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day and forty (40) hours in any one calendar week in violation of those provisions; provided that subject to Labor Code section 1815, a worker may perform work in excess of either eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours during any one week upon compensation for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours during any one week at not less than one and one half times the basic rate of pay. Except as just provided, the Contractor shall forfeit as a penalty to the District the sum of twenty-five dollars (\$25) for each worker employed in the performance of this Contract by it or by any subcontractor under it for each calendar day during which such worker is required or permitted to labor more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day and forty (40) hours in any one calendar week in violation of sections 1810 through 1815.

5.39.2 The Contractor shall comply in all respects with the provisions of Labor Code section 1776, whose provisions are incorporated herein by this reference. In accordance with section 1776, the Contractor and each subcontractor shall keep an accurate record showing the names, addresses, social security numbers, work classifications, and straight time and overtime hours worked each day and week, and the actual per diem wages paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by it in connection with the work specified therein, which record shall be open at all reasonable hours at the principal office of the Contractor to the inspection of the District, State and Federal officers and agents. Certified copies of the payroll records shall be furnished or made available for inspection to others as provided in section 1776. These payroll records shall be certified and shall be on forms provided by the State Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, or shall contain the same information as the forms provided by the Division. The Contractor shall file a certified copy of the payroll records with the entity that requested the records within 10 days after receipt of a written request. Any copy of

records made available for inspection as copies and furnished upon request to the public or any public agency by the District, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall be marked or obliterated in a manner so as to prevent disclosure of an individual's name, address, and social security number. The name and address of the Contractor shall not be marked or obliterated. The Contractor shall inform the District of the location of the payroll records, including the street address, city and county, and shall, within five working days, provide a notice of a change of location and address. The Contractor shall have 10 days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of written notice specifying in what respects the Contractor must comply with this section. In the event that the Contractor fails to comply with the 10-day period, he or she shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit one hundred dollars (\$100) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker, until strict compliance is effectuated. Upon the request of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, these penalties shall be withheld from progress payments then due.

5.40 EMPLOYMENT OF APPRENTICES

The Contractor's attention is directed to California Labor Code sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 pertaining to employment of indentured apprentices, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this Contract. As applicable, the Contractor or any subcontractor employed by it in the performance of the Contract work shall take such actions as necessary to comply with the provisions of sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7.

5.41 WATER POLLUTION

5.41.1 The Contractor shall exercise every reasonable precaution to protect streams, lakes, reservoirs, and canals from pollution with fuels, oils, bitumens, calcium chloride, and other harmful materials and shall conduct and schedule its operations so as to avoid or minimize muddying and silting of said streams, lakes, reservoirs, and canals. Care shall be exercised to preserve vegetation beyond the limits of construction. The Contractor shall comply with California Fish and Game Code section 5650 and all other applicable statutes and regulations relating to the prevention and abatement of water pollution.

5.41.2 Not Used

5.42 PATENTS

The Contractor shall assume all costs arising from the use of patented materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated into the work, and agrees to indemnify, defend, protect and save harmless the District, the Engineer, and all of their officers, directors, employees, and other representatives, from all suits at law, or actions of every nature for, or on account of, the use of any patented materials, equipment, devices, or processes.

5.43 PUBLIC CONVENIENCE

5.43.1 This section defines the Contractor's responsibility with regard to convenience of the public and public traffic in connection with its operations.

- 5.43.2 The Contractor shall conduct its operations as to offer the least possible obstruction and inconvenience to the public; and it shall have under construction no greater length or amount of work than it can prosecute properly with due regard to the rights of the public.
- 5.43.3 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, all public traffic shall be permitted to pass through the work with as little inconvenience and delay as possible.
- 5.43.4 Spillage resulting from hauling operations along or across any publicly traveled way shall be removed immediately by the Contractor at its expense.
- 5.43.5 Construction operations shall be conducted in such a manner as to cause as little inconvenience as possible to abutting property owners.
- 5.43.6 Convenient access to driveways, houses and buildings along the line of the work shall be maintained and temporary approaches to crossings or intersecting highways shall be provided and kept in good condition. When the abutting property owner's access across the right of way line is to be eliminated, or to be replaced under the Contract by other access facilities, the existing access shall not be closed until the replacement access facilities are usable.
- 5.43.7 Water shall be supplied at Contractor's expense if ordered by the Engineer for the alleviation or prevention of dust nuisance as provided in the Contract Documents.
- 5.43.8 In order to expedite the passage of public traffic through or around the work, the Contractor shall install signs, lights, flares, barricades, and other facilities for the sole convenience and direction of public traffic. Also, the Contractor shall provide and station competent flagpersons whose sole duties shall consist of directing the movement of public traffic through or around the work. The cost of furnishing and installing such signs, lights, flares, barricades, and other facilities, and the cost of providing and stationing such flagpersons, all for the convenience and direction of public traffic, will be considered as included in the Contract price and no additional compensation will be allowed.
- 5.43.9 Flagpersons and guards, while assigned to traffic control, shall perform their duties and shall be provided with the necessary equipment in accordance with the current "Instructions to Flagmen" of the California Department of Transportation. The equipment shall be furnished and kept clean and in good repair by the Contractor at its expense.

5.44 UNDERGROUND UTILITIES

Prior to conducting any excavation, the Contractor shall contact the appropriate regional notification center as required by and shall otherwise comply with California Government Code section 4216, et seq. In accordance with Government Code section 4215, the Contractor shall be compensated for the costs of locating, repairing damage not due to the failure of the Contractor to exercise reasonable care, and removing or relocating existing main or trunkline utility facilities not indicated in the Contract Plans and Specifications with reasonable accuracy, and for the equipment on the project necessarily idled during such work; provided that the Contractor shall

first notify the Engineer before commencing work on locating, repairing damage to, removing or relocating such utilities.

5.45 SAFETY AND TRENCHING

- 5.45.1 The Contractor shall be solely and completely responsible for the conditions of the job site, including safety of all persons and property during performance of the work. This requirement shall apply continuously and not be limited to normal working hours. Safety procedures and practices shall conform to all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, ordinances, and codes, and to the rules and regulations established by OSHA and Cal/OSHA, and to other rules of law applicable to the work. Any District obligations relating to safety of the work are separate from and do not alter the Contractor's primary responsibility for safety as provided in this Contract.
- 5.45.2 The Contractor shall have an Injury/Illness Prevention Program ("IIPP") in place to protect the safety of its employees and ensure that its subcontractors also have an IIPP or comply with Contractor's program. The Contractor's IIPP shall comply with and be at least as effective as the requirements of section 3203 of Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations. Upon request, the Contractor will submit a copy of its IIPP to the District.
- 5.45.3 The services of the Engineer in conducting construction review of the Contractor's performance is not intended to include review of the adequacy of the Contractor's work methods, equipment, bracing or scaffolding or safety measures, in, on, or near the construction site, and shall not be construed as supervision of the actual construction nor make the Engineer or the District responsible for providing a safe place for the performance of work by the Contractor, subcontractors, or suppliers; or for access, visits, use work, travel or occupancy by any person.
- 5.45.4 All work and materials shall be in strict accordance with all applicable State, Federal and local laws, rules, regulations, and codes. The Contractor shall carefully instruct all personnel working in potentially hazardous work areas as to potential dangers and shall provide such necessary safety equipment and instruction as is necessary to prevent injury to personnel and damage to property. Special care shall be exercised relative to electrical work, work involving excavation and in pump sump work.
- 5.45.5 Nothing in this Contract is to be construed to permit work not conforming to governing law. When Contract Documents differ from governing law, the Contractor shall furnish and install the higher standards called for without extra charge. All equipment furnished shall be grounded and provided with guards and protection as required by applicable federal and state safety regulations and orders.
- 5.45.6 Shoring and Trench Safety Plan Attention is directed to California Civil Code section 832 relating to lateral and subjacent support, and the Contractor shall comply with this law.
- 5.45.7 In accordance with California Labor Code section 6705, if the total amount of the contract is in excess of \$25,000 and if the work involves the excavation of any trench or trenches five feet or more in depth, the Contractor shall submit to the District for

acceptance, in advance of excavation, a detailed plan showing the design of shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of caving ground during the excavation of any such trench or trenches.

5.45.7.1 In accordance with California Labor Code section 6705, if the total amount of the contract is in excess of \$25,000 and if the work involves then excavation of any trench or trenches five feet or more in depth, the Contractor shall submit to the District for acceptance, in advance of excavation, a detailed plan showing the design of shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of caving ground during the excavation of any such trench or trenches.

5.45.7.2 The District or the Engineer or their consultants may have made investigations of subsurface conditions in areas where the work is to be performed. If so, these investigations are identified in the Contract Documents and the records of such investigations are available for inspection at the office of the Engineer. The detailed plan showing the design of shoring, etc., which the Contractor is required to submit to the District for acceptance of excavation will be not accepted by the District if the plan is based on subsurface conditions which are more favorable than those revealed by the investigations made by the District or the Engineer or their consultants; nor will the plan be accepted if it is based on soils-related criteria which is less restrictive than the criteria set forth in the report on the aforesaid investigations of subsurface conditions.

5.45.7.3 The detailed plan showing the design of shoring, etc., shall include surcharge loads for nearby embankments and structures, for spoil banks, and for construction equipment and other construction loadings. The plan shall indicate for all trench conditions the minimum horizontal distances from the side of the trench at its top to the near side of the surcharge loads.

5.45.7.4 Nothing contained in this section shall be construed as relieving the Contractor of the full responsibility for providing shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions which are adequate for worker protection. Review of the plan by the District and/or Engineer is only for general conformance to OSHA and Cal/OSHA requirements. Their failure to note exception(s) to the submittal does not relieve Contractor of any responsibility or liability for the plan. Contractor remains solely and completely responsible for all trench safety and for the means, methods, procedures, and materials therefor.

5.45.7.5 In accordance with California Public Contract Code section 7104, in the event that the work involves digging trenches or other excavations that extend deeper than four (4) feet below the surface, the Contractor shall promptly, and before the following conditions are disturbed, notify the District in writing, of any:

a. Material that the Contractor believes may be material that is hazardous waste, as defined in section 25117 of the Health and Safety Code, that is required to be removed to a Class I, Class II, or Class III disposal site in accordance with provisions of existing law;

- b. Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the site differing from those indicated by information about the site made available to bidders prior to the deadline for submitting bids; or,
- c. Unknown physical conditions at the site of any unusual nature, different materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract.

The District shall promptly investigate the conditions reported by the Contractor, and if it finds that the conditions do materially so differ, or do involve hazardous waste, and cause a decrease or increase in the Contractor's cost of, or the time required for, performance of any part of the work shall issue a change order under the procedures described in the Contract. In the event that a dispute arises between the District and the Contractor about whether the conditions materially differ, or involve hazardous waste, or cause a decrease or increase in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the work, the Contractor shall not be excused from any scheduled completion date provided for by the Contract, but shall proceed with all work to be performed under the Contract. The Contractor shall retain any and all rights provided either by Contract or by law which pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests between the contracting parties.

5.46 PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY

5.46.1 The Contractor shall take whatever precautions are necessary to prevent damage to all existing improvements, including above ground and underground utilities, trees, shrubbery that is not specifically shown to be removed, fences, signs, mailboxes, survey markers and monuments, buildings, structures, the District's property, adjacent property, and any other improvements or facilities within or adjacent to the work. If such improvements or property are injured or damaged by reason of the Contractor's operations, they shall be replaced or restored, at the Contractor's expense, to a condition at least as good as the condition they were in prior to the start of the Contractor's operations.

5.46.2 The Contractor shall adopt all practical means to minimize interference to traffic and public inconvenience, discomfort or damage. The Contractor shall protect against injury to any pipes, conduits or other structures crossing the trenching or encountered in the work and shall be responsible for any injury done to such pipes or structures, or damage to property resulting therefrom. The Contractor shall support or replace any such structures without delay and without any additional compensation to the entire satisfaction of the Engineer. All obstructions to traffic shall be guarded by barriers illuminated at night. The Contractor shall be responsible for all damage to persons and property directly or indirectly caused by its operations and, under all circumstances, it must comply with the laws and regulations of the County and the State of California relative to safety of persons and property and the interruption of traffic and the convenience of the public within the respective jurisdictions.

5.46.3 The Contractor is cautioned that it must replace all improvements in rights of way and within the public streets to a condition equal to what existed prior to its entry onto the job.

5-38

5.46.4 Type and time of construction required at any road subject to interference by Contract work will be determined by those authorities responsible for maintenance of said road. It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to determine the nature and extent of all such requirements, including provision of temporary detours as required; however, any construction right of way obtained by the District at affected roadways will be adequate for provision of all required detours. As required at any road crossing, the Contractor shall provide all necessary flagpersons, guardrails, barricades, signals, warning signs and lighting to provide for the safety of existing roads and detours. Immediately after the need for temporary detours ceases, or when directed, the Contractor shall remove such detours and perform all necessary cleanup work, including replacement of fences, and removal of pavement. Included shall be all necessary replacement of existing roadway appurtenances, grading work, soil stabilization and dust control measures, as required and directed. The cost of all work specified under this section shall be borne by the Contractor.

5.46.5 The Contractor shall examine all bridges, culverts, and other structures over which it will move its materials and equipment, and before using them, it shall properly strengthen such structures as necessary for their safe operation and use. The Contractor shall be responsible for any and all injury or damage to such structures caused by reason of its operations.

5.47 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS; HAZARD COMMUNICATION

5.47.1 Proposition 65 and the California Health and Safety Code requires businesses to provide warnings prior to exposing individuals to materials listed by the Governor as chemicals "known to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity." The District may use chemicals on the Governor's list at many of its facilities. In addition, many of these chemicals are present at non-District-owned facilities and locations. Accordingly, in performing the work or services contemplated under this Contract, Contractor, its employees, agents, and subcontractors may be exposed to chemicals on the Governor's list. Except as provided in section 5.47.2, Contractor is responsible for notifying its employees, agents, and subcontractors that work performed hereunder may result in exposures to chemicals on the Governor's list.

5.47.2 Before starting work, the Contractor shall have a written Hazard Communication Program ("HCP") in place that complies with the requirements of section 5194 of Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations, including the requirements of 8 C.C.R. section 5194(e). The information in the Contractor's HCP must include the methods by which the Contractor will communicate to the District which hazardous substances it will use and store on the job site(s) to which the District's and Contractor's employees and subcontractors may be exposed. The Contractor will submit its HCP to the District at the same time as submittal of its initial project schedules as provided in section 5.29 of these General Conditions. The Contractor also will provide copies of safety data sheets ("SDS") for all hazardous substances brought onto and used or stored on the job site(s). The Contractor also will ensure that all hazardous substances are marked with Proposition 65 and any other visible warning labels as required by law. Whenever possible, the Contract shall provide SDS for all hazardous substances to the District prior to bringing a hazardous substance onto a job site, but will provide all SDS by no later than the time the hazardous substance is physically brought onto the site. The District will communicate the Contractor's HCP and SDS information to the District's employees who work on or will enter the

job site(s). The District will provide the Contractor with a copy of the District's HCP and SDS information specific to District operations on the job site(s). The Contractor shall, in turn, convey this information to its employees and subcontractors. During the course of the work, the Contractor will keep copies of both its and the District's HCP, SDS and other relevant information at Contractor's office on the job site(s).

5.47.3 If the Work includes the construction, alteration, improvement, or maintenance of electric power generation, control, transformation, transmission or distribution lines or equipment within the meaning of Code of Federal Regulations title 29, section 1910.269 or 1926.950, then the Contractor will implement and comply with the requirements of the "contract employer" as described and set forth in sections 1910.269 and 1926.950, including, but not limited to, the obligations to properly train the Contractor workers on safety-related work practices and procedures, exchange information with the District concerning unique hazardous conditions presented by the Work, instruct the Contractor workers about the hazardous conditions relevant to the Work, and coordinate with the District on safety-related work rules and procedures. The Contractor also shall be responsible for transmitting safety-related information under sections 1910.269 and 1926.950 with any subcontractors retained by it to perform electrical-related Work under the Contract.

5.48 RESPONSIBILITY FOR REPAIR OF FACILITIES

All public or private facilities, including but not limited to canals, structures, telephone cables, roadways, curbs, gutters, parking lots, private drives, levees and embankments for creeks, ponds and reservoirs disturbed during construction of the work shall be repaired and/or replaced by the Contractor to match facilities existing prior to construction. In addition, the Contractor shall be responsible for any settlement damage to such facilities or adjoining areas for a period of one year after acceptance of such required facilities.

5.49 DISTRICT'S REPAIR

In the event the Contractor refuses or neglects to make good any loss or damage for which it is responsible under this Contract, the District may itself, or by the employment of others, make good any such loss or damage, and the cost and expense of doing so, including any reasonable engineering, legal and other consultant fees, and any costs of administrative and managerial services, shall be charged to the Contractor. Such costs and expenses may be deducted by the District from claims for payment made by the Contractor for work completed or remaining to be completed.

5.50 CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NOTICE

STATEMENT REQUIRED BY CALIFORNIA BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE SECTION 7030: "CONTRACTORS ARE REQUIRED BY LAW TO BE LICENSED AND REGULATED BY THE CONTRACTORS STATE LICENSE BOARD WHICH HAS JURISDICTION TO INVESTIGATE COMPLAINTS AGAINST CONTRACTORS IF A COMPLAINT REGARDING A PATENT ACT OR OMISSION IS FILED WITHIN FOUR YEARS OF THE DATE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION. A COMPLAINT REGARDING A

LATENT ACT OR OMISSION PERTAINING TO STRUCTURAL DEFECTS MUST BE FILED WITHIN 10 YEARS OF THE DATE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION. ANY QUESTIONS CONCERNING A CONTRACTOR MAY BE REFERRED TO THE REGISTRAR, CONTRACTORS STATE LICENSE BOARD, P.O. BOX 26000, SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 95826."

5.51 PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION

In accordance with California Labor Code Section 1771.1(a), a contractor or subcontractor shall not be qualified to bid on, be listed in a bid proposal, subject to the requirements of Section 4104 of the Public Contract Code, or engage in the performance of any contract for public work, as defined in this Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1 of the Labor Code (commencing with Section 1720), unless currently registered and qualified to perform public work pursuant to Section 1725.5 of the Labor Code. In accordance with Labor Code section 1771.4(a)(1), this project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial Relations.

5.52 INSURANCE

5.52.1 The Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Contract, and for five years thereafter, the following insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors.

5.52.1.1 General Liability - Commercial General Liability (CGL) - Insurance Services Office (ISO) Commercial General Liability Coverage (Occurrence Form CG 00 01) including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury, personal and advertising injury with limit of at least five million dollars (\$5,000,000) per occurrence or the full per occurrence limits of the policies available, whichever is greater. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location (coverage as broad as the ISO CG 25 03, or ISO CG 25 04 endorsement provided to District) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.

District, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers are to be given insured status (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not available, through the addition of both CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01, with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Contractor's insurance.

5.52.1.2 Automobile Liability - Insurance Services Office (ISO) Business Auto Coverage (Form CA 00 01), covering Symbol 1 (any auto) with limit of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) for bodily injury and property damage each accident.

5.52.1.3 Workers' Compensation Insurance - The Contractor shall provide workers' compensation coverage as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and Employer's Liability Insurance with limit of no less than \$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease.

5.52.1.4 Builder's Risk – (Course of Construction) - insurance utilizing an "All Risk" (Special Perils) coverage form with limits equal to the completed value of the project and no coinsurance penalty provision. Notwithstanding the policy duration required in section 5.52.1, the insurance coverage required by this section 5.52.1.4 shall be maintained at least until Final Completion occurs and the Project is accepted by District as provided in section 5.61.

The above minimum insurance coverage limits can be met through provision of umbrella or excess policy insurance coverage consistent with the provisions of this section 5.52.

- 5.52.2 Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the District. At the option of the District, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as respects the District, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers; or the Contractor shall procure a bond or other security guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim administration and defense fees, costs and expenses. All policies that include a self-insured retention shall include a provision that payments of defense costs and damages (for bodily injury, property damage, personal injury or any other coverages included in the policy) by any party, including additional insureds and insurers, shall satisfy the self-insured retention limits.
- 5.52.3 The general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:
- 5.52.3.1 Waiver of Subrogation (also known as Transfer of Rights of Recovery Against Others to Us): The Contractor hereby agrees to waive rights of subrogation to obtain endorsement necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation in favor of the District, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers, for losses paid under the terms of this coverage which arise from work performed by the Named Insured for the District; this provision applies regardless of whether or not the District has received a waiver of subrogation from the insurer.
- 5.52.3.2 The District, its officers, officials, employees, agents and volunteers are to be covered as additional insureds as respects: liability arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor, products and completed operations of the Contractor; premises owned, occupied or used by the Contractor; or automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the District, its officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers. The additional insured coverage or endorsement shall comply with California Insurance Code section 11580.04.
- 5.52.3.3 For any claims related to this project, the Contractor's insurance general and automobile liability coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the District, its officers, officials, employees, agents and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District, its officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor's insurance and shall not contribute with it.

- 5.52.3.4 Any failure to comply with reporting or other provisions of the policies including breaches of warranties shall not affect coverage provided to the District, its officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers.
- 5.52.3.5 The Contractor's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer's liability.
- 5.52.3.6 Each insurance policy required by this section shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, or reduced in coverage or in limits except after 30 days' prior written notice by U.S. mail has been given to the District, or after 10 days' written notice in the case of cancellation for non-payment of premium.
- 5.52.4 Course of Construction Coverage Requirements. Course of construction policies shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: (a) District shall be named as loss payee; and (b) The insurer shall waive all rights of subrogation against the District.
- 5.52.5 Acceptability of Insurers. Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A-:VII or equivalent and that are authorized to do business and in good standing in California, unless otherwise approved by District. In the case of Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability insurance, coverage provided by the California State Compensation Insurance Fund is acceptable.
- 5.52.6 Verification of Coverage. Before commencing work, Contractor shall provide to District the following proof of insurance: (a) certificate(s) of insurance on ACORD Form 25-S (or insurer's equivalent) evidencing the required insurance coverages; and (b) endorsement(s) on ISO Form CG 20 10 (or insurer's equivalent), signed by a person authorized to bind coverage on behalf of the insurer(s) and certifying the additional insured coverages, or equivalent additional insured blanket endorsement. The District reserves the right to require complete copies of all required insurance policies and/or endorsements affecting required insurance coverage at any time.
- 5.52.7 Subcontractors. The Contractor shall include all actions and activities of its subcontractors as insureds under its policies, or shall require each subcontractor to provide insurance coverage consistent with the foregoing and to furnish separate endorsements or certificates to the District. All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all of the requirements stated in this section.
- 5.52.8 Obligation to Maintain Coverage. Contractor shall maintain all required insurance coverages for the period provided in this section 5.52. If any of the required coverages expire during the coverage period, Contractor shall obtain renewal or replacement coverages and deliver certificates for the renewed or replacement coverages and any required endorsements to the District at least 10 days before the expiration date of the existing coverage.
- 5.52.9 Survival of Guarantee. Any products/completed operations insurance coverage shall be maintained after completion of the project for the full guarantee period.

5.52.10 The requirements as to the types, limits, and the District's approval of insurance coverage to be maintained by the Contractor are not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations assumed by the Contractor under the Contract.

5.52.11 In addition to any other remedy the District may have, if the Contractor or any of the subcontractors fails to maintain the insurance coverage as required in this section 5.52, the District may obtain such insurance coverage as is not being maintained, in form and amount substantially the same as required herein, and the District may deduct the cost of such insurance from any amounts due or which may become due the Contractor under this Contract.

5.53 INDEMNITY AND DEFENSE OBLIGATION

5.53.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall protect, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District and Engineer, and their respective officers, directors, agents, employees, volunteers, representatives, boards, and consultants from and against all penalties and fines imposed by law and all loss, claim, cause of action, demand, suit, judgment, cost, damage, expense, and liability (including but not limited to court or arbitration costs and reasonable attorneys' and expert witness fees) resulting from injury to or death of persons, including without limitation employees of the District, Engineer and Contractor, or damage to or loss of property, caused by, arising out of or in any way connected with the Contractor's or its subcontractors' or suppliers' performance, operations or activities under this Contract, except to the extent the sole negligence, active negligence or willful misconduct of an indemnified party proximately causes the loss, claim, demand, cost, suit, judgment, penalty, fine, cause of action, damage, expense, or liability.

5.53.2 Contractor's duty to defend is a separate and distinct obligation from Contractor's duty to indemnify. Upon the request of an indemnified party hereunder, Contractor shall defend any suit asserting a claim covered by this indemnity and shall pay any costs and expenses that may be incurred by an indemnified party in enforcing this indemnity. The Contractor shall be obligated to defend, in all legal, equitable, administrative, or special proceedings, the District and/or Engineer, and their respective officers, directors, agents, employees, volunteers, representatives, boards, and consultants, immediately upon tender to Contractor of the claim in any form or at any stage of an action or proceeding, whether or not liability has been established. The obligation to defend extends through final judgment, including exhaustion of any appeals. In all cases, the indemnified party shall have the right to approve counsel selected by Contractor in the defense of any legal action or with respect to any claim, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, the indemnified party shall have the right to participate in and be represented by counsel of its own choice and at its own expense in any legal action or with respect to any claim. The defense obligation includes an obligation to provide independent defense counsel if the Contractor asserts that liability is caused in whole or in part by the negligence or willful misconduct of an indemnified party.

5.53.3 The District may withhold from payment due Contractor hereunder such amounts as, in the District's opinion, are sufficient to provide security against all loss, damage, expense, penalty, fine, cost, claim, demand, suit, cause of action, judgment, or liability covered by the foregoing indemnity provision.

- 5.53.4 In any and all claims against the District or the Engineer and his consultants, and each of their officers, directors, employees and agents by any employee of the Contractor, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under this section shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable under Workers' Compensation statutes, disability benefit statutes or other employee benefit statutes.
- 5.53.5 Neither termination of this Contract, completion of the acts to be performed under this Contract, nor the Engineer's approval or the District's acceptance of the work shall release Contractor from its obligations to indemnify and defend the District, and the Engineer, and their respective officers, directors, agents, employees, volunteers, representatives, boards, and consultants, as provided in sections 5.53.1 and 5.53.2, so long as the event upon which the claim is predicated shall have occurred prior to the effective date of any such termination or completion and arose out of or was in any way connected with performance of operations under this Contract by Contractor, its employees, agents, suppliers or subcontractors, or the employee, agent or subcontractor of any one of them,.
- 5.53.6 Submission of insurance certificates or submission of other proof of compliance with the insurance requirements in this Contract does not relieve Contractor from liability under this indemnification and hold harmless clause. The obligations of this indemnity section shall apply whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to be applicable to any of such damages or claims for damages.
- 5.53.7 In accordance with California Public Contract Code section 9201(b), if District receives any written third-party claim relating to work performed under this Contract, then District agrees to promptly notify Contractor about the third-party claim.

5.54 PROTECTION OF WORK

- 5.54.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for the care of all work until its completion and final acceptance; and it shall, at its own expense, replace damaged or lost material and repair damaged parts of the work or the same may be done at its expense by the District and the Contractor and its sureties shall be liable therefor. The Contractor shall make its own provisions for properly storing and protecting all material and equipment against theft, injury, or damage from any and all causes. Damaged material and equipment shall not be used in the work. The Contractor shall take all risks from floods and casualties except as provided by law, and shall make no charge for the restoration of such portions of the work as may be destroyed or damaged by flood or other casualties or because of danger from flood or other casualties or for delays from such causes. The Contractor may, however, be allowed a reasonable extension of time on account of such delays, subject to the conditions hereinbefore specified.
- 5.54.2 The Contractor shall effectively secure and protect adjacent property and structures, livestock, crops and other vegetation. If applicable, the Contractor shall open fences on or crossing the right of way and install temporary gates of sound construction thereon so as to prevent the escape of livestock. Adjacent fence posts shall be adequately braced

to prevent the sagging or slackening of the wire. Before such fences are opened, the Contractor shall notify the owner or tenant of the property and, where practicable, the opening of the fence shall be in accordance with the wishes of said owner or tenant. The Contractor shall be responsible that no loss or inconvenience shall accrue to the owner or tenant by virtue of its fences having been opened or the gate not having been either shut or attended at all times. Where special types of fences are encountered, the Contractor shall install temporary gates made of similar materials and of suitable quality to serve the purposes of the original fences. In all cases when the Contractor removes fences to obtain work room, it shall provide and install temporary fencing as required, and on completion of construction shall restore the original fence to the satisfaction of the Engineer. All costs of providing, maintaining and restoring gates and fencing shall be borne by the Contractor. The Contractor shall provide and maintain all passageways, guard fences, lights and other facilities for protection required by public authority or local conditions.

- 5.54.3 The Contractor shall use extreme care during construction to prevent damage from dust to crops and adjacent property. The Contractor, at its own expense, shall provide adequate dust control for the right of way and take other preventative measures as directed by the Engineer.
- 5.54.4 The Contractor shall be responsible for all damage to any property resulting from trespass by the Contractor or its employees in the course of their employment, or subcontractors or their employees in the course of their employment, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, where such trespass was committed with or without the consent or knowledge of the Contractor.
- 5.54.5 The Contractor shall see that the worksite is kept drained and free of all ground water and any other water which may impede the progress or execution of the Contract work.
- 5.54.6 The Contractor shall be responsible for any damage caused by drainage or water runoff from construction areas and from construction plant areas.
- 5.54.7 In an emergency affecting the safety of life, or of the work, or of adjoining property, the Contractor, without special instruction or authorization from the Engineer, is hereby permitted to act at its discretion to prevent such threatened loss or injury, and it shall so act without appeal if so instructed or authorized. Should the Engineer deem an emergency condition to exist, the Contractor shall immediately do those things and take those steps ordered by the Engineer. The decision of the Engineer in this respect shall be final and conclusive. Any claims for compensation made by the Contractor on account of emergency work shall be determined as specified under section 5.3.
- 5.54.8 Except as provided by California Government Code section 4215, the Contractor shall be responsible for the removal, relocation and protection of all public and private utilities, including irrigation facilities in the nature of utilities, located on the site of the construction project if and to the extent that the same are identified in the Contract Documents; and the Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of time or claim for damages for extra compensation in connection therewith. If and to the extent that such utilities or facilities are not identified in the Contract Documents, as between the Contractor and the District, the District will

be responsible for the cost of their removal, relocation or protection, as the case may be, but the Contractor shall perform any such work in conformance with applicable provisions of section 5.3, if so directed by the Engineer and in such situation the Contractor shall not be responsible for delay in completion of the project caused by the failure of the District or the owner of the utility to provide for such removal or relocation. If the Contractor, while performing the Contract, discovers utility or irrigation facilities not identified by the District in the Contract Documents, it shall immediately notify the Engineer in writing.

5.54.9 When the work to be performed under the Contract crosses or otherwise interferes with existing streams, watercourses, canals, farm ditches, pipelines, drainage channels, or water supplies, the Contractor shall provide for such watercourse or pipelines and shall perform such construction during the progress of the work so that no damage will result to either public or private interests; and the Contractor shall be liable for all damage that may result from failure to so provide during the progress of the work.

5.55 ACCIDENTS

- 5.55.1 The Contractor shall provide and maintain, in accordance with California Labor Code section 6708 and Cal/OSHA requirements, adequate emergency first aid treatment for its employees and anyone else who may be injured in connection with the work.
- 5.55.2 The Contractor shall promptly report in writing to the Engineer all accidents of any nature arising out of, or in connection with, the performance of the work, on or adjacent to the site, which caused death, personal injury, or property damage, giving full details and statements of witnesses. In addition, if death or serious injury or serious damage are caused, the accident shall be reported immediately by telephone or messenger to the District and the Engineer.
- 5.55.3 If any claim is made by anyone against the Contractor or any subcontractor on account of any accident, the Contractor shall promptly report the facts in writing to the Engineer, giving full details of the claim.

5.56 NO PERSONAL LIABILITY

Neither the District, the Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, agents, or employees shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under the Contract, except such obligations as are specifically set forth herein.

5.57 MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES

Where the Contract provides for payment on a lump sum price basis, no measurement of quantity will be made. Where the Contract provides for payment on a unit price basis, the quantities of work performed will be computed by the Engineer on the basis of measurements taken by the Engineer, and these measurements shall be final and conclusive. All quantities of work computed under the Contract shall be based upon measurements by the Engineer according to United States Measurements and Weights. Methods of measurement are specified herein and in the Specifications.

5.58 SCOPE OF PAYMENT

5.58.1 The Contractor shall accept the compensation provided in the Contract as full payment for furnishing all labor, materials, tools, equipment, and incidentals necessary to the completed work and for performing all work contemplated and embraced under the Contract; also for loss or damage arising from the nature of the work, or from the action of the elements, or from any unforeseen difficulties which may be encountered during the prosecution of the work until the acceptance by the District and for all risks of every description connected with the prosecution of the work; also for all expenses incurred in consequence of the suspension or discontinuance of the work as provided in the Contract; and for completing the work according to the Specifications and Plans. Neither the payment of any estimate nor of any retained percentage shall relieve the Contractor of any obligation to make good any defective work or material.

5.58.2 No compensation will be made in any case for loss of anticipated profits. Increased or decreased work involving supplemental agreements will be paid for as provided in such agreements.

5.59 PROGRESS ESTIMATE

For each calendar month of Contract work, the Engineer will prepare a progress estimate of all work performed under the Contract. Within the first ten (10) days of each succeeding calendar month, the Engineer will prepare in writing and certify to the District, an estimate which in his opinion is a fair approximation of the value of all work done under the Contract, including any amounts due the Contractor for extra work and change orders. In arriving at the value of the work done, the Engineer will give consideration to the value of labor and materials which have been incorporated into the permanent work by the Contractor during the preceding month. Consideration will not be given to preparatory work done or for materials or equipment on hand. In order to assist the Engineer, the Contractor shall furnish the Engineer with copies of invoices for all such items delivered to the job site and incorporated into the work.

5.60 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

5.60.1 Unless otherwise provided for at a different rate in the Invitation to Bid and the Contract, the District will pay the Contractor ninety-five (95%) percent of the amount of each properly submitted and undisputed progress payment request. Five (5%) percent, or any higher rate specified in the Invitation to Bid and the Contract, of the amount of each payment request shall be retained by the District until final completion and acceptance of all work under the Contract; provided, however, that if the Engineer, at any time after fifty (50%) percent of the work has been completed, finds that satisfactory progress is being made, the District may, in its sole discretion, pay any or all of the remaining progress payments in full or at a lower retention. In no case shall the District make a progress payment to the Contractor that exceeds one hundred percent (100%) of the value of the work actually completed to the date of the payment request.

5.60.2 The Contractor may invoice the District for no more than seventy-five (75%) percent of the cost of materials and equipment stored onsite, as long as the material or equipment has been inspected and approved by the Engineer or the District's representative, the quantity of material or equipment can be determined to the District's

satisfaction after Contractor delivery of a paid invoice for such materials or equipment, and the materials or equipment are properly stored and protected in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. The Contractor retains liability for any damage or degradation of the quality of stored materials and equipment until after they are incorporated into the work and the work is approved by the District in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Contract Documents.

5.60.3 In accordance with California Public Contract Code section 20104.50, a written payment request from the Contractor shall be reviewed by the Engineer as soon as practicable in order to determine whether it is proper. If it is determined not to be a proper payment request suitable for payment, then the Engineer shall return it to the Contractor with a written explanation of the deficiencies as soon as practicable, but not later than 7 days after receipt of the payment request. If the payment request is determined to be properly submitted and is undisputed, the Engineer will certify the payment as provided above and the District shall make the payment to the Contractor within 30 days after receipt of the payment request. If a properly submitted and undisputed payment request is not paid within this 30 day period, then the District shall pay interest on the overdue amount to the Contractor at the legal rate set forth at California Code of Civil Procedure section 685.010. This section shall not apply if District funds are not available for payment of the payment request or if payment is delayed due to an audit inquiry by the financial officer of the District.

5.60.4 The Contractor may, in accordance with California Public Contract Code section 22300, substitute securities for any monies which the District may withhold to insure performance under the Contract. Alternatively, on written request of the Contractor and at its expense, the District shall make payments of the retention earnings directly to an escrow agent pursuant to an escrow agreement entered into consistent with the terms of Public Contract Code section 22300.

5.60.5 When, in the judgment of the Engineer, the work is not proceeding in accordance with the provisions of the Contract, or when in his judgment the total amount of the work done since the last estimate amounts to less than \$1,000, no pay estimate will be prepared and no progress payment will be made.

5.60.6 No progress estimate or payment shall be considered to be an approval or acceptance of any work, materials or equipment. Estimated amounts and values of work done and materials and equipment incorporated into the work will be conformed with actual amounts and values as they become available in subsequent progress estimates, progress payments and the final estimate and payment. All estimates and payments will be subject to correction in subsequent progress estimates and payments and the final estimate and payment.

5.60.7 It is mutually agreed between the parties to the Contract that no payments made under the Contract, including progress payments and the final payment, shall be evidence of the performance of the Contract, either wholly or in part, and no payment shall be construed to be an acceptance of any defective or incomplete work or improper materials.

5.60.8 District reserves the right to make payments jointly to the order of the Contractor and to any of its subcontractors or suppliers that might have a right to file a stop

notice with the District. The District shall have no obligation to pay or to ensure the payment of money to a subcontractor or supplier, except as may otherwise be required by law.

5.60.9 Each progress payment made to the Contractor in accordance with the Engineer's determination of progress payment requests is contingent upon the Contractor furnishing the District with a signed written waiver and release of all claims against the District arising out of or in any way connected to the Contract. Disputed Contract claims must be specifically stated and excluded by the Contractor from the operation of the waiver and release. The waiver and release shall be substantially in the form provided in Civil Code sections 8132 (Exhibit A) or 8134 (Exhibit B). The Contractor may only use the conditional waiver and release if the District does not pay all or a portion of a progress payment estimate submitted by the Contractor and the Contractor disputes the District's determination.

In the event that the Contractor fails or refuses to furnish the District with a signed written waiver and release of all claims against the District arising out of or in any way connected to the Contract, Contractor's acceptance of each progress payment shall be Contractor's release of all claims against the District in relation to all work paid to date to the fullest extent permitted by law.

CONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE ON PROGRESS PAYMENT (EXHIBIT A)

NOTICE: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES THE CLAIMANT'S LIEN, STOP PAYMENT NOTICE, AND PAYMENT BOND RIGHTS EFFECTIVE ON RECEIPT OF PAYMENT. A PERSON SHOULD NOT RELY ON THIS DOCUMENT UNLESS SATISFIED THAT THE CLAIMANT HAS RECEIVED PAYMENT.

Name of Claimant:
Name of Customer:
Job Location:
Owner:
Through Date:
Conditional Waiver and Release
This document waives and releases lien, stop payment notice, and payment bond rights the claimant has for labor and service provided, and equipment and material delivered, to the customer on this job through the Through Date of this document. Rights based upon labor or service provided, or equipment or material delivered, pursuant to a written change order that has been fully executed by the parties prior to the date that this document is signed by the claimant, are waived and released by this document, unless listed as an Exception below. This document is effective only on the claimant's receipt of payment from the financial institution on which the following check is drawn:
Maker of Check:
Amount of Check: \$
Check Payable to:
Exceptions
This document does not affect any of the following: (1) Retentions. (2) Extras for which the claimant has not received payment. (3) The following progress payments for which the claimant has previously given a conditional waiver and release but has not received payment: Date(s) of waiver and release: Amount(s) of unpaid progress payment(s): (4) Contract rights, including (A) a right based on rescission, abandonment, or breach of contract, and (B) the right to recover compensation for work not compensated by the payment.
Signature
Claimant's Signature:

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21 5-51

Identifying Information

UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE ON PROGRESS PAYMENT (EXHIBIT B)

NOTICE TO CLAIMANT: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES AND RELEASES LIEN, STOP PAYMENT NOTICE, AND PAYMENT BOND RIGHTS UNCONDITIONALLY AND STATES THAT YOU HAVE BEEN PAID FOR GIVING UP THOSE RIGHTS. THIS DOCUMENT IS ENFORCEABLE AGAINST YOU IF YOU SIGN IT, EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID. IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID, USE A CONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE FORM.

Identifying Information
Name of Claimant:
Name of Customer:
Job Location:
Owner:
Through Date:
Unconditional Waiver and Release
This document waives and releases lien, stop payment notice, and payment bond rights the claimant has for labor and service provided, and equipment and material delivered, to the customer on this job through the Through Date of this document. Rights based upon labor or service provided, or equipment or material delivered, pursuant to a written change order that has been fully executed by the parties prior to the date that this document is signed by the claimant, are waived and released by this document, unless listed as an Exception below. The claimant has received the following progress payment: \$
Exceptions
This document does not affect any of the following: (1) Retentions. (2) Extras for which the claimant has not received payment. (3) Contract rights, including (A) a right based on rescission, abandonment, or breach of contract, and (B) the right to recover compensation for work not compensated by the payment.
Signature
Claimant's Signature:
Claimant's Title:
Date of Signature:

5.61 COMPLETION AND FINAL ACCEPTANCE

- 5.61.1 The following definitions govern in interpreting this article and wherever such terms may appear in the Contract Documents:
- 5.61.1.1 "Final Completion" means the time when the work has been fully completed in accordance with the Contract Documents and is ready for acceptance and final payment by the District.
- 5.61.1.2 "Final Inspection" means the inspection conducted by the District after to verify that the work has reached Final Completion.
- 5.61.1.3 "The Final Punch List" is the listing of items that, in the Engineer's opinion, remain uncompleted after Substantial Completion but that must be completed by the Contractor prior to Final Completion.
- 5.61.1.4 "Semi-Final Inspection" means that inspection conducted by the Engineer to determine if the work is Substantially Complete.
- 5.61.1.5 "Substantial Completion" means the work has progressed to the point that: (1) the work is ready for beneficial use and occupancy by the District for the intended purpose, (2) all fire and life safety work has been completed, inspected and accepted, (3) all mechanical and process systems and equipment are complete and have been put in automatic operation, (4) the total value of uncompleted work is less than one-half of one percent of the Contract Price and any approved cost extensions and (5) completing the work will not significantly interfere with the District's convenience, or use or cost of operating the work.
- 5.61.2 When specifically provided for in the Contract Documents or when agreed to in writing by the District and the Contractor, the District may begin using a portion of the work even though it is not Substantially Complete. In such a case, the Contractor, the District and the Engineer shall first agree on and document responsibilities for security, operation, safety, maintenance, utilities, insurance, warranties, and guarantees for that portion of the work being used by the District. The District, the Contractor and the Engineer shall inspect such portion of the work and shall prepare a list of work to be completed or corrected before final acceptance. The District's use of any portion of the work shall not constitute final acceptance of that portion of the work prior to Final Completion and acceptance of the work as a whole. The District shall allow the Contractor reasonable access to complete or correct work in areas being used by the District. Partial beneficial occupancy shall not relieve the Contractor of Liquidated Damages or waive any of the District's rights under the Contract unless the Contract Documents expressly provide for and identify such portion of the work to be considered Substantially Complete before the remaining portions of the work or waiver of specific District rights.
- 5.61.3 When the Contractor considers the work nearly complete, the Contractor shall review the Contract Documents, inspect the work and prepare a list of deficiencies (Punch List). When the Punch List is prepared, the Contractor will deliver copies to the Engineer and the District. The Contractor shall complete or correct the items on the Punch List until, in the Contractor's opinion, the work is Substantially Complete and ready for occupancy and use by the District. The Contractor shall then deliver the completed Punch List to the Engineer and notify the

5-53

Engineer in writing that the Contractor believes the work is Substantially Complete and ready for Semi-Final Inspection.

After the Contractor notifies the Engineer in writing that it 5.61.4 believes the work is substantially complete, the Engineer will conduct the Semi-Final Inspection and may add additional items to the Contractor's Punch List. As a result of this inspection, the Engineer may determine that: (1) the work is not sufficiently complete to warrant a Semi-Final Inspection, additions to the Contractor's Punch List, or the preparation of a Final Punch List; (2) the work is sufficiently complete for the Engineer to prepare a Final Punch List but certain incomplete or Defective work prohibits use of the work for its intended purpose and therefore, the work is not Substantially Complete; or (3) that the work is Substantially Complete and usable for its intended purpose and the Engineer can prepare a Final Punch List. In preceding cases (1) and (2), the Contractor shall continue the work and call for a second Semi-Final Inspection when it believes the work is ready. If the Contractor does not achieve Substantial Completion on the second attempt, it shall reimburse the District the cost of the Engineer's services for additional inspections. In case (3), the Engineer will prepare a Final Punch List and a notice of Substantial Completion, which shall state the time agreed to by the District and the Contractor, not to exceed 30 days, in which the Contractor shall complete all remaining Punch List items and ready the work for Final Inspection. The Engineer shall attach a copy of the Final Punch List to the notice of Substantial Completion. Time to complete punch list items provided in this section 5.61.4 is for the convenience of the District and is intended as a deadline; and therefore, nothing in this section shall extend the time of completion for the fixed in the Contract Documents or excuse the failure of the Contractor to timely deliver the work as complete in accordance with the Contract Documents.

5.61.5 When the Contractor has completed or corrected all items on the Engineer's Final Punch List and has made all required final submittals, the Contractor shall give the Engineer written notice that the work is ready for Final Inspection and acceptance and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Engineer shall make a Final Inspection. If the Engineer finds the work is not fully complete, it shall notify the Contractor of items still requiring completion or correction. The Contractor shall immediately correct these deficiencies and call for a re-inspection. When, on the basis of its knowledge of the work, observations and inspections, the Engineer finds that the work is acceptable and fully complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, and when all final submittals have been made, the Engineer will recommend that the District issue and file a Notice of Completion designating Final Completion of the work, make Final Payment and accept the work in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.

5.61.6 The Engineer's failure to include an item on the Final Punch List, to make the Semi-Final or the Final Inspection, or to recommend final acceptance shall not alter the Contractor's responsibility to complete all work in accordance with the Contract Documents. If any lien or stop notice remains unsatisfied, the Contractor shall immediately take all steps necessary to remove any such lien or stop notice before Final Payment is made.

5.61.7 The making of Final Payment shall constitute a waiver of claims by the Contractor except those arising from:

5.61.7.1 Liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled;

5.61.7.2 Failure of the work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents; or

5.61.7.3 Terms of the one-year guarantee period and special warranties required by the Contract Documents.

5.61.7.4 Any of the Contractor's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents.

5.62 FINAL PAYMENT

Within 10 days after the date of completion and Contractor's delivery to the District of a complete release of all liens arising out of this Contract, or receipts in full covering all labor, materials and equipment for which a lien could be filed, or a bond satisfactory of the District to defend and indemnify the District against such liens, the District shall accept the work and file in the office of the County Recorder, a Notice of Completion of the work herein agreed to be done by the Contractor. On the expiration of 40 days after the recordation of such Notice of Completion and there being no liens or stop notices filed, the difference between said final estimate and all payments theretofore made to the Contractor shall be due and payable to the Contractor, subject to any requirements concerning the furnishing of a maintenance bond, and excepting only such sum or sums as may be withheld or deducted in accordance with the provisions of this Contract or as required by law. All prior certifications upon which partial payments may have been made, being merely estimates, shall be subject to correction in the final certificate. In accordance with California Public Contract Code section 7107(c), in the event of a dispute between the District and the Contractor, the District may withhold from the final payment an amount not to exceed 150% of the disputed amount. If any liens are filed or exist after Final Payment is made, the Contractor shall refund to the District all money that the District may be compelled to pay in discharging such liens, including all costs and reasonable attorney's fees.

5.63 FINAL RELEASE

Final payment to the Contractor in accordance with the approved final estimate is contingent upon the Contractor furnishing the District with a signed written waiver and release of all claims against the District arising out of or in any way connected to the Contract. Disputed Contract claims in stated amounts may be specifically excluded by the Contractor from the operation of the waiver and release. The waiver and release shall be substantially in the form provided in Civil Code sections 8138 (Exhibit A) or 8136 (Exhibit B). The Contractor may only use the conditional waiver and release form if the District does not pay all or a portion of the final payment estimate submitted by the Contractor and the Contractor disputes the District's determination on such estimate. In the event the Contractor fails to furnish the District with a signed written waiver and release of all claims against the District arising out of or in any way connected to the Contract, Contractor's acceptance of final payment is Contractor's release of all claims against the District to the fullest extent permitted by law.

UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE ON FINAL PAYMENT (EXHIBIT A)

NOTICE TO CLAIMANT: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES AND RELEASES LIEN, STOP PAYMENT NOTICE, AND PAYMENT BOND RIGHTS UNCONDITIONALLY AND STATES THAT YOU HAVE BEEN PAID FOR GIVING UP THOSE RIGHTS. THIS DOCUMENT IS ENFORCEABLE AGAINST YOU IF YOU SIGN IT, EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID. IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID, USE A CONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE FORM.

Name of Claimant:
Name of Customer:
Job Location:
Owner:
Unconditional Waiver and Release
This document waives and releases lien, stop payment notice, and payment bond rights the claimant has for all labor and service provided, and equipment and material delivered, to the customer on this job. Rights based upon labor or service provided, or equipment or material delivered, pursuant to a written change order that has been fully executed by the parties prior to the date that this document is signed by the claimant, are waived and released by this document, unless listed as an Exception below. The claimant has been paid in full.
Exceptions
This document does not affect any of the following:
Disputed claims for extras in the amount of: \$
Signature
Claimant's Signature:
Claimant's Title

Date of Signature:

{00212949.1} Rev. 07/07/21 5-56

Identifying Information

CONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE ON FINAL PAYMENT (EXHIBIT B)

NOTICE: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES THE CLAIMANT'S LIEN, STOP PAYMENT NOTICE, AND PAYMENT BOND RIGHTS EFFECTIVE ON RECEIPT OF PAYMENT. A PERSON SHOULD NOT RELY ON THIS DOCUMENT UNLESS SATISFIED THAT THE CLAIMANT HAS RECEIVED PAYMENT.

5.64 RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENTS

In addition to all other rights and remedies of the District hereunder and by virtue of law, the District may withhold or nullify the whole or any part of any progress payment or withhold up to 150% of the disputed amount from the final payment (see Public Contract Code section 7107(c)) to such extent as may reasonably be necessary to protect the District from loss on account of:

- 5.64.1 Defective work not remedied, irrespective of when any such work be found to be defective;
- 5.64.2 Claims or liens filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of claims or liens including, but not limited to, claims under California Labor Code sections 1775, 1776, or 1777.7;
- 5.64.3 Failure of the Contractor to make payments properly for labor, materials, equipment, or other facilities, or to subcontractors and/or suppliers;
- 5.64.4 A reasonable doubt that the work can be completed for the balance then unearned;
- 5.64.5 A reasonable doubt that the Contractor will complete the work within the agreed time limits;
- 5.64.6 Costs to the District resulting from failure of the Contractor to complete the work within the proper time; or
 - 5.64.7 Damage to work or property.

Whenever the District shall, in accordance herewith, withhold any monies otherwise due the Contractor, written notice of the amount withheld and the reasons therefor will be given the Contractor. After the Contractor has corrected the enumerated deficiencies, the District will promptly pay to the Contractor the amount so withheld. When monies are withheld to protect the District against claims or liens of mechanics, suppliers, materialmen, subcontractors, etc., the District may at its discretion permit the Contractor to deliver a surety bond in terms and amount satisfactory to the District, indemnifying the District against any loss or expense, and upon acceptance thereof by the District, the District shall release to the Contractor monies so withheld.

5.65 WAIVER OF INTEREST

The District shall have no obligation to pay and the Contractor hereby waives the right to recover interest with regard to monies that the District is required to withhold by reason of judgment, order, statute or judicial process, or may withhold pursuant to the provisions of this Contract.

5.66 SATISFACTION OF CLAIMS AND LIENS

Neither the final payment nor any part of the retained percentage shall become due until the Contractor, if required, shall deliver to the District, a complete release of all liens and claims

arising out of this Contract, or receipts in full in lieu thereof and, if required in either case, an affidavit that so far as it has knowledge or information the releases and receipts include all the labor and material for which a lien or claim could be filed; but the Contractor may, if any subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or receipt in full, furnish a bond satisfactory to the District, to indemnify the District against any lien or claim. If any lien or claim remains unsatisfied after all payments are made, the Contractor shall refund to the District all monies that the latter may be compelled to pay in discharging such a lien, or claim, including all costs and reasonable attorney's fees.

5.67 ASSIGNMENT OF ANTI-TRUST CLAIMS

In accordance with California Public Contract Code section 7103.5, the Contractor hereby offers and agrees to assign to the District all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of action it may have under section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. section 15) or under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 (commencing with section 16700) of part 2 of division 7 of the Business and Professions Code), arising from purchases of goods, services, or materials pursuant to the Contract Documents. This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time the District tenders final payment to the Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties.

5.68 AVAILABILITY AND AUDIT OF INFORMATION

5.68.1 The District's duly authorized representatives shall have, during the term of the Contract and for three years thereafter, the right to inspect, copy and audit all of the Contractor's and its subcontractors' books, accounts, records, and other material of all description, including but not limited to source documents and computer files, and to interview personnel, pertaining to the Contract to verify or review the quantity, quality, work program and progress of the work, reimbursable costs, amounts claimed by the Contractor, pricing data, estimates of cost for fixed rates including those applicable to proposed changes, and for any other reasonable purposes. "Books," "accounts," and "records" as used herein shall include, but not be limited to, original estimates, subcontracts, bids, proposals, purchase orders, books, documents, accounting records, papers, correspondence, project files and scheduling information, including the original Bid and all documents related thereto and to its preparation, the as-planned construction schedule and any related documents.

5.68.2 The Contractor's and its subcontractors' accounts shall be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the particular industry and shall be kept in such a manner and in sufficient detail to clearly disclose the nature and amounts of the different items of service and cost pertaining to the Contract and the basis for charges or allocations to the Contract. The Contractor and its subcontractors shall preserve all such accounts and records for a period of three years after the term of the Contract.

- 5.68.3 The Contractor shall include the necessary provisions in its subcontracts to ensure that its subcontractors comply with this provision.
- 5.68.4 The parties acknowledge that this Contract, and performance and payments under this Contract, are subject to examination and audit by the State Auditor

General for three years following final payment under this Contract pursuant to California Government Code section 8546.7.

5.69 INTEGRATION

The Contract Documents constitute the sole, final, complete, exclusive and integrated expression and statement of the terms of this contract among the parties concerning the subject matter addressed herein, and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either oral or written, that may be related to the subject matter of this Contract, except those other documents that are expressly referenced in the Contract Documents.

5.70 COUNTERPARTS AND ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES

The Contract Documents may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute the same instrument or instruments. Counterparts may be delivered by facsimile, electronic mail (including PDF or any electronic signature complying with California's Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (Cal. Civ. Code, §1633.1, et seq.) or any other applicable law) or other transmission method. The parties agree that any electronic signatures appearing on the Contract Documents are the same as handwritten signatures for the purposes of validity, enforceability, and admissibility.

5.71 WAIVER

The waiver at any time by any party of its rights with respect to a default or other matter arising in connection with this Contract shall not be deemed a waiver with respect to any subsequent default or matter.

5.72 REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE

The remedies provided in this Contract are cumulative and not exclusive, and are in addition to any other remedies that may be provided by law or equity. The exercise by either party of any remedy under this Contract shall be without prejudice to the enforcement of any other remedy.

5.73 SEVERABILITY

The invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of any provision of the Contract Documents shall not render the other provisions unenforceable, invalid or illegal.

5.74 GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE

Except as otherwise required by law, this Contract shall be interpreted, governed by, and construed under the laws of the State of California. The County shall be venue for any litigation concerning the enforcement or construction of this Contract.

5.75 NOTICES

Any notice, demand, invoice or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Contract shall be in writing and either served personally or sent by prepaid, first class U.S. mail and addressed as follows: for the District, either to the Engineer or the District at the addresses set forth in the Invitation to Bid; for the Contractor, at the address set forth in its Bid. Any party may change its address by notifying the other party in writing of the change of address.

(END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS.)

GRANLEES RAW WATER INTAKE IMPROVEMENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DIVISION 02 - EXISTING CONDITIONS

02 00 00Site Conditions02 00 70Construction Photography02 11 50Existing Facilities02 40 00Demolition02 57 50Pavement Restoration

DIVISION 03 - CONCRETE

03 15 19 Anchor Bolts 03 30 00 Cast-In-Place Concrete 03 60 00 Grout

DIVISION 05 - METALS

05 00 00 Miscellaneous Metal

DIVISION 07 - THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION

07 90 00 Sealants and Caulking

DIVISION 8 – WINDOWS AND DOORS

08 31 00 Floor Access Doors

DIVISION 09 - FINISHES

09 90 00 Coatings

09 97 13 Hot-Dip Zinc Coating

DIVISION 15 - MECHANICAL & PLUMBING

15 19 10 Fabricated Stainless Steel Slide Gates

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 02 00 00 SITE CONDITIONS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

- A. Section includes:
 - 1. Location
 - 2. Weather Conditions
 - 3. Elevations
 - 4. Naturally Occurring Asbestos

1.02 LOCATION

A. Approximate Coordinates: N 38.4976° W 121.0661°

1.03 WEATHER CONDITIONS

- A. Below freezing conditions may exist during the winter months.
- B. 100 degree plus temperatures exist during the summer months.

1.04 ELEVATION

A. Approximately 160 ft.

1.05 NATURALLY OCCURRING ASBESTOS (NOA)

- A. The site is located inside an area moderately likely to contain asbestos or fault line.
- B. If while excavating the contractor sees any materials which appear to contain asbestos fibers, the Contractor is to stop excavation and report the findings to the District immediately.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 02 00 70

CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHY

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. Construction photography is required to document:
 - 1. Pre-construction conditions
 - 2. Construction activities
 - 3. Post-construction conditions.
- B. Photographs will be particularly useful in documenting the pre-construction conditions of private properties, landscaping, streets, existing facilities, etc.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS

- A. General Conditions
- B. Special Provisions

1.03 USE OF PHOTOGRAPHY

- A. Pre-Construction photography will be used in part to establish pre-construction conditions. Disputes with property owners will be settled through the use of construction photos that will document pre-construction conditions. In the event that the Contractor fails to adequately document pre-construction conditions, the Contractor will be obligated to restore disputed landscaping, yards improvements, etc. to the satisfaction of the property owner.
- B. Contractor shall provide a high-definition video of the work area prior to construction to document the condition of the roadways, driveways and other facilities along the construction corridor.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 FORMAT

- A. Format of the photography shall be as follows:
 - 1. All photographs shall be in digital format (.jpg) with date stamp, delivered to the District on a USB device.
 - 2. Photographs shall be color photos and be taken with a high-quality camera rated at a minimum of 16 megapixels.
 - 3. Video shall be in digital format with date stamp on a USB device.

2.02 DATABASE

- A. The photos shall be described in a spreadsheet, (MS-Excel) that will be used for indexing digital photographs.
- B. The spreadsheet shall have the following tabs:
 - 1. Pre-construction photographs,
 - 2. Construction photographs,
 - 3. Post-construction photographs.
- C. Each tab shall have the following fields:

- 1. Location (Address or coordinates)
- 2. Filename
- 3. Approximate direction picture was taken
- 4. Notes
- D. The Contractor shall populate the fields indicated for each of the digital photos. Accurate information is especially needed for photos which depict:
 - 1. Each residence affected by the project,
 - 2. Public rights-of-way,
 - 3. Other sensitive areas as necessary.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 PRE-CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTATION

- A. Prior to construction, the Contractor will document the conditions of all surface features of the affected areas. This documentation shall be in the format as noted above.
- B. The Contractor is obligated to document the Pre-Construction conditions sufficiently to avoid disputes with property owners and the County regarding the quality of post-construction repairs.
- C. The photographer shall use signs in each photograph that clearly identify each photo by location for properties and street name and station number for road work.
- D. Pre-Construction video coverage shall include (at a minimum):
 - 1. The ground surface above all pipes to be placed.
 - 2. All driveways in the project vicinity which construction equipment may access.
 - 3. All curb, gutter and road shoulders, and other surface features in the project vicinity that construction equipment might damage.
- E. Submit one pre-construction video to the District prior to beginning construction. Video shall be labeled with the title, "Pre-Construction Video", the name of the project, name of the Contractor, and date(s) of videotaping. The video photographer should include enough narrative to let a viewer know the time, date, and location of each separate area shown.
- F. Pre-Construction photographs shall include a minimum of two photos from all residential properties that will be excavated. Photos should focus on areas that will be disturbed by the work.
- G. Prior to the beginning of construction, the Contractor shall submit a USB device to the Engineer containing the following information:
 - 1. Photography table with an index as described above.
 - 2. All photographs taken

3.02 CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS

- A. The Contractor shall use construction photographs to document the progress of construction activities, unusual situations, repairs made to buried improvements, accidents, construction disputes, and any other conditions that may be useful in the future. The use of construction photographs should be for the Contractor's benefit to document work completed.
- B. The Contractor shall supply photographs each time a utility is exposed with location and details of the condition noted.

3.03 POST CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTATION

- A. Provide Post-Construction photographs. Post-Construction photographs will include photos of the completed and repaired work areas. Photos will include enough detail to demonstrate that the Contractor has performed repair and clean-up work. At a minimum, each site that was photographed for a pre-construction photo shall be re-photographed for the post-construction documentation.
- B. Following completion of construction, the Contractor shall submit to the District a USB device with the following information:
 - 1. Photography table with links to color photographs for each location. Links to preconstruction photographs, construction photographs, and post-construction photographs are all required to be completed at this time. This final submittal shall contain all photographs taken and is to replace all USB devices previously submitted to the District.
- C. Post-Construction video shall be made that documents the post-construction conditions of the project sites. Again, the video should include footage of all areas shown in the pre-construction video. Also, the video should include any sensitive areas as indicated by property owner's feedback and concerns.
- D. Submit one copy of each post-construction video to the Engineer immediately following completion of the work and prior to the final payment. Video shall be labeled with title, "Post-Construction Video", the name of the project, name of the Contractor, and date(s) of videotaping. The video photographer should include enough narrative to let a viewer know the time, date and location of each separate area shown.

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 02 11 50

EXISTING FACILITIES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

- A. This work shall consist of identifying, protecting, and relocating existing facilities within the area of work. No relocation shall occur without written approval from the affected agency.
- B. Any relocation work required shall be performed to comply with the details and specifications of the affected agency.

PART 2 - MATERIALS

2.01 SCOPE

A. The Contractor shall provide all materials and equipment to accomplish the work described. Materials shall comply with the governing agency specifications.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 PROTECTION OF FACILITIES

A. The Contractor shall take all necessary measures to avoid injury to existing surface and underground utility facilities in and near the site of the work. No error or omission on the drawings shall be construed to relieve the Contractor from his responsibility to protect all underground pipes, conduits, cables or other structures. The Contractor shall indemnify the District and the Design Engineer and hold it harmless from any and all claims, demands, or liability made or asserted by any person or entity on account of, or in connection with any damage to such surface or underground facilities caused by the Contractor or any of his agents or subcontractors.

3.02 EXISTING UTILITIES

A. The drawings for the work show the underground utilities on the site insofar as they are known. The drawings may not show facilities apparent from visual inspection of the site or service laterals or appurtenances, the existence of which can be inferred from the presence of other visible facilities such as buildings, meters, junction boxes, etc., on or adjacent to the construction site.

3.03 RELOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES

A. The Contractor shall make all arrangements for, and pay all costs connected with, any necessary relocation of existing surface and underground utility facilities (including without limitation, services, conduits, pipes, and mains) affecting the project or the work to be performed under these specifications.

3.04 UNIDENTIFIED EXISTING UTILITIES

A. If, in the performance of the work, an existing facility is encountered which is not shown on the drawings and is not apparent or inferable from visual inspection of the site, the Inspector shall be notified immediately. The District will determine whether the drawings or specifications shall be modified, or whether existing utility shall be relocated or whether the Contractor shall work around the existing utility. If appropriate, the determination of the

District shall be incorporated in a Change Order for extra work pursuant to the General Conditions. This in no way releases the requirement that all existing utilities must be potholed.

SECTION 02 40 00

DEMOLITION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Demolition, removal, saw-cutting and disposal of onsite materials.

1.02 JOB CONDITIONS

- A. The Contractor shall determine the actual condition of the site as it affects the Work.
- B. In General, the demolition will include:
 - 1. The saw-cutting, removal and disposal of any material, debris and appurtenances as required to complete the work.
 - 2. Other demolition as required to complete the work.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. General: All work shall be performed in accordance with the local building codes, State Industrial Safety Orders and requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Act requirements.

B. Schedule

- 1. Demolition must be scheduled to allow all existing services and utilities to remain in continuous operation as long as possible.
- 2. No interruption in operation will be permitted without prior authorization from the District.

C. Protection

- 1. Demolition shall be performed in such a manner as to not harm adjacent structures, equipment, existing landscaping or natural vegetation.
 - a. The Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such disturbance.
 - b. All costs of any such repair, rehabilitation, or modifications shall be borne by the Contractor.
 - c. Existing facilities not scheduled for demolition, which are damaged by construction activities, shall be repaired or replaced at the District's discretion and at the Contractor's expense.
- 2. The Contractor shall provide such protection and means as may be required to transfer material to the ground.
 - a. Throwing, dropping or permitting the free fall of material and debris from heights which would cause damage to other work, existing structures, or equipment; undue noise or nuisance; or excessive dust is expressly prohibited.
- D. Protect existing trees and other vegetation to remain against damage.
 - 1. Do not smother trees by stockpiling construction materials or excavated materials within drip line.
 - 2. Do not permit foot or vehicular traffic or parking of vehicles within drip line.
 - 3. Provide temporary protection as required.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. The Contractor shall notify the District when demolition is complete.

3.02 REMOVED MATERIAL, DEBRIS AND DISPOSAL

- A. Where Contractor is directed on the Drawings to "Demolish" or "Remove" material or facilities it is understood that the material will be removed and disposed of offsite unless specifically stated otherwise or directed by the Owner's Representative.
- B. All removed material and debris shall become the property of the Contractor and shall be removed from the site.
- C. Materials and debris generated by demolition activities shall not be allowed to accumulate. Debris shall be removed daily and disposed of in a lawful manner.
- D. Contractor shall legally haul and dispose of debris material from demolition operations. No additional payment will be made for hauling or disposal costs.

3.03 RESTORATION

A. Restore adjacent structures and facilities damaged during demolition or other construction to original or better condition.

SECTION 02 57 50

PAVEMENT RESTORATION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. Work in this section includes reconstruction of all curbs, gutters, driveways, road shoulders, pavement and similar items removed or damaged as a result of the work. Reconstruction shall match the original materials and dimensions subject to the minimum requirements of the Contract Documents. All work shall match the appearance of the existing improvements. Work covered in this section shall be completed in accordance with these specifications, County Standard Specifications and Encroachment Permits.
- B. Related Documents: The General and Supplementary Conditions and the applicable sections of Division 1, form a part of this section. All pavement shall be restored within limits as described within the standard details shown on the contract drawings.

1.02 REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

- A. Reference Specifications:
 - 1. Whenever the words "Standard Specifications" are referred to in the Specifications, the reference is to the State of California, Department of Transportation (CALTRANS), Standard Specifications (latest edition). Standard Specification paragraphs concerning measurement and payment are excluded.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. General:

1. Submit sufficient information to allow the District to confirm the materials proposed meet the specification requirements and are of good quality.

B. Certification:

1. Certification from the material supplier that the materials supplied for this project meets the Specifications.

PRODUCTS

1.04 CONCRETE

A. Concrete shall meet the requirements of Section 03 30 00 CONCRETE CAST IN PLACE.

1.05 HOT MIX ASPHALT (HMA) PAVEMENT

- A. All Hot Mix Asphalt Pavement shall meet the requirements of Section 39 of the 2018 Caltrans Standards Specifications and approved County Encroachment Permits.
 - 1. The asphalt temperature at the time of asphalt delivery, and the ambient air temperature at the time of asphalt delivery must meet the requirements of Section 39 of the 2018 Caltrans Standards Specifications.
 - 2. Asphalt binder used in HMA Type A shall be PG 64-16.
 - 3. Aggregate used in HMA Type A shall comply with the ½-inch HMA Types A and B gradation.
 - 4. Asphalt concrete pavement shall consist of a subgrade as shown. The finish course shall consist of Type B, PG 64-10 asphalt concrete, of at least 6 inches thickness or as shown on the Drawings, whichever is thicker.

- 5. Asphalt concrete shall be provided with an emulsion-aggregate slurry seal applied on the completed finish course of the asphalt pavement.
- 6. A minimum of 9 inches of aggregate base or to match existing or as shown on the Drawings, whichever is thicker, will be placed below all new asphalt paving unless otherwise noted.

EXECUTION

1.06 CONCRETE RESTORATION

- A. Restore all concrete items per these specifications.
- B. Restore all other concrete items to the same dimensions, thickness and reinforcing as the original items. Place concrete in accordance with the requirements of Section 03 30 00 CAST IN PLACE CONCRETE. Upper 9 inches of subgrade shall be compacted to a minimum 95 percent relative density prior to placement of concrete. Surface finish shall match existing surrounding surface.

1.07 TEMPORARY PAVEMENT

A. Temporary resurfacing consisting of not less than 6 inches of hot mix asphalt concrete shall be placed and maintained wherever an excavation is made through an existing pavement. The temporary resurfacing shall be maintained to provide for the safety and convenience of the public. Temporary pavement shall be placed as soon as the condition of the trench backfill is considered by the District to be suitable to receive resurfacing.

1.08 PERMANENT PAVEMENT

- A. Permanent hot mix asphalt (HMA) resurfacing and striping shall be placed in accordance with Section 39 of the Caltrans 2022 Standards Specifications and the County Encroachment Permits and Standards.
- B. Install paving mat per County and CalTrans standards.

1.09 ASPHALT CONCRETE REMOVAL AND INSTALLATION

- A. All asphalt concrete pavement surface that has been removed, broken or damaged shall be repaved. Removal of existing pavements shall be by saw cutting and in accordance with the project Contract Documents and Caltrans Standard Specification.
- B. All asphalt paving shall be cut to a neat, straight line and the exposed edge shall be tacked with emulsion prior to paving. The exposed base material shall be graded, re-compacted, and resealed prior to paving.
- C. Removed asphalt shall be disposed of off the Work site. Removed asphalt shall not be used as backfill material on-site.
- D. Install asphalt concrete in accordance with Caltrans Standard Specification Section 39.
- E. The asphalt concrete pavement shall be placed against a saw cut edge after the application of a prime coat on the base course.

1.10 COMPACTION OF ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVING

- A. Compact until roller marks are eliminated and a density of 92% minimum to 98% maximum has been attained per ASTM D2041.
- B. Compacting equipment shall conform to the provisions of Caltrans Standard Specification Section 39-5.02.

1.11 PREPARATION OF SUBGRADE

A. Subgrade shall be prepared in accordance with Section 02 20 00 herein.

- B. Shape subgrade to line, grade, and cross section shown in the drawings.
- C. The finished subgrade shall be within a tolerance of 0.05 of a foot of the grade and cross section shown and shall be smooth and free from irregularities and at the specified relative compaction.

1.12 PLACEMENT OF AGGREGATE BASE COURSE

A. Place aggregate base course to a minimum thickness as required. Compact to 95% relative compaction and install in accordance with Caltrans Standard Specification Section 26.

1.13 PRIME COAT APPLICATION

A. Apply prime coat to the surface of the base course of the aggregate base at the rate of 0.25 gallon per square yard per Caltrans Standard Specification Section 39-4.02.

1.14 TACK COAT APPLICATION

A. Apply tack coat on surfaces to receive finish pavement per Caltrans Standard Specifications 39-4.02. Apply tack coat to metal or concrete surfaces that will be in contact with the asphalt concrete paving.

1.15 SEAL COAT APPLICATION

- A. Apply slurry seal at end of project after all paving and major construction is complete.
- B. Apply slurry seal to new, overlay and existing asphalt as indicated on the Drawings.
- C. Apply slurry seal coat at the rate of 8 to 12 pounds of dry aggregate per square yard.
- D. Apply slurry seal per Caltrans Standard Specification Section 37-2.06.

1.16 ASPHALT CONCRETE OVERLAY

- A. Provide asphalt concrete overlay in areas indicated on the Drawings and Details.
- B. The limits of the overlay are subject to the approval of the Engineer and the County Inspector.
- C. Repair or replace existing asphalt concrete pavement surfaces damaged or removed by construction activities prior to overlay.
- D. Milling of the existing asphalt pavement is required to provide a smooth transition where overlay meets existing pavement surfaces.
- E. Contractor shall be responsible for raising or lowering all manholes, valve boxes or any at grade structure to remain to match new final grade of asphalt overlay.
- F. Install pavement reinforcing fabric on existing pavement to receive overlay. Installation of fabric, binder/tack coat and overlay shall be per Caltrans Standard Specification Section 39-
- G. Asphalt concrete overlay thickness shall be a minimum of 2 inches or as shown on the Drawings.

1.17 SURFACE TOLERANCE

A. Finished grade shall not deviate more than 0.02 foot in elevation from the grade indicated in the drawings. Slopes shall not vary more than ¼ inch in 10 feet from the slopes shown in the drawings.

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 03 15 19 ANCHOR BOLTS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Section includes:

- 1. Equipment anchor bolts.
- 2. Structural anchor bolts.
- 3. Epoxy set anchor bolts.
- 4. Expansion anchors, Not allowed.

1.02 REFERENCES

A. Reference standards:

- 1. ASTM A307: Carbon Steel Externally Threaded.
- 2. ASTM A153: Zinc Coating (Hot-Dip) on Iron and Steel Hardware.
- 3. ASTM A164: Electrodeposited Coatings of Zinc on Steel.
- 4. ASTM A36: Structural Steel.
- 5. ASTM A276: Stainless Steel.
- 6. ANSI B94.12: Epoxy Set Anchors.

1.03 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

A. Contractor's option:

- 1. If cast-in anchor bolts are shown, then cast-in anchor bolts shall be used.
- 2. If epoxy-set anchors are shown, the Contractor may use cast-in anchor bolts or epoxy-set anchors.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Shop Drawings and Product Data:
 - 1. Sufficient to verify compliance with specifications, to include manufacturer's literature on sizes, material and installation procedures.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Compliance with the requirements specified herein may necessitate modification to the manufacturer's standard materials or equipment.

1.06 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

A. Deliver anchor bolts and templates in time to permit setting when structural concrete is placed.

1.07 PROJECT/SITE CONDITIONS

A. See Specification Section 02 00 00.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS

A. General:

1. Generally, all fasteners shall be stainless steel.

B. Anchor Bolts:

1. Stainless steel: ASTM 276, Grade 303, 304, 305 or 316.

C. Nuts:

- 1. Same material as bolts.
- 2. Self-locking: Prevailing torque, IFI-100, grade A.
- 3. Use anti-seize compound on stainless steel threads.

D. Washers:

- 1. Same material as bolts.
- 2. Flat: ANSI B27.2.
- 3. Locking: Spring type ANSI B27.1.

E. Epoxy set anchors:

- 1. In hardened concrete and fully grouted masonry:
 - a. Stainless steel studs, nuts and washers.
 - b. Approved manufacturers:
 - 1) Hilti, Inc., RE 500 w/ HAS anchors.
 - 2) Ramset/Red Head.
 - 3) Or equal.

2.02 FABRICATION

A. Cast-in anchor bolts:

- 1. 3/4-inch minimum, except as indicated on the Drawings.
- 2. Type:
 - a. General use: L or U-shaped hook type.
 - b. Where indicated on Drawings or specified:
 - 1) Straight bolt with square head.
 - 2) Straight bolt with square plate welded to bolt and nut welded to plate and bolt.
 - 3) Through-bolt with sleeve and square plate assembly.
 - 4) Coupled bolt with sleeve welded to square plate and bolt.

B. Epoxy set anchors:

- 1. 3/4-inch minimum.
- 2. Where indicated on Drawings.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that holes for anchor bolts in forms and templates match applicable equipment Shop Drawings or templates.

3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Anchor bolts:

- 1. Where installed in cast-in-place concrete, install a nut on the concrete side of the form or supporting template.
- 2. Provide three (3) nuts for each anchor bolt.
- 3. Through bolts:
 - a. Sleeved with bearing plates.

- b. Bearing plates welded to bolt and plate welded to sleeve.
- c. Dimensions: As specified for sleeved anchor bolts.
- B. Epoxy set anchors:
 - 1. Install as per manufacturer's recommendation.
 - 2. Clean hole and inspect prior to installation.
 - 3. Minimum hole depth:
 - a. As shown on the drawings
 - b. As per manufacturer's recommendation
 - c. If not shown, not less than 6-5/8 inches.
 - 4. Diameter of drilled holes: As per ANSI B94.12.

3.03 SCHEDULES

- A. Anchorage materials to be as noted on plans.
- B. If materials are not noted on plans, the materials shall be:
 - 1. 316 stainless steel.

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 03 30 00

CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Description of Work: Provide concrete work, complete in-place in accordance with the Contract Documents, including formwork, placement and finishing.

1.02 REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

A. Standard Specifications: Whenever the words "Standard Specifications" are referred to in this Specification, the reference is to the State of California, Department of Transportation (CALTRANS), Standard Specifications Latest Edition. Standard Specifications paragraphs regarding measurement and payment are excluded.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submit all items specified in this Paragraph in accordance with Section 01330 SUBMITTALS for review at the same time. Submit the following:
 - 1. Cement Certification
 - 2. Aggregate Certification
 - 3. Curing Method and Curing Material Proposed
 - 4. Admixtures (if any)
 - 5. Mix Design
 - 6. Current (within the last 6 months) break data

1.04 OUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. All concrete for the project shall be controlled concrete of specified strengths, of uniform color, and free from defects liable to adversely affect strength or durability of the structure or its components.
- B. Workmanship: Materials and methods used for the production and placement of concrete shall be such as to assure the specified quality and shall conform to applicable requirements of the Building Code for Reinforced Concrete (ACI 318 and ACI 614) of the American Concrete Institute, except as otherwise specified in this Section.
- C. Defective Concrete Surfaces shall be repaired or replaced as directed at no additional expense to the District.
- D. Uniformity of Concrete: All aggregates shall be measured by weight or by an equivalent accurate method and the proportion of water to cement shall be accurately controlled by either automatic measuring devices or calibrated containers. All concrete placed shall be of uniform strength and color appearance as well as surface texture.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 CONCRETE MATERIALS

- A. Portland Cement: ASTM C150, Type II, low alkali. All cement used shall be of one manufacturer.0
- B. Water: Clean and free from deleterious amounts of acids, alkalis, salts and organic matter.

- C. Sand: Clean, washed river sand.
- D. Air Entraining Agents shall be used where specified hereinafter.
 - 1. Approved agents are Sika AER, Master Buildings MBAE-10, Darex AERA and Protex AEA.
 - 2. For concrete exposed to freeze/thaw cycles, de-icing chemicals or other chemicals, entrained air content shall be between 5 and 7 percent by volume.
- E. Curing Compound: Liquid membrane, ASTM C309, Type I.
- F. Curing Sheet Material: ASTM C171.
- G. Admixtures: Except for air entraining agents and water-reducing admixtures, no other admixtures shall be used without written approval from the Engineer.
 - 1. Calcium chloride will not be permitted for use in concrete under any circumstances.
- H. Concrete Mixing
 - 1. Ready-Mixed Concrete: ASTM C94 except as otherwise specified herein.
 - 2. Temperature of concrete shall be 80 degrees Fahrenheit <u>maximum</u> at time of placing.
- I. Concrete Adhesive
 - 1. Concrete adhesive shall be "Concresive" epoxy polysulfide or equivalent Sika product or equal.

2.02 MIX DESIGN

- A. Cement Content shall contain not less than six 94 lb sacks of Portland cement per cubic yard.
- B. Aggregate Size: 3/4"
- C. Maximum Slump: 4" for all concrete as determined by ASTM C143.
- D. Contractor may substitute fly ash for up to 15 percent of cement at a rate of 1.5 lbs fly ash for each 1 lb of cement.
- E. Water cement ratio:
 - 1. Shall not exceed 0.40 for water containment structures.
 - 2. Shall not exceed 0.45 for other structures.
- F. Volume ratio of fine to total aggregates:

Coarse		
Aggregate	Minimum	Maximum
<u>Size</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Ratio
3/8"	0.45	0.50
1/2"	0.40	0.50
3/4"	0.35	0.50
1"	0.30	0.46
1-1/2"	0.25	0.42

G. Initial set:

- 1. 5-1/2 hours ± 1 hr after water and cement are added to the aggregates as determined by ASTM C403.
- 2. Adjust retarder quantities to compensate for temperature and job condition variations.
- H. Admixtures:

- 1. Content, batching method, and time of introduction in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations for compliance with this specification.
- 2. Include a water reducing admixture.
- 3. Calcium chloride is not permitted.
- 4. Superplasticizer may be required. A separate submittal and approval are required. Slump tests shall be taken at the batch plant prior to addition, if a superplasticizer is used.
- I. Strength: Minimum compressive strength as determined by ASTM C39 for concrete structures:

	Concrete	
	Structures	Thrust Block
	Minimum	Minimum
<u>Age</u>	Strength	Strength
7 days	2,500 psi	2,000 psi
28 days	3,000 psi	3,600 psi

- J. Consistency:
 - 1. Suitable for the placement conditions.
 - 2. Slump uniform.
 - 3. Aggregate floating uniformly throughout the concrete mass.
 - 4. Flow sluggishly when vibrated or spaded.

2.03 FORM MATERIALS

- A. Forms shall be new materials of Douglas Fir, Construction Grade, S1S2E, or Douglas Fir Plywood, five-ply, 5/8-inch, B-B Plyform, Class 1 Exterior Type with mill-oiling treatment omitted.
- B. Adequacy of the form, bracing, and shoring shall be the sole responsibility of the Contractor. The design shall meet the requirements of ACI 301.
- C. Forms shall be mortar tight.
- D. Lumber: Straight; uniform width and thickness; and free from knots, offsets, holes, dents, and other surface defects.
- E. Form coating: Industrial lubricants "Nox-crete Form Coating," W. R. Meadows "Durogard," PRECO "Reebol Form Cote," or equal.
- F. Form ties: Removable end, permanently embedded body type not requiring auxiliary spreaders, with cones on outer ends, embedded portion 1-inch minimum back from concrete face. If not provided with threaded ends, then they shall be constructed for breaking off ends without damage to concrete.

2.04 REINFORCING MATERIALS

- A. Reinforcing Bars: ASTM A615, Grade 60.
- B. All reinforcing bars shall be stored so as to prevent contact with the earth.
- C. Insert Anchor: Red Head as manufactured by ITT Phillips Drill Division.

2.05 EXPANSION JOINT FILLER

A. Unless otherwise shown on the Drawings, expansion joint filler shall be asphalt saturated fiber in accordance with ASTM-D 1751. Joint filler shall be 1/2-inch thick by depth of slab minus 1/2-inch, unless otherwise noted.

2.06 SEALANT

- A. Sealant to seal expansion joints and crack control joints shall be as follows:
 - 1. W.R. Meadows #164 Polymer Sealing Compound or Sof-Seal or equal.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 ACCEPTANCE AT SITE:

- A. Prepare a delivery ticket for each load of ready-mixed concrete.
- B. Truck operator shall hand ticket to District Representative at the time of delivery.
- C. Ticket to show actual:
 - 1. Quantity delivered in cubic yards
 - 2. Actual amount of each material in batch.
 - a. Cement lbs
 - b. Water lbs
 - c. Coarse aggregate
 - d. Fine aggregate
 - e. Additives
 - 3. Outdoor temperature in the shade.
 - 4. Time at which cement was added.
 - 5. Truck, project, and mix design identification number.
 - 6. Time water was added to the load.
- D. Failure to provide the delivery ticket will be cause to reject the load.
- E. Time Limits:
 - 1. Mix designs including retarder:
 - a. Failure to arrive at the jobsite within 90 minutes after the addition of water will be cause to reject the load.
 - **2.** Mix designs not including retarder:
 - **a.** Failure to arrive at the jobsite within 60 minutes after the addition of water will be cause to reject the load.

3.02 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

- A. District Representative furnished:
 - 1. Perform field control test:
 - a. Tests by qualified personnel.
 - b. Make tests in presence of District Representative.
 - c. Provide all equipment, supplies, and the services of one (1) or more employees, as required.
 - d. The test frequencies specified are minimum, perform additional tests as required by the iob conditions.
 - 2. Aggregate gradation: Sample and test in accordance with ASTM D75 and C136.
 - a. Fine aggregates: Each 100T.
 - b. Coarse aggregates: Each 200T.
 - 3. Fly ash: Sample and test each 25T in accordance with ASTM C143.
 - 4. Slump: perform a test for each truck load in accordance with ASTM C143.
 - 5. Compression tests:
 - a. Make one (1) set of four (4) cylinders from each truck load.

- b. Test one (1) cylinder in each set at seven (7) days.
- c. Test two (2) cylinders in each set at twenty eight (28) days.
- d. The other cylinder is to be a spare to be tested at the District Representative's discretion.
- e. District Representative will evaluate in accordance with ACI 214 and ACI 318.
- f. Make cure, store, and deliver cylinders in accordance with ASTM C31.
- g. Test in accordance with ASTM C39.
- h. Mark or tag each set of test cylinders with the date and time of day the cylinders were made, the location in the work where the concrete represented by the cylinders was placed, the delivery truck or batch number, the air content, and the slump.

B. Contractor furnished:

- 1. Provide materials from each truck for test cylinders.
- 2. Cooperate with testing agency to provide test prior to placement of each load.
- 3. Provide all mix design testing.
- 4. Pay for all retesting of concrete which does not meet specifications during the initial test.

3.03 FORMS

- A. Build and erect forms to conform to the required shapes, patterns, lines, grades and dimensions indicated. Forms shall be substantial and tight to prevent leakage of mortar and shall be properly braced and tied together to maintain position and shape. Provide chamfered corners where indicated.
- B. Concrete work out of alignment, level or plumb, will be cause for rejection of the whole work affected, and if so, rejected such work shall be removed and replaced at no increase in cost to the District.
- C. Conform to ACI 347 as modified herein.
- D. Surfaces exposed to view.
 - 1. Prefabricated plywood panel forms, job-built plywood forms, or forms lined with plywood or fiberboard.
 - 2. Laid out in a regular and uniform pattern with long dimensions vertical and joints aligned.
 - 3. Produce finished surfaces free from offsets, ridges, waves, and concave or convex areas.
 - 4. Maximum deviation from a true plane: 1/8-inch in 6 feet.
- E. Plywood or lined forms are not required for surface (buried by backfill) not normally submerged or not normally exposed to view.
- F. Other types of forms may be used:
 - 1. For surfaces not restricted to plywood or lined forms.
 - 2. As backing for form lining.
- G. Provide forms above all extended footings.
- H. When placing concrete against gravel or crushed rock not containing 25 percent minimum material passing a No. 4 sieve:
 - 1. Provide polyethylene film to protect concrete from water loss.
 - 2. Lap joints 4 inches.
- I. Size and space walers, studs, internal ties and other form supports so proper working stresses are not exceeded.
- J. Form concrete column supported beams and slabs so column forms may be removed without disturbing beam and slab form supports.

- K. Where the top of a wall will be exposed to weathering, stop form on at least one side at true line and grade.
- L. Other locations to be finished to a specified elevation, slope, or contour, bring form to true line and grade and provide a wooden guide strip at the proper location in the forms for finishing the top surface with a screed or template.
- M. At horizontal construction joints in walls, stop the forms on one side not more than 2 feet above the joint.
- N. Provide temporary opening at the bottom of columns and wall forms and wherever necessary for cleaning and inspection.
- O. Install form ties on exposed surfaces in uniformly spaced vertical and horizontal rows.
- P. Provide chamfer strips.
 - 1. To bevel salient edges and corners.
 - 2. To bevel salient edges of equipment bases.
 - 3. 3/4-inch bevel.
- Q. Do not remove or disturb until concrete has attained sufficient strength to safely support all dead and live loads.
- R. Leave shoring beneath beams and suspended slabs in place and reinforce as required by construction equipment and materials.
- S. Remove forms carefully to prevent surface gouging, corner or edge breakage and other damage.

3.04 REINFORCEMENT FABRICATION

A. Steel reinforcement shall not be bent or straightened in a manner that will injure the material. Bars with kinks or bends not shown on the Drawings shall not be used. Heating of the bars for bending or flame cutting will not be permitted.

3.05 REINFORCEMENT PLACEMENT

- A. Placement: All reinforcement shall be accurately formed and set in place, lapped, spliced, space rigidly and securely held in place, tied with the specified wire at all splices and crossing points.
- B. Cleaning: Reinforcing steel, at the time the concrete is placed around it, shall be cleaned of rust, scale, mill scale or other coatings that will destroy or reduce bond.
- C. Except at contact splices, minimum clear distance between bars, is to be the greater of:
 - 1. Nominal diameter of bars.
 - 2. 1.5 times maximum size of coarse aggregate.
 - 3. 1-1/2 inch in columns.
 - 4. 1-inch in beams.
 - 5. 2 inches in other locations.
- D. Where beam reinforcement is placed in 2 layers, place bars in upper layer directly above bars in lower layer.
- E. Do not install reinforcement for beams and slabs that are supported by concrete columns until after the concrete for the column has been placed.
- F. Fabricate in accordance with ACI 315 and ACI 318 except as specified or indicated on Drawings.
- G. Splices:

- 1. As indicated on the Drawings.
- 2. Do not weld or tack weld reinforcing steel except where specifically indicated on Drawings.
- 3. Remove and replace steel upon which any unauthorized welding has been performed.
- 4. When splicing bars in tie beams subject to tensile loading, splice no more than half the bars within a length of 40 bar diameter and hook each spliced bar end 180 degrees.
- H. Do not bend or re-bend reinforcing steel at job site. Bending of steel in locations not shown on Drawings shall be cause for rejection of work.

3.06 EMBEDMENTS:

- A. Accurately position and securely anchor in forms all anchor bolts, casting, steel shapes, conduit, sleeves, masonry anchorages, and other materials to be embedded in concrete.
- B. Anchor bolts:
 - 1. Provide sufficient threads on anchor bolts to permit a nut on the concrete side of the form or template.
 - 2. Install a second nut on the other side of the form or template.
 - 3. Adjust the nuts to hold the bolt rigidly in the proper position.
- C. Clean embedments before installation.
- D. Clean concrete spatter and other foreign substances from surfaces not in contact with concrete.

3.07 EXPANSION JOINTS

A. Provide expansion joints of the size and location as shown on the Drawings or as specified. Expansion joint filler shall be installed 1/2-inch below surface of concrete where applicable and sealed with sealant unless otherwise noted.

3.08 CONCRETE PLACEMENT

- A. Surrounding Conditions: Before any concrete is placed, the following items of work shall have been completed in the area of placing.
 - 1. Reinforcing steel shall have been placed, tied and supported.
 - 2. Embedded work of all trades shall be in place in the forms and adequately tied and braced.
 - 3. The entire area of deposit shall have been cleaned of wood chips, sawdust, dirt, debris, hardened concrete and other foreign matter.
 - 4. Concrete surfaces to which fresh concrete is to be bonded shall be saw-cut and broken away. Surfaces shall be brush cleaned to remove all dust and foreign matter and to expose the aggregate, and then coated with the bonding adhesive herein specified.
- B. Conveying concrete from mixer to forms shall be as rapid as possible but shall in no case be longer than one hour from when the cement was added to the aggregate.
- C. Placing Concrete:
 - 1. Before starting new pour on or against concrete that has hardened, the hardened concrete shall be roughened and thoroughly cleaned of foreign matter and any laitance.
 - 2. No adjustment of steel reinforcement will be permitted during the placement of concrete.
 - 3. The concrete shall be scheduled so that placing is a continuous operation for the completion of each section between predetermined construction joints. Location of construction joints shall be as indicated on the Drawings or if not shown on the drawings, per ACI standards as interpreted by the Engineer.
- D. Cold weather concreting:

- 1. Comply with ACI 306 and 306.1, except as modified herein.
- 2. Minimum concrete temperature at the time of mixing:

Outdoor Temperature	Concrete Temperature
at Placement (in shade)	at Mixing
Below 0° F	70° F
Between 0° F & 30° F	65° F
Between 30° F & 45° F	60° F
Above 45° F	45° F

- 3. Do not place heated concrete which is warmer than 80 degrees F.
- 4. If freezing temperatures are expected during curing, maintain the concrete temperature at or above 50 degrees F for five (5) days or 70 degrees F for three (3) days.
- 5. Do not allow concrete to cool suddenly.
- 6. Do not place concrete on frozen subgrade.

E. Hot weather concreting:

- 1. Comply with ACI 305, except as modified herein.
- 2. If the air temperature is expected to be 90 degrees F or greater in the next 24 hours.
 - a. Keep concrete as cool as possible before, during, and after placement.
 - b. Do not allow concrete temperature to exceed 80 degrees F at placement.
 - c. Prevent plastic shrinkage cracking due to rapid evaporation of moisture.
 - d. <u>Addition of ice, or other cooling methods</u>, will be required to meet temperature requirements.
- 3. Do not place concrete when the actual or anticipated evaporation rate equals or exceeds 0.2 lbs/sq ft/hr as determined from ACI 305.

3.09 CRACK CONTROL JOINTS

A. Construction joints:

1. Locations:

- a. As indicated on the Drawings, and if not shown, joint spacing shall not exceed ACI recommendations as interpreted by the Engineer.
- b. In columns and walls:
 - 1) At the underside of beams, girders, haunches, drop panels, column capitals, and at floor panels.
 - 2) Haunches, drop panels, and column capitals are considered part of the supported floor or roof and shall be placed monolithically therewith.
 - 3) Column bases need not be placed monolithically with the floor below.
- c. In beams and girders:
 - 1) At the middle of the span unless a beam intersects a girder at this point.
 - 2) If the middle of the span is at an intersection of a beam and girder, offset the joint in the girder a distance equal to twice the beam width.
 - 3) Provide satisfactory means for transferring shear and other forces through the construction joint.
- d. In suspended slabs:
 - 1) At or near the center of span in flat slab or T-beam construction.
 - 2) Do not locate a joint between a slab and a concrete beam or girder unless so indicated on the Drawings.
- e. Install construction joints in beams, slabs, and girders perpendicular to the planes of their surfaces.

B. Expansion and contraction joints:

- 1. Contraction joints:
 - a. Provide as indicated on Drawings.
 - b. Seal accessible edges.
 - c. Waterstop embedment equal on each side of the joint.
 - d. Splice water stops in strict conformity with the manufacturer's instructions.
- 2. Expansion material:
 - a. Provide as indicated on Drawings.
 - b. Firmly bond to previously poured joint. Face with a suitable adhesive.
 - c. Pour new concrete directly against joint filler.
 - d. Seal accessible edges.

3.10 CONCRETE FINISHES

A. All Concrete Work: except as otherwise specified, shall be of a quality that will present a finished appearance upon the stripping of the forms. Only a minimum of patching and finishing should be necessary as required to fill holes left by form ties and to remove any fins or minor irregularities left by the joints in the forms.

B. Finishing unformed surfaces:

- 1. Do not finish buried or permanently submerged concrete not forming an integral part of a structure except as required to attain surface elevations, contours, and freedom from laitance.
- 2. Screed and initial float finish followed by additional floating, and troweling as required, all other surfaces.
 - a. Screeding:
 - 1) Screed concrete surfaces to the proper elevation and contours with all aggregates completely imbedded in mortar.
 - 2) Surface free of irregularities of height or depth more than 1/4 inch measured from a 10-foot straightedge.
 - b. Floating:
 - 1) Float finish screeded surfaces as soon as the concrete has stiffened sufficiently for working.
 - 2) Remove and replace with mortar any coarse aggregate which is disturbed by the float or which causes a surface irregularity.
 - 3) Initial floating to produce a surface of uniform texture and appearance without unnecessary working of the surface.
 - 4) Follow initial floating with a second floating at the time of initial set.
 - 5) Second floating to produce a finish of uniform texture.
 - 6) Except as otherwise specified, the second floating finish is the final finish.
 - 7) Use hand floats or mechanical compactor floats.
- 3. Broom finish:
 - a. Broom finish exterior slabs.
 - b. Broom after second floating and at right angles to normal traffic.
- 4. Troweling
 - a. Steel trowel finish interior floor surface which will be exposed at the completion of construction, the exposed portion of the equipment bases, interior curbs, and where indicated on the Drawings.
 - b. Do not trowel floor surfaces which will be normally submerged.
 - c. Trowel after the second floating when the surface has hardened adequately to prevent drawing an excess of fines to the surface.

- d. Trowel to produce a dense, smooth, uniform surface free from blemishes and trowel marks.
- 5. Aggregate exposure:
 - a. Remove surface mortar from surfaces to be covered later with concrete or mortar topping.
 - b. Expose coarse aggregates to improve bonding.
- 6. Unless specified to be beveled, edge floated or troweled surfaces with a tool having a 1/4-inch radius.

C. Finishing formed surfaces:

- 1. Remove fins and other surface projections from all formed surfaces except exterior surfaces that will be in contact with earth backfill and are not specified to be damp-proofed.
- 2. Use a power grinder, if necessary, to remove projections and provide a flush surface.
- 3. Remove fins and fill tie hole on surfaces to be damp-proofed but do not do any other finishing of those surfaces.
- 4. Tie holes:
 - a. Clean, wet and fill with patching mortar.
 - b. Finish flush to match the texture of adjacent concrete.
- 5. Grout cleaned finish:
 - a. ACI 301, 5.3.3.4.b.
 - b. Grout clean surfaces to produce a smooth uniform surface free of marks, voids, surface glaze, and cement dust.
 - c. Grout clean all surfaces exposed to view, interior of tanks and surfaces indicated on Drawings.
 - d. Fill all voids regardless of location that are 1/4-inch deep or 1/2-inch diameter.

3.11 CONCRETE CURING

- A. Carefully and thoroughly cure all newly placed concrete.
- B. Concrete Slabs: Apply the specified liquid curing compound and hardener according to manufacturer's written directions. Apply at maximum rate of 300 square feet per gallon for smooth surfaces and 200 square feet per gallon for rough surfaces.
- C. Protect concrete from moisture loss for at least seven (7) days after placement.
- D. Cure concrete by methods that will keep concrete surfaces adequately wet during curing.
 - 1. Water curing: May be used for all concrete.
 - a. Begin water saturation as quickly as possible after initial set.
 - b. Regulate water application to provide complete surface coverage with a minimum of runoff.
 - c. Use absorptive blankets to hold moisture to concrete or flood the surface.
 - 2. Membrane curing:
 - a. Membrane curing compound may be used in lieu of water curing on concrete which will not be covered later with mortar or concrete where water curing is not specifically called for.
 - b. Apply the specified liquid curing compound and hardener according to manufacturer's written directions. Apply at minimum rate of 300 square feet per gallon for smooth surfaces and 200 square feet per gallon for rough surfaces.
 - c. Cover unformed surfaces within 30 minutes of final finishing.
 - d. If forms are removed before the end of the curing period, immediately apply curing compound to the formed surfaces before they dry out.
 - e. Protect curing compound against abrasion during the curing period.

3.12 MISCELLANEOUS WORK

A. Patchwork: Where concrete requires patching, filling, or tying into, concrete shall be mixed, placed and finished in the same manner as specified for new concrete. Surfaces to which new concrete must bond shall be thoroughly cleaned and coated with concrete adhesive. Carefully rod or vibrate concrete to eliminate air pockets and ensure concrete is filling holes full. Use low slump concrete to minimize shrinkage.

3.13 CLEANING AND PROTECTION

- A. Clean all surfaces and leave in satisfactory condition.
- B. Protect concrete surfaces from damage by tools, equipment, materials and workmen. No traffic, shoring or other loading will be permitted on concrete until it has hardened sufficiently to prevent injury to finish and strength. In any case, all concrete shall be cured a minimum of seven days before the removal of shoring or allowing any loading, including backfill.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 03 60 00

GROUT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

- A. The work of this Section includes providing grout other than that required for masonry work.
- B. The following types of grout are included in the work of this Section:
 - 1. Non-Shrink Grout: This type of grout shall be used wherever grout is required, unless another type is specifically indicated.
 - 2. Cement Grout
 - 3. Epoxy Grout
 - 4. Topping Grout and Concrete Fill
- C. Except as otherwise indicated, the current versions of the following apply to the work of this Section:

Reference	Title
CRD-C 621	Corps of Engineers Specification for Non-shrink Grout
ASTM C109	Test Method for Compressive Strength of Hydraulic Cement Mortars (Using 2-in
	or 50-mm Cube Specimens)
ASTM C531	Test Method for Linear Shrinkage and Coefficient of Thermal Expansion of
	Chemical- Resistant Mortars, Grouts, and Monolithic Surfacings
ASTM C579	Test Methods for Compressive Strength of Chemical-Resistant Mortars and
	Monolithic Surfacings
ASTM C827	Test Method for Early Volume Change of Cementitious Mixtures
ASTM D696	Test Method for Coefficient of Linear Thermal Expansion of Plastics

1.02 SUBMITTALS

- A. The Contractor shall provide submittals as required hereunder.
 - 1. Manufacturer's literature containing instructions and recommendations on the mixing, handling, placement, and appropriate uses for each type of non-shrink and epoxy grouts proposed for use in the work.
 - 2. Certified test results verifying the compressive strength, shrinkage, and expansion properties.

1.03 QUALITY CONTROL

A. Field Tests

- 1. When a product is used without documentation, compression test specimens will be taken during construction from the first placement of each type of grout, and at intervals thereafter as selected by the Engineer to ensure continued compliance with these specifications.
- 2. Compression tests and fabrication of specimens for cement grout and non-shrink grout will be performed as specified in ASTM C 109. A set of three specimens will be made for testing at 7 days, 28 days, and each additional time period as appropriate.
- 3. Compression tests and fabrication of specimens for epoxy grout will be performed as specified in ASTM C 579, Method B, at intervals during construction as selected by the

- Owner's representative. A set of three specimens will be made for testing at 7 days, and each earlier time-period as appropriate.
- B. The cost of all laboratory tests on grout will be borne by the Owner, but the Contractor shall assist the Owner's representative in obtaining specimens for testing. However, the Contractor shall be charged for the cost of any additional tests and investigation on work performed which does not meet the specifications. The Contractor shall supply all materials necessary for fabricating the test specimens.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 CEMENT GROUT

A. Cement grout mix design shall satisfy the same requirement as structural concrete, except that cement grout has no large aggregate requirement when the grout thickness is less than 3".

2.02 PREPACKAGED GROUTS

A. Non-Shrink Grout

- 1. Non-shrink grout shall be a prepackaged, inorganic, non-gas-liberating, non-metallic, cement-based grout requiring only the addition of water. Manufacturer's instructions shall be printed on each bag or other container in which the materials are packaged. The specific formulation for each class of non-shrink grout indicated herein shall be that recommended by the manufacturer for the particular application.
- 2. Class A non-shrink grouts shall have a minimum 28 day compressive strength of 5000 psi; shall have no shrinkage (0.0 percent) and a maximum 4.0 percent expansion in the plastic state when tested in accordance with ASTM C827; and shall have no shrinkage (0.0 percent) and a maximum of 0.2 percent expansion in the hardened state when tested in accordance with CRD C 621.
- 3. Class B non-shrink grouts shall have a minimum 28 day compressive strength of 5000 psi and shall meet the requirements of CRD C 621.

B. Application

- 1. Class A non-shrink grout shall be used for the repair of all holes and defects in concrete members which are water bearing or in contact with soil or other fill material, grouting under all equipment base plates, and at all locations where grout is specified in the contract documents; except, for those applications for Class B non-shrink grout and epoxy grout indicated herein. Class A non-shrink grout may be used in place of Class B non-shrink grout for all applications.
- 2. Class B non-shrink grout shall be used for the repair of all holes and defects in concrete members which are not water-bearing and not in contact with soil or other fill material, grouting under all base plates for structural steel members, and grouting railing posts in place.

2.03 TOPPING GROUT AND CONCRETE FILL

- A. Grout for topping of slabs and concrete fill for built-up surfaces of manhole, tank, channel, and basin bottoms shall be composed of cement grout. All materials and procedures specified for concrete in Section 03 30 00 Cast-in-Place Concrete shall apply except as indicated otherwise herein.
- B. Topping grout and concrete fill shall contain a minimum of 564 pound of cement per cubic yard with a maximum water cement ratio of 0.45. Where grout fill is thicker than 3 inches, concrete as indicated in Section 03 30 00 Cast-in-Place Concrete may be used.

C. <u>Strength</u>: Minimum compressive strength of topping grout and concrete fill at the end of 28 days shall be 4000 psi.

2.04 CURING MATERIALS

A. Curing materials shall be as indicated in Section 03 30 00 – Cast-in-Place Concrete for cement grout and as recommended by the manufacturer of prepackaged grouts.

2.05 CONSISTENCY

- A. The consistency of grouts shall be that necessary to completely fill the space to be grouted for the particular application.
- B. Unless otherwise noted on contract drawings, grout for base plates and equipment leveling shall have flowable, semi-flowable, and dry pack viscosities.
 - 1. Flowable and semi-flowable consistencies require formwork.
 - 2. Dry pack consistency is such that the grout is plastic and moldable but will not flow.

2.06 MEASUREMENT OF INGREDIENTS

A. Measurements for cement grout shall be made accurately by volume using containers. Shovel measurement is not an acceptable method of measurement.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

- A. All surface preparation, curing, and protection of cement grout shall be as required. The finish of the grout surface shall be troweled smooth unless noted otherwise.
- B. Where pre-packaged products are used, the manufacturer's representative shall provide onsite technical assistance upon request.
- C. Base concrete or masonry must have attained its design strength before grout is placed. When bonding to an existing cementious material is expected, waterblasting or abrasive blasting to roughen the substrate is required.

3.02 GROUTING PROCEDURES

A. Base Plate Grouting

- 1. For base plates, the original concrete shall be blocked out or finished off a sufficient distance below the plate to provide for a grout thickness not exceeding 2x the anchor bolt diameter.
- 2. After the base plate has been set in position at the proper elevation and double nutted on the anchor bolts, the space between the bottom of the plate and the original pour of concrete shall be filled with non-shrink-type grout. The grout shall be placed so there a no voids between the bottom of the base plate and the concrete.

B. Topping Grout

- 1. All mechanical, electrical, and finish work shall be completed prior to placement of topping or concrete fill. The base slab shall be given a roughened textured surface by abrasive blasting or water blasting to ensure bonding to the base slab.
- 2. The minimum thickness of grout topping and concrete fill shall be one inch. Where the finished surface of concrete fill is to form an intersecting angle of less than 45 degrees with the concrete surface it is to be placed against, a key shall be formed in the concrete

- surface at the intersection point. The key shall be a minimum of 3-1/2-inches wide by 1-1/2-inches deep.
- 3. The base slab shall be thoroughly cleaned and wetted prior to placing topping and fill. No topping concrete shall be placed until the slab is complete free from standing pools or ponds of water. The topping and fill shall be compacted by rolling or tamping, brought to established grade, and floated. Topping grout placed on sloping slabs shall proceed uniformly from the bottom of the slab to the top, for the full width of the placement.
- 4. The surface shall be tested with a straight edge to detect high and low spots which shall be immediately eliminated. When the topping and fill has hardened sufficiently, it shall be steel troweled to a smooth surface free from pinholes and other imperfections. An approved type of mechanical trowel may be used as an assist in this operation, but the last pass over the surface shall be by hand-troweling. During finishing, no water, dry cement or mixture of dry cement and sand shall be applied to the surface.

SECTION 05 00 00

MISCELLANEOUS METAL

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Section includes:

- 1. Items fabricated from metal shapes, plates, sheets, rods, bars or castings.
- 2. Structural steel.
- 3. Grating

1.02 REFERENCES

A. Reference standards:

- 1. AISC "Steel Construction Manual."
- 2. AISC "Specifications for the Design, Fabrication and Erection of Structural Steel for Buildings."
- 3. ASTM A1: Carbon Steel Tee Rails.
- 4. ASTM A36: Structural Steel.
- 5. ASTM A366: Steel, Carbon, Cold-Rolled Sheet, Commercial Quality.
- 6. ASTM A569: Steel, Carbon (0.15 Max, Percent), Hot-Rolled Sheet and Strip, Commercial Quality.
- 7. ASTM A325: High Strength Bolts for Structural Joints.
- 8. ASTM A307: Carbon Steel Externally Threaded Standard Fasteners
- 9. ASTM A490: Quenched and Tempered Alloy Steel Bolts for Structural Steel Joints.
- 10. FS WW-F-461: Floor Plate, Steel, Rolled.
- 11. ASTM A500: Cold-Formed Welded and Seamless Carbon Steel Structural Tubing in Rounds and Shapes.
- 12. ASTM A501: Hot-Formed Welded and Seamless Carbon Steel Structural Tubing.
- 13. ASTM 48: Gray Iron Castings.
- 14. ASTM A167: Stainless and Heat Resisting Chromium-Nickel Steel Plate, Sheet and Strip.
- 15. ASTM B36: Brass Plate, Strip and Rolled Bar.
- 16. ASTM B61: Steamor Valve Bronze Castings.
- 17. ASTM B140: Copper-Zinc-Lead (leaded Red Brass or Hardware Bronze) Rod, Bar, and Shape.
- 18. ASTM B97: Copper-Silicon-Alloy Plate, Strip and Rolled Bar for General Purposes.
- 19. ANSI A202.1: Metal Bar Grating Manual for Steel and Aluminum Gratings and Stair Treads.
- 20. ASTM A120: Pipe, Steel, Black and Hot-Dipped, Zinc Coated (Galvanized) Welded and Seamless for Ordinary Uses.
- 21. AWS D1.1-77: Structural Welding Code, American Welding Society.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. The Contractor shall provide submittals as required hereunder.
- B. Product Data and Shop Drawings:
 - 1. Product Data describing each manufactured metal specialty.

- 2. Shop Drawings describing each fabricated item.
- 3. Erection Drawings for structural steel.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Compliance with the requirements specified herein may necessitate modification to the manufacturer's standard materials or equipment.

1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

- A. Store on blocking so that no metal touches the ground and water cannot collect thereon.
- B. Protected from bending under its own weight or superimposed loads.

1.06 PROJECT/SITE CONDITIONS

A. See Specification Section 02 00 00

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS

- A. Steel:
 - 1. Plates and shapes: ASTM A36, Fy-50 Ksi.
 - 2. Sheets: ASTM A366 or A569, zinc coated.
 - 3. Pipe: ASTM A120.
 - 4. Bolts:
 - a. High strength: ASTM A325.
 - b. Unfinished: ASTM A307.
 - c. Self-locking nuts: Prevailing torque type; IFI-100, Grade A.
 - d. Flat washers: ANSI B27.2.
 - e. Lock washers: Spring type, ANSI B27.1.
 - f. Beveled washers: Table 1 of Specifications for Structural Joints Using ASTM A325 or A490 Bolts, AISC Steel Construction Manual.
 - 5. Welds:
 - a. Part 5 Specifications and Codes, AISC Steel Construction Manual.
 - b. AWS D1.1-77 American Welding Society.
 - c. Welding Electrodes: AWS 5.20 E70XX.
 - 6. Checkered plate: FS QQ-F-461.
 - 7. Structural tubing: ASTM A500 or A501.
- B. Cast iron: ASTM A48, Class 25 or better.
- C. Stainless steel: 316L.
 - 1. Plates: ASTM A167.
 - 2. Bolts: IFI-104, Grade 303 or 305.
- D. Galvanized Steel Grating
 - 1. IKG Borden, Type WB or Equal
 - 2. 1½" x 3/16" bars at 1 3/16" on center

- 3. Twisted square steel cross bars at 4" on center
- 4. All grating edges shall be banded. Weld banding to grating bars at every 3rd bar.
- 5. Band all openings.

E. Shop coatings:

- 1. Provides shop coatings per Section 09900:
 - a. Rust inhibitive shop primer for steel.
 - b. Zinc rich primer.
 - c. Coal tar paint.
- 2. Galvanizing:
 - a. Hot-dip process: ASTM A123, A133, A385.
- 3. Bolt galvanizing:
 - a. Zinc: ASTM A164, Type GS.
 - b. Cadmium: ASTM A165, Type NS.
- 4. Aluminum.
 - a. Standard mill finish.
 - b. Clear anodize.

2.02 FABRICATION

A. General:

- 1. In accordance with dimensions, arrangement, sizes and weights or thicknesses indicated on drawings or specified.
- 2. All member free of winds, warps, local deformations or unauthorized bends.
- 3. Holes and other provisions for field connection accurate and shop checked for proper fit.
- 4. Mark each piece according to the erection Drawing.
- 5. Provide all field connection materials.

B. Connections:

- 1. General:
 - a. As indicated on the Drawings.
 - b. Welds:
 - 1) Part 5, Specifications and Codes AISC.
 - 2) AWS D1.1-77, Structural Welding Code.
 - c. Where welding is permitted or required:
 - 1) Butt, miter, and fillet welds continuous.
 - 2) Exposed welds ground smooth.
 - 3) Intermittent welds:
 - a) Two (2) inch minimum effective length.
 - b) Six (6) inch minimum spacing.

2. Structural:

- a. If not indicated on the Drawings, as defined in Part 4 "Connections" of the AISC Manual Ninth Edition.
- b. Shop connections may be bolted, welded or riveted.
- c. Bolted connections for girts with slotted or oversized holes for adjustment.
- 3. All others: If not indicated on the Drawings, unfinished bolts with self-locking nuts or lock washers.

C. Shop coating:

1. Preparation:

- a. All surfaces to be at the proper temperature, dry and free of grease, oil, dirt, dust, grit, rust, loose mill scale, weld flux, slag, weld spatter and other objectionable substances.
- b. Scrape, chip and brush welds as required to remove all spatter.
- c. Dull sharp corners of cut or sheared edges with at least one pass of a power grinder.
- 2. Galvanizing: Hot-dipped galvanizing after fabrication.
- 3. Castings: Hot dip in asphalt varnish or coat with coal tar paint, 6 mils minimum.
- 4. Steel:
 - a. Unless otherwise indicated or specified, coat with rust inhibitive primer, 1-1/2 mils minimum.
 - b. Apply after fabrication.
 - c. Coat as soon after cleaning as practicable.
 - d. Apply in a heated structure if outside air temp is below 50 degrees F.
 - e. Do not move or handle until coating is dry and hard.
- 5. Aluminum: Coat all surfaces to come in contact with concrete, cement, mortar, or dissimilar metals with coal tar paint, 6 mils minimum.
- 6. Other surfaces: Do not shop coat galvanized steel, stainless steel or bronze.
- 7. Hot-dip galvanize after fabrication steel frames to be cast in concrete.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

A. Before assembly, thoroughly clean all parts that will be in contact with each other.

3.02 INSTALLATION

A. General:

- 1. Assemble all parts accurately as indicated on the Drawings.
- 2. Set baseplates level and grout in place.

B. Connections:

- 1. General.
 - a. As indicated on the Drawings.
 - b. Where welding is permitted or required.
 - 1) Butt, miter and fillet welds continuous.
 - 2) Exposed welds ground smooth.
 - 3) Intermittent welds.
 - a) Minimum effective length: 2 inches.
 - b) Maximum spacing: 6 inches.
 - c. Light drifting is permitted to draw parts together.
 - d. No drifting to match unfair holes.
 - e. Enlarge holes, if necessary, by reaming with twist drills.
 - f. No burning (flame cutting) to enlarge holes.
- 2. Structural steel.
 - a. High strength bolts.
 - 1) Turn-of-nut tightening as described in "Specifications for Structural Joints Using ASTM A325 or A490 Bolts" in the AISC manual.
 - 2) Use beveled washers when the bearing faces of bolted parts have a slope of 1:20 or greater with respect to a plane perpendicular to the bolt axis.
 - b. No field welding of structural steel, except as indicated on the drawings.

- c. Tolerances:
 - 1) All members level, plumb and aligned within 1:500.
 - 2) Top elevation of members within 1/16-inch of that indicated on Drawings.

3.03 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Structural steel connections:
 - 1. Provide a platform or other means of access for inspection of each field connection.
 - 2. Leave in place until inspected by Engineer.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 07 90 00

SEALANTS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. Work Included
 - 1. Clean and prepare joint surfaces.
 - 2. Sealant and backing materials.

1.02 REFERENCES

<u>Reference</u>	<u>Title</u>
ASTM C834	Specification for Latex Sealing Compounds
ASTM C920	Standard Specifications for Elastomeric Sealers
ASTM D1056	Flexible Cellular Materials Sponge or Expanded Rubber

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. The Contractor shall provide submittals as required hereunder.
- B. Product Data and Samples
 - 1. Submit manufacturer's written surface preparation and installation instructions.
 - 2. Submit samples of sealant colors.

1.04 WARRANTY

A. Provide a one-year warranty in accordance with manufacturer's standard warranty. Replace sealants which fail because of loss of cohesion or adhesion, or do not cure.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Manufacturers listed below are approved with regards to their specific products.

2.02 MATERIALS

- A. Two-Part Urethane: ASTM C920, Type M, Self-Leveling, Class 25.
 - 1. Bostik Construction Products: Chem-Calk 550.
 - 2. Pecora Corporation: Urexpan NR-200.
 - 3. Sonneborn Building Products: Isolastic SL-2, Paving joint sealant.
 - 4. Sika Corporation: Sikaflex 2c SL.
- B. Two-Part Urethane: ASTM C920, Type M, Non-Sag.
 - 1. Bostik Construction Products: Chem-Calk 500.
 - 2. Pecora Corporation: Dynatrol II.
 - 3. Sonneborn Building Products: Sonolastic NP-2.
 - 4. Sika Corporation: Sikaflex 2c NS
- C. One-Part Urethane: ASTM C920, Type S, Non-Sag, Class 25.
 - 1. Bostik Construction Products: Chem-Calk 900.
 - 2. Pecora Corporation: Dynatrol I-XL.

- 3. Sonneborn Building Products: Sonolastic NP-1.
- 4. Sika Corporation: Sikaflex 1a
- D. One-Part Silicone: ASTM C920, Type S, Non-Sag, Class 25.
 - 1. Dow-Corning Corporation: 795.
 - 2. General Electric Company: SCS 1000.
 - 3. Pecora Corporation: 895
 - 4. Sonneborn Building Products: Omniseal 50.
 - 5. Sika Corporation: Sika Sil C-995.
- E. Latex-Acrylic Sealant: ASTM C834, Non-Sag, Class 25.
 - 1. Pecora Corporation: AC-20.
 - 2. Schnee and Morehead, Inc.: S-M 8200.
 - 3. Sonneborn Building Products: Sonolac.
 - 4. W.R. Meadows, Inc.: Esaply.
- F. Immersed Service Sealant:
 - 1. Sika Corporation: Sikaflex 2C.
 - 2. Polymeric Systems, Inc.: PSI 270.
 - 3. Pacific Polymers International: Elasto-Thane 227 R

2.03 ACCESSORIES

- A. Primer: Non-staining type, recommended by sealant manufacturer to suit application.
- B. Joint Cleaner: Non-corrosive and non-staining type, recommended by sealant manufacturer; compatible with joint forming materials.
- C. Joint Filler: ASTM D1056; round, closed cell foam rod; oversized 30 to 50 percent; Grey Flex manufactured by Emseal.
- D. Bond Breaker: Pressure sensitive tape recommended by sealant manufacturer to suit application.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

- A. Verify joint dimensions, physical and environmental conditions are acceptable to receive work of this Section.
- B. Do not begin installation until conditions are acceptable to the Owner's representative.

3.02 PREPARATION

- A. Clean, prepare, and size joints in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. Remove any loose materials and other foreign matter which might impair adhesion of sealant.
- B. Verify that joint shaping materials and release tapes are compatible with sealant.
- C. Examine joint dimensions and size materials to achieve required width / depth ratios.
- D. Use joint filler to achieve required joint depths, to allow sealants to perform properly.
- E. Use bond breaker where required.

3.03 INSTALLATION

- A. Perform work in accordance with ASTM C834 for latex compounds and C920 for elastomeric sealants.
- B. Install sealant in accordance with manufacturer's written instructions. Apply primer where recommended by manufacturer.
- C. Apply sealant within recommended temperature ranges. Consult manufacturer when sealant cannot be applied within recommended temperature ranges.
- D. Tool joints as indicated.
- E. Joints: Free of air pockets, foreign embedded matter, ridges, and sags.

3.04 SCHEDULE

A. This schedule reflects sealant materials specified in 2.02 of this Section. This schedule denotes sealant generic type and use or location.

Specification Paragraph Number	Sealant	Use or Location	Joint Tooling
2.02 A	Two-part Urethane: Self Leveling.	Horizontal concrete joints	Flat, 1/8" to 1/4" below finished concrete surface
2.02 C	One part urethane	General purpose	Concave
2.02 F	Immersed service	Submerged or partially submerged conditions	Concave

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 08 31 00

FLOOR ACCESS DOORS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Work Included: Provide and install factory-fabricated floor access doors.

1.02 SUBMITTALS

- A. Product Data: Submit manufacturer's product data.
- B. Shop Drawings: Submit shop drawings including profiles, accessories, location, adjacent construction interface, and dimensions.
- C. Warranty: Submit executed copy of manufacturer's standard warranty.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Manufacturer: A minimum of 5 years experience manufacturing similar products.
- B. Installer: A minimum of 2 years experience installing similar products.
- C. Manufacturer's Quality System: Registered to ISO 9001 Quality Standards including in-house engineering for product design activities.

1.04 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

A. Deliver products in manufacturer's original packaging. Store materials in a dry, protected, well-vented area. Inspect product upon receipt and report damaged material immediately to delivering carrier and note such damage on the carrier's freight bill of lading.

1.05 WARRANTY

A. Manufacturer's Warranty: Provide manufacturer's standard warranty. Materials shall be free of defects in material and workmanship for a period of five years from the date of purchase. Should a part fail to function in normal use within this period, manufacturer shall furnish a new part at no charge.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MANUFACTURER

- A. Basis-of-Design Manufacturer:
 - 1. Type SM Surface Mount with Angle Frame Floor Access Door
 - 2. The BILCO Company

2.02 ACCESS DOOR

- A. Furnish and install sizes as indicated on plans.
- B. The floor access door shall be single leaf and pre-assembled from the manufacturer.
- C. Performance characteristics:
 - 1. Cover: Shall be reinforced to support a minimum live load of 300 psf
 - 2. Operation of the cover shall be smooth and easy with controlled operation throughout the entire arc of opening and closing.

- 3. Operation of the cover shall not be affected by temperature.
- 4. Entire door, including all hardware components, shall be highly corrosion resistant.
 - a. G90 galvanized steel at a minimum or stainless steel as noted below.
- D. Cover: Shall be raised diamond pattern plate.
- E. Frame: Shall be L3x3x ¼ minimum angle frame with internal mounting flange and 7/16" diameter anchor holes.
- F. Hinges: Shall be heavy duty Type 316 stainless steel pintle hinges with 3/8" Type 316 stainless steel hinge pins.
- G. Lifting Assistance:
 - 1. Manufacturer shall provide a gas strut lifting mechanism with a powder-coat finish to provide smooth, easy, and controlled cover operation throughout the entire arc of opening and to act as a check in retarding downward motion of the cover when closing.
- H. A removable exterior turn/lift handle with a spring loaded ball detent shall be provided to open the cover and the latch release shall be protected by a flush, gasketed, removable screw plug.

I. Hardware:

- 1. Cover shall be equipped with a stainless steel hold open arm that automatically locks the cover in the open position.
- 2. A Type 316 stainless steel snap lock with fixed handle shall be mounted on the underside of the cover.
- 3. Hardware: Gas strut has a powder coat finish.
- 4. All other hardware is type 316 stainless steel unless otherwise specified.
- J. Finishes: Factory finish shall be galvanized steel.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Examine substrates and openings for compliance with requirements for installation tolerances and other conditions affecting performance. Proceed with installation only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected.

3.02 INSTALLATION

- A. Install products in strict accordance with manufacturer's instructions and approved submittals. Locate units level, plumb, and in proper alignment with adjacent work.
 - 1. Test units for proper function and adjust until proper operation is achieved.
 - 2. Repair finishes damaged during installation.
 - 3. Restore finishes so no evidence remains of corrective work.

3.03 ADJUSTING AND CLEANING

A. Clean exposed surfaces using methods acceptable to the manufacturer and which will not damage the finish.

SECTION 09 90 00

PAINTING AND COATING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

- A. This section governs materials and application of painting and coating for ferrous surfaces, structural steel and other coated surfaces.
- B. Provide all labor, materials, apparatus, scaffolding, and all apparatus work in connection with painting and protective coatings, complete as indicated, specified and required.
- C. Work Included in this Section. Principal items include:
 - 1. All new or altered existing structural and miscellaneous steel.
 - 2. Equipment furnished with and without factory finished surfaces.
 - 3. Equipment where factory applied finishes have been marred, abraded, scratched, nicked, or otherwise damaged.
 - 4. Except as hereinafter specifically excluded, repainting of existing interior and exterior painted surfaces from architectural break to architectural break where damaged or altered in performance of work of this General Contract.
 - 5. The Contractor shall furnish to the District, at no charge for use during this Project, the necessary dry film thickness gages and electrical flaw detection equipment required, and inspection equipment to ensure conformance with all specifications and standards included herein.
- D. The following surfaces, in general shall not be painted:
 - 1. Concrete surfaces.
 - 2. Plastic surfaces, except as specified for identification purposes.
 - 3. Nonferrous metals and stainless steel unless otherwise noted or indicated.
- E. Galvanized metal shall be considered a ferrous metal and shall be painted.

1.02 GUARANTEE

A. A three (3) year guarantee which commences on the date of acceptance against failure of all coatings shall be provided unless otherwise specified; the longer period of warranty shall prevail. Failure of any coating during the guarantee period shall be repaired by the Contractor who shall cover all costs related to the repair of the coating, including inspection. The contractor shall provide a three-year warranty bond.

1.03 REFERENCE SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARDS

- A. American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM):
 - 1. D 4262-83 Test Method for pH of Chemically Cleaned or Etched Concrete Surfaces.
 - 2. D 4263-83 Test Method for Indicating Moisture in Concrete by the Plastic Sheet Method.
 - 3. D4285-83 Test Method for Indicating Oil or Water in Compressed Air.
 - 4. D4541-93 Test Method for Pull-off Strength of Coatings Using Portable Adhesion Testers.
- B. NACE International, The Corrosion Society (NACE):
 - 1. RPO188-99 Discontinuity (Holiday) Testing of Protective Coatings.
- C. National Association of Pipe Fabricators (NAPF):

- 1. NAPF 500-03 Surface Preparation Standard for Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings Receiving Special External Coatings and/or Special Internal Linings.
- D. NSF International (NSF):
 - 1. NSF 61 Drinking Water System Components Health Effects.
- E. SSPC Society for Protective Coatings:
 - 1. SSPC SP1 Solvent Cleaning.
 - 2. SSPC SP2 Hand Tool Cleaning.
 - 3. SSPC SP3 Power Tool Cleaning.
 - 4. SSPC SP5 White Metal Blast Cleaning.
 - 5. SSPC SP6 Commercial Blast Cleaning.
 - 6. SSPC SP7 Brush-Off Blast Cleaning.
 - 7. SSPC SP10 Near-White Blast Cleaning.
 - 8. SSPC SP 11 Power Tool Cleaning to Bare Metal.
 - 9. SSPC-SP 12 High- and Ultrahigh-Pressure Water Jetting.
- F. Unless otherwise specified, all work and materials for the preparation and coating of all metal surfaces shall conform to the applicable requirements specified in the <u>Steel, Structures Painting Manual, Volume-2, Systems and Specifications, latest edition, published by the Steel Structures Painting Council.</u>

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Prior to application, the following shall be submitted:
 - 1. Paint or coating manufacturer's product data sheet showing suitability of material for intended use including instruction on surface preparation and application.
- B. Samples:
 - 1. Prepare and submit for Owner's approval one (1) copy of color samples on 8-1/2" x 11" size cards for each protective coating system. Each sample card shall clearly show each coat of the finish system and shall be clearly marked with the manufacturer's name and product identification and shall be submitted in sufficient time to allow for approval and, if necessary, disapproval and resubmittal without causing any delay of the Project.
- C. Manufacturer's Instructions: Include the following:
 - 1. Special requirements for transportation and storage.
 - 2. Mixing instructions.
 - 3. Shelf life.
 - 4. Pot life of material.
 - 5. Precautions for applications free of defects.
 - 6. Surface preparation.
 - 7. Method of application.
 - 8. Recommended number of coats.
 - 9. Recommended dry film thickness (DFT) of each coat.
 - 10. Recommended total dry film thickness (DFT).
 - 11. Drying time of each coat, including prime coat.
 - 12. Required prime coat.
 - 13. Compatible and non-compatible prime coats.
 - 14. Recommended thinners, when recommended.
 - 15. Limits of ambient conditions during and after application.

- 16. Time allowed between coats (minimum and maximum).
- 17. Required protection from sun, wind and other conditions.
- 18. Touch-up requirements and limitations.
- 19. Material Safety Data Sheet.

D. Quality Assurance Submittals:

- 1. Quality Assurance plan.
- 2. Qualifications of coating applicator including List of Similar Projects.

E. Submit Notarized Certificate that:

- 1. All paints and coatings to be used on this project comply with the State of California Air Resources Board Rule 1113 VOC Regulations
- 2. All paints and coatings to be used on this project comply with the VOC regulations of the State of California Air Management District in which the coatings will be used

F. Coating Materials List:

- 1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) copies of a paint and coating materials list which indicates the manufacturer and paint number, keyed to the Painting and Coating Schedules herein, for approval of the Owner prior to or at the time of submittal of samples required herein.
- 2. The Contractor shall include with his submittal, his protective coating schedule for shop and field coatings of items to receive protection. The schedule shall conform to the specified requirements for surface preparation, priming, and coating for items covered, and shall follow the same requirements for similar work where such work has not been specifically called out. No bare ferrous nonworking surfaces shall be omitted from the schedule. Particular care shall be taken to cover in sufficient detail the coating of mechanical joints and other mechanical devices which shall conform to the recommended practice of the manufacturer of the joint or other mechanical devices.
- 3. For all patching of existing surfaces, Contractor shall verify the type of existing coating on the surface whose new coatings are to be applied. Contractor shall include in his submittal documentation that new coatings to be applied are compatible with existing coatings.
- 4. Submittal shall be sufficiently early to permit Owner's review and then Contractor's coordination with affected material and equipment suppliers to assure their use of approved shop coats of same manufacture as field coats and compatibility with field applied coats for respective coating systems.
- 5. Coatings to be used on plastic and fiberglass materials shall be certified as acceptable by all plastic and fiberglass manufacturers whose products are to be coated. Certification copies shall be submitted to the Owner. The Contractor shall be certified in writing by the painting and coating material manufacturers as a qualified applicator of their products for the past five years, and copies of the certification submitted to the Owner.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Applicator Qualifications:

- 1. Minimum of 5 years' experience applying specified type or types of coatings under conditions similar to those of the Work.
- 2. Provide qualifications of applicator and references listing five similar projects completed in the past two years.
- 3. Manufacturer approved applicator when manufacturer has approved applicator program.
- 4. Approved and licensed by polymorphic polyester resin manufacturer to apply polymorphic polyester resin coating system.

- 5. Approved and licensed by elastomeric polyurethane (100 percent solids) manufacturer to apply 100 percent solids elastomeric polyurethane system.
- 6. Applicator of off-site application of coal tar epoxy shall have successfully applied coal tar epoxy on similar surfaces in material, size, and complexity as on the Project.

B. Regulatory Requirements:

- 1. Comply with governing agencies regulations by using coatings that do not exceed permissible volatile organic compound limits and do not contain lead.
- 2. Do not use coal tar epoxy in contact with drinking water.
- C. Certification: Certify that applicable pigments are resistant to discoloration or deterioration when exposed to hydrogen sulfide and other sewage gases and product data fails to designate coating as "fume resistant."
- D. Compatibility of Coatings: Use products by same manufacturer for prime coats, intermediate coats, and finish coats on same surface, unless specified otherwise.
- E. Services of Coating Manufacturers Representative: Arrange for coating manufacturer's representative to be on-site, multiple site-visits may be required, when considered necessary at no additional cost to the District to provide consultation services pertaining to proper application of the coating system(s).

1.06 PROTECTION OF WORK.

A. The Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damage to his work or the work of others during the time his work is in progress, including any overspray claims.

1.07 EXTRA STOCK.

A. The Contractor shall deliver to the District a minimum of one (1) one (1) gallon can of the coatings used. Each container shall be unopened and properly labeled for identification.

1.08 RIGHT OF REJECTION.

A. The District shall have the right to reject all material or work that is unsatisfactory and require the replacement of either or both at the expense of the Contractor.

1.09 JOB CONFERENCE.

A. Prior to commencing work a pre-job conference shall be held for the purpose of reviewing and clarifying the painting and coating requirements of the project. The District, Contractor, Applicator, Coatings and Paint Manufacturer's representative, and the District designated Inspector shall be present. A schedule of work to be accomplished will be established.

1.10 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

- A. Packaging and shipping:
 - 1. Deliver paint to the job in original unopened containers with labels intact, and included:
 - a. Manufactures name
 - b. Type of paint
 - c. Manufactures stock number
 - d. Color
 - e. Instructions for reducing, where applicable
 - 2. Storage and protection:
 - a. Store only acceptable project materials on the project site
 - b. Store in a suitable location inside and protect from freezing.
 - c. Restrict storage to paint materials and related equipment

- d. comply with health and fire regulations
- e. Remover immediately any materials delivered open or subject to improper storage

PART 2 - MATERIALS

2.01 PIPE COATING SYSTEMS

- A. Acceptable Manufactures
 - 1. Tnemec
 - 2. Devoe
 - 3. Carboline
 - 4. Or approved equal
- B. Epoxy Coating
 - 1. Surfaces of all beams and other structural members shall be epoxy coated.
 - 2. Color to be grey.

2.02 COLOR SCHEDULE

- A. Contractor shall prepare and submit for Owner's approval a color schedule for all finished surfaces to be protected.
- B. Owner shall approve of color selections prior to Contractor delivery.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 PROJECT COATINGS

3.02 GENERAL

- A. The requirements for painting and coating ferrous surfaces shall generally conform to the SSPC (Steel Structures Painting Council) and to the manufacturer's recommendations. Application of the paint or coating system shall not be permitted if, in the opinion of the District, the equipment, climate, or safety conditions do not meet the above recommendations.
- B. The Contractor shall stir, strain, and keep coating materials at a uniform consistency during application. Each coating shall be applied evenly, free of brush marks, sags, runs and other evidence of poor workmanship. Finished surfaces shall be free from defects and blemishes.
- C. The Contractor shall not use thinners unless permitted by the District. If thinning is permitted, no more than the maximum allowable amount of thinner per gallon of coating material as recommended by the manufacturer shall be used. Coating materials shall be stirred at all times when adding thinner and the coating material surface shall not be flooded with thinner prior to mixing. The Contractor shall not reduce coating materials more than is absolutely necessary to obtain the proper application characteristics and to obtain the specified dry film thickness.
- D. Deliver all paints to the job site in the original, unopened containers.

3.03 SURFACES NOT TO BE COATED

- A. The following surfaces shall not be painted and shall be protected during the painting of adjacent areas:
 - 1. Mortar-coated pipe and fittings
 - 2. Concrete surfaces (i.e. vaults)
 - 3. Stainless steel
 - 4. Anodized aluminum

- 5. Nameplates
- 6. Manhole frames and covers
- 7. Grease fittings
- 8. Glass
- 9. Brass, copper or bronze
- 10. Platform gratings
- 11. Buried pipe, unless specifically required in the piping specifications.

3.04 SURFACE PREPARATION

- A. The Contractor shall not prepare more surface area than can be coated in one day. Pipe that has already been factory primed or painted shall not be abrasive blasted. All surfaces shall be prepared in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. Ensure the proposed coatings will be compatible with factory applied coatings.
- B. Wherever the words "solvent cleaning", "hand tool cleaning", "wire brushing", or "blast cleaning", or similar words are used in these specifications or in paint manufacturer's specifications, they shall be understood to refer to the applicable SSPC (Steel Structure Painting Council).

3.05 SHOP APPLIED PRIMER

A. Surfaces that are shop primed shall receive a field touchup of primer to cover all scratches or abraded areas. Ensure the proposed coatings will be compatible with factory applied coatings.

3.06 EPOXY COATING

- A. All exposed ductile-iron piping, fitting, and couplings are to have exterior surfaces coated with a urethane over epoxy coating.
- B. Metal surfaces shall be epoxy coated and applied as follows:
 - 1. Surfaces to be epoxy coated shall be abrasive blasted.
 - 2. Abrasive blasted surfaces shall be coated with primer to a dry film thickness of 3 mils.
 - 3. Two coats of epoxy paint shall be applied (4 mils each) to the primed surface. The manufacturer's recommended drying time between coats shall be followed.
 - 4. The Contractor shall prepare multiple-component coatings using all of the contents of the container for each component as packaged by the paint manufacturer. Partial batches and multiple component coatings that have been mixed beyond their pot life shall not be used. Touchup paint shall be provided. The Contractor shall mix only the components specified and furnished by the paint manufacturer. The Contractor shall not intermix additional components for reasons of color or otherwise, even within the same generic type of coating.

3.07 APPLICATION LIMITATIONS

- A. Paint or coating shall not be applied under the following conditions:
 - 1. When the surrounding air temperature or the temperature of the surface to be coated is below 40° F or as recommended by the manufacturer of the specified coating system.
 - 2. When the temperature of the surface to be coated is more than 5° F below the air temperature or when the surface temperature is over 120° F.
 - 3. When the surface to be coated is wet, moist, or contaminated with any foreign matter.
 - 4. During rain, fog, or mist, or when the relative humidity exceeds 80 percent.
 - 5. When the temperature is less than 5° F above the dewpoint.
- B. If the above conditions are prevalent, the application of coating shall be delayed or postponed until conditions are favorable. Dew or moisture condensation should be anticipated and if such

- conditions are prevalent, coating work shall be delayed until mid-morning to be certain that the surfaces are dry.
- C. The day's coating shall be completed in time to permit the film sufficient drying time prior to damage by climatic conditions.
- D. If a change in climatic conditions damages a coating application, the Contractor shall repair the damaged coating to its specified condition as directed by the District.
- E. Paint shall be applied in such a manner as to assure an even, smooth, uniform adhering coat free from dirt, runs, brush marks and laps, and shall be applied as recommended by the manufacturer. Paint shall not be applied when freshly painted surfaces can become damaged by rain, fog, or condensation or when inclement weather can be anticipated. Fresh paint damaged by the elements shall be replaced by the contractor at his expense.
- F. Drop cloths shall be used to protect floors, equipment, piping and other exposed surfaces from overspray, spattering and spillage.
- G. Paint shall be allowed to dry/cure per manufacturers direction between applications of successive coats. The manufacturer's recommended time between coats will be used as a guide by the District as to when the next coat of paint may be applied. The District must give approval before successive coats are applied.
- H. The Contractor shall notify the District after surface preparation and after the application of each coat of paint.

3.08 TESTING

- A. The District will perform such tests as are required to ensure compliance with all phases of the work including surface preparation, abrasive blast cleaning, and the application of the coating systems.
 - 1. If the item has an improper finish color or insufficient film thickness, the surface shall be cleaned and top-coated with the specified paint material to obtain the specified color and coverage.
 - 2. Visible areas of chipped, peeled, or abraded paint shall be hand or power-sanded, feathering the edges. The areas shall then be primed and finish coated in accordance with the specifications. Work shall be free of runs, bridges, shiners, laps, or other imperfections.

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 09 97 13

HOT-DIP ZINC COATING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. This Section specifies hot-dip zinc coating. Unless otherwise specified, steel items not fully encased in a building envelope shall be hot-dip zinc coated. Also termed hot dip galvanized.

B. References

- 1. ASTM A90 Standard Test Methods for Weight of Coating on Zinc-Coated (Galvanized) Iron or Steel Articles
- 2. ASTM A123 Zinc Coatings on Products Fabricated from Rolled, Pressed, and Forged Steel Shapes, Plates, Bars and Strip
- 3. ASTM A153 Zinc Coating on Iron and Steel Hardware
- 4. ASTM A384 Safeguarding Against Warpage and Distortion During Hot-Dip Galvanizing of Steel Assemblies
- 5. ASTM A385 Providing High Quality Zinc Coatings on Assembled Products
- 6. ASTM A386 Zinc Coating on Assembled Steel Products
- 7. MILSPEC DOD-P-21035 Paint, High Zinc Dust Content, Galvanizing Repair

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS

A. The coating material shall be as specified in ASTM A153 or ASTM A123.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 GALVANIZING

A. The thickness, chemistry, and all other engineering properties of galvanizing shall be defined by ASTM A153 and ASTM A123.

3.02 FIELD REPAIRS

- A. Where zinc coating has been damaged, substrate surface shall be cleaned and repaired with zinc dust-zinc oxide coating in accordance with MILSPEC DOD-P-21035.
- B. Field repair of zinc coated surfaces, including Unistrut shall be accomplished with:
 - 1. Z.R.C. as manufactured by Z.R.C. Chemical Products Co.
 - 2. Galvicon as manufactured by Galvicon Co.
 - 3. Or equal.

3.03 POST-GALVANIZING COATING

- A. When paint is required over a hot-dip galvanized coating, the galvanized surface requires special preparation. Chemical or abrasive methods may be used, with care exercised to not remove excessive galvanized coating.
- B. Galvanized surfaces scheduled to be painted shall not have a passivator applied. Any surface scheduled to painted on which a passivator has been found to be applied, shall be abrasive blasted, chemically cleaned or replaced at the Engineers discretion.

SECTION 15 19 10

FABRICATED STAINLESS STEEL SLIDE GATES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. Section includes:

- 1. This section covers Stainless Steel Gates and Operators. The equipment provided under this section shall be fabricated, assembled, erected, and placed in proper operating condition in full conformity with the drawings, specifications, engineering data, instructions and recommendations of the equipment manufacturer.
- 2. Gates and operators shall be supplied with all the necessary parts and accessories indicated on the drawings, specified, or otherwise required for a complete, properly operating installation, and shall be the latest standard product of a manufacturer regularly engaged in the production of fabricated gates.
- B. Provide extension stems, stem guides, manual gear operators, seals, seats and anchor bolts.
 - 1. To insure compatibility of all components directly related to the slide gates, unit responsibility for the slide gates, actuators and accessories as described in this section shall be the responsibility of the slide gate manufacturer unless specified otherwise.
 - 2. To insure quality and consistency, the slide gates listed in this section shall be manufactured and assembled in a facility owned and operated by the slide gate manufacturer. Third-party manufacturers contracted for fabrication and assembly of the slide gates will not be permitted.

1.02 REFERENCES

- A. AWWA C561: Fabricated Stainless Steel Slide Gates
- B. AWWA C513: Open Channel, Fabricated-Metal Slide Gates and Open Channel, Fabricated-Metal Weir Gates
- C. ASTM A276: Stainless Steel Anchor Bolts 304, 316.
- D. ASTM D4020: Standard Specification for Ultra-High-Molecular-Weight Polyethylene Molding and Extrusion Materials
- E. ASTM D2000: Standard Classification System for Rubber Products in Automotive Applications

1.03 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

A. Provide:

- 1. Two approximately three-foot by three-foot stainless steel slide gates where indicated on Drawings.
- 2. One approximately two-foot by two-foot stainless steel slide gates where indicated on Drawings.

- B. Contractor shall verify actual existing opening dimensions and adjust the gate size to fit the openings.
- C. Except as modified or supplemented herein, all gates and operators shall conform to the applicable requirements of AWWA C513.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. The manufacturer shall have 20 years experience in the production of substantially similar equipment and shall show evidence of satisfactory operation in at least 20 installations. The manufacturer's shop welds, welding procedures and welders shall be qualified and certified in accordance with the requirement of the latest edition of AWS Sections D1.1, 1.2 and 1.6.
- B. The fully assembled gates shall be shop inspected, tested for operation and leakage, and adjusted before shipping. There shall be no assembling or adjusting on the job sites other than for the lifting mechanism.
- C. The sealing system shall be certified and tested for operation and performance to leakage specifications compliant with AWWA C-561 for a minimum of 100,000 cycles.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

- A. Product Data:
 - 1. Catalog data sufficient to verify compliance with specifications.
- B. Shop Drawings:
 - 1. Dimensions.
 - 2. Construction details.
 - 3. Materials.
 - 4. Assembled weight.
 - 5. The manufacturer shall submit for approval by the purchaser, complete engineering design calculations in compliance with AWWA standards latest edition.
 - 6. Installation instructions.
 - 7. Operation and maintenance manuals.

1.06 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

- A. Packing and shipping:
 - 1. Box, crate, completely enclose and protect gates and accessories from damage and accumulations of foreign matter.

1.07 PROJECT/SITE CONDITIONS

A. Environmental requirements: See Specification Section 02 00 00

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Acceptable manufacturers:

Waterman Industries, Inc.
 Rodney Hunt Company
 Golden Harvest
 Hydro Gate
 Model SS-251-1
 Model A-112
 Model GH-46
 Model HG-561

5. Or equal

B. MATERIALS

- 1. Slide gates:
 - a. Gate plate and stiffeners: 304 stainless steel
 - b. Guides and frames: 304 stainless steel
 - c. Gate stems: 316 stainless steel.
 - d. Gear Operators: Cast iron.
 - e. J-seals: ASTM D-2000 BC610-615 or equal.
- 2. Anchor bolts: Stainless steel ASTM A276, Type 304 or 316.
- 3. Guides/Bearing surface:
 - a. Ultra high molecular weight polyethylene bearing strip, ASTM D4020.
- 4. Shop coating:
 - a. None

2.02 FABRICATION

A. Materials

Part	Material
Slide, Spigot, Frame, Stiffeners, Yoke, Guide angles.	Stainless Steel Type 304L ASTM A-276
Side and Top seals	Neoprene ASTM D-2000 or EDPM
Invert seal	Neoprene ASTM D-2000 or EDPM
Bearing bars, Guides, Stem guide liner	Ultra High Molecular Weight Polyethylene ASTM D4020
Threaded stem, Stem guides	Stainless Steel ASTM A-276, Type 304 or 316
Fasteners	Stainless Steel Type 304L or 316
Stem cover	Polycarbonate ASTM A-707
Lift and stop nut	Manganeze Bronze ASTM B584, UNS-C86500

B. Slide gates:

- 1. The slide shall be a weldment of plate with integrally formed reinforcements at top and bottom with welded-on interior reinforcements.
- 2. All edges and corners shall be radiused and polished for smooth operation within the guide seal assembly.
- 3. Provision shall be provided for attaching stems to the gate with a clevis-type connection.
- 4. Self-contained, 304L stainless steel.
- 5. Upon completion of the fabricated stainless steel components, all stainless steel shall be pickled and/or passivated via chemical treatments applied to the surface of the stainless steel to remove contaminants and assist the formation of a continuous chromium-oxide, passive film.
- 6. Designed to operate in a raw water environment.
- 7. Flat back with anchor bolts for attachment to concrete.
- 8. Rising stem construction:
 - a. Minimum stem diameter: 1-inch for all 12-inch wide gates, and 1-1/8 inch for all gates greater than 12 inches wide.

- 9. Working pressure: 0 to 8 feet of water column. Seating head.
- 10. Designed for a geared operator.
- 11. Leakage shall not exceed allowable AWWA C513 Standards.
- 12. Where gate interrupts a guardrail, provide horizontal angles on the gate at the same elevation as the horizontals of the guardrail.

C. Frame

- 1. The frame shall be of flange type, designed for mounting on anchor bolts and a grout pad.
- 2. Size and spacing of anchor bolt holes shall be suitable for the operating conditions of the gate. Spacing shall not exceed 12".
- 3. The frame shall be self-contained. The frame shall be sufficiently rigid to transfer hydrostatic loads to the gate anchorage. The frame shall positively retain the polymer guide/seal strip and the neoprene loading pad on study welded to it.
- 4. The guide seal assembly shall be field adjustable and replaceable.
- 5. The length (vertical height) of the guide shall retain the entire slide height in the fully open position.

D. Yoke and Pedestal

- 1. Gates shall be provided with a yoke to support the operating bench stand.
- 2. The yoke shall be formed by two structural members welded at the top of the guides to provide a one piece rigid frame.
- 3. The maximum deflection of the yoke shall be 1/360th of the gate's span.

E. Stem and Couplings

- 1. The operating stem shall be of stainless steel designed to transmit in compression at least 2 times the rated output of the operating manual mechanism with a 40 lb effort on the crank or handwheel.
- 2. The stem shall have a slenderness ratio (L/R) less than 200. The threaded portion of the stem shall have Acme type cold rolled threads.
- 3. Stems provided in more than one piece shall be joined together by solid couplings.
- 4. Gates having a width equal to or greater than 1.5 times their height shall be provided with two lifting mechanisms connected by a tandem shaft.
- 5. Stem guides shall be fabricated from stainless steel. Stem guides shall be equipped with a UHMWPE bushing. Guides shall be adjustable and spaced in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendation. The L/r ratio shall not be greater than 200.

F. Guide

- 1. Guide shall be special milled or molded polymer to positively retain the slide and form a tight seal on face plate edge.
- 2. Slide engagement into the guide groove shall be sufficient to keep the slide aligned in all operating conditions.

G. Seals

- 1. The top seal design on upward opening gates shall incorporate a self-cleaning wiping function that prevents debris from building-up above the top seal and causing premature wear of the seats, seals, and gate face.
- 2. Seals shall be frame mounted J-bulb type with a slotted stainless steel retainer bar. All seals shall be mechanical and fully adjustable in the field.
- 3. Seals shall be replaceable without removing the frame from the wall.

H. Geared operators:

- 1. Provide on all gates.
- 2. Single operator and shaft in the center of the gate, except as noted in 2.03 E.4.
- 3. Provide an operator system that will fully open or close the gate in less than 15 minutes under manual power.
- 4. The design is based upon an operator shaft cut with four (4) threads per inch and a 2:1 gear ratio. Other designs are acceptable if they meet all listed criteria.
- 5. Maximum crank radius shall be 15 inches.
- 6. Maximum crank force shall be 40 pounds.
- 7. All bearings and gears shall be totally enclosed in a weathertight housing.
- 8. The pinion shaft of crank-operated mechanisms shall be supported by multiple bearings.
- 9. The pinon shaft shall be capable of being fitted with a 2-inch square operating nut and removable crank. The crank shall be fitted with a corrosion-resistant rotating handle.
- 10. Suitable for operation by the Districts portable motorized unit.
- 11. Steel gears
- 12. Mount on head frame.
- 13. Adequate to seat, unseat, and maintain gate position under all operating conditions.
- 14. Provide clear plastic graduated pipe stem cover.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 INSTALLATION

- A. Install slide gates and accessories in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations and standard industry practices.
- B. It shall be the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR to handle, store, and install the equipment specified in this Section in strict accordance with the Manufacturer's recommendations.
- C. The CONTRACTOR shall review the installation drawings and installation instructions prior to installing the gates.
- D. The gate frames shall be installed in a true vertical plane, square and plumb, with no twist, convergence, or divergence between the vertical legs of the guide frame.
- E. The CONTRACTOR shall fill any void between the guide frames and the structure with non-shrink grout as shown on the installation drawing and in accordance with the grout manufacturer's recommendations.
- F. The frame cross rail shall be adjusted as required to maintain consistent seal compression across the full width of the gate.
- G. Set anchor bolts in concrete with template.
- H. Install gate and adjust to prevent leakage and binding.
- I. Set extension stems plumb and in perfect alignment.
- J. Grout gates in place.
- K. Lubricate gate and accessories as required.

3.02 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Do not weld in the field.
- B. Do not bend or twist slide or gate guide frame.

3.03 ADJUSTING

- A. Check and adjust slide gates, and accessories for smooth operation in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- B. Demonstrate operation to construction manager prior to putting into service.